
OFFICIAL NOTICE AND AGENDA-*** AMENDED
Notice is hereby given that the Finance Committee of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin will hold a

regular or special meeting as indicated on the date, time and location given below.

Meeting of the:
Date /Time:
Location:

Members:

FINANCE COMMITTEE OF THE CITY OF STOUGHTON

Tuesday, June 27, 2017 @ 5:00 p.m.

Council Chambers (Stoughton Police Department 2nd floor), 321 S Fourth St, Stoughton
Pat O’Connor (Chair), Thomas Majewski (Vice-Chair), Tim Swadley, Lisa Reeves, and
Mayor Donna Olson (ex-officio)

Item # AGENDA
1 Call to Order

2 Communications

3 Reports
 Contingency Report

OLD BUSINESS

NONE

NEW BUSINESS

4 Approval of the May 23, 2017 Finance Committee Minutes

5 R-94-2017-Resolution authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to
Acknowledge receipt of the 2016 City of Stoughton Audit

6 R-103-2017- Authorizing a reduction in the amount of the TIF Guarantee Letter of
Credit provided by McFarland State Bank (relating to the Kettle Park West
commercial center)

7 ***R-104-2017-Approving an agreement relating to conveyance of real property
and payment of impact fees (Skaalen Sunset Home, Inc)

8 Discussion and possible action regarding update on funds available from hiring of
Director of Information Technology & Media Services and the Director of Finance
& Economic Development

9 Discussion regarding City of Stoughton Debt schedule

10 Discussion regarding property to participate in Gold Shovel program



11 Discussion and possible action regarding authorizing the City Attorney to continue
working on possible revisions to Chapters 38 & 78 of the Municipal Code relating
to historic preservation.

FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS

Debt Management Policy
ADJOURNMENT

“IF YOU ARE DISABLED AND IN NEED OF ASSISTANCE, PLEASE CALL 873-6677 PRIOR TO THIS MEETING.”
NOTE: AN EXPANDED MEETING MAY CONSTITUTE A QUORUM OF THE COUNCIL.
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2017 CONTINGENCY ACCOUNT
100-59200-930


2017 BUDGET $80,000


AMENDMENT REASON


3/30/2017 Fourth of July Fireworks ($8,000.00)


4/25/2017 HATS- Housing First Model ($15,000.00)


5/9/2017 InSite Consulting Architects ($8,768.00)


BALANCE 6/27/2017 $48,232.00


CONTINGENCY ACCOUNT EARMARKED


AMENDMENT REASON


AVAILABLE BALANCE @ 6/27/2017 $48,232.00








FINANCE COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES
May 23, 2017 – 5:30 p.m.
Council Chambers, Public Safety Building


Present:
Pat O’Connor, Lisa Reeves (Joined meeting at 5:37 p.m.), Tom Majewski, Tim Swadley
and Mayor Olson


Others Present:
Planning Director Scheel, City Attorney Dregne, Parks & Recreation Director Lynch and
City Clerk Kropf


Absent and Excused:
None


Call to order:
Chairperson O’Connor called the meeting to order at 5:31 p.m.


Communications:
Clerk Kropf noted that the auditor’s will be at the next Finance Committee and Council
meetings to discuss the 2016 City Audit.


Reports:
Contingency Report
Clerk Kropf explained there was no change to the contingency account from the May 9,
2017 meeting. No action taken.


R- 66 -2017 - Resolution Authorizing the 2017 Section 5310 Subrecipient
Agreement between the City of Madison and City of Stoughton related to grant to
purchase two minivans for shared-taxi service:
Mayor Olson explained that any questions that had been inquired had been answered
by Finance Director LaBorde’s memo within the packet. She explained that this
agreement had not changed from years prior. The agreement would allow for a grant to
be used towards two handicapped equipped minivans for the City’s shared ride taxi
service. The City would be purchasing the new vans with money upfront and would be
later reimbursed by the grant in 2017. Swadley wondered if staff could determine
whether or not the number of trips with the taxi service had increased with the additional
development on the west side of town.


Motion by Swadley, to approve R-66-2017- resolution Authorizing the 2017 Section
5310 Subrecipient Agreement between the City of Madison and City of Stoughton
related to grant to purchase two minivans for shared-taxi service and offer to Council for
consideration, second by Majewski. Motion carried 4-0.


Approval of the May 9, 2017 Finance Committee Minutes:
Motion by Swadley, to approve the May 9, 2017 Finance Committee Meeting minutes,
second by Majewski. Motion carried 4-0.


Reeves arrived at 5:37 p.m.







Authorizing and directing the proper City official(s) to enter into an agreement
with Harvest Farms, LLC for the second phase of construction of the Nordic
Ridge Plat:
Planning Director Scheel addressed the committee and outlined the proposed public
improvements to be made by the developer, within the agreement. The agreement
would allow for a park shelter and splash pad to be built, to the City’s specifications. The
agreement also outlined that the shelter and splash pad would be built using the park
impact fees from the developer, along with an additional $150,000 that the City had
authorized during the borrowing process. Attorney Dregne explained that this park is
being constructed differently than others, in that the developer is paying all of the park
impact fees up front, versus over time. Plans for the shelter and splash pad are due to
the City by June 1, 2017 and project bids will be due by September 1, 2017. Dregne
also noted that if the developer does not pay the park impact fees, the letter of credit
outlined in the agreement would recover those costs. Parks & Recreation Director
Lynch indicated that there is currently a study being conducted to determine if and what
sustainability measures can be used when constructing the shelter and splash pad. He
indicated those findings should be available for discussion at the next Parks &
Recreation meeting.


Motion by Majewski, to approve the agreement with Harvest Farms, LLC for the second
phase of construction of the Nordic Ridge Plat and offer to Council for consideration,
second by O’Connor. Motion carried 5-0.


R–74-2017 – Resolution Authorizing and directing the proper City official(s) to
approve the proposal to develop a relocation plan and provide relocation services
with Corre, INC for 2431 County Highway A, Stoughton, WI:
Attorney Dregne explained that the Council had voted to exercise its rights for eminent
domain to acquire a property at the proposed public works facility site. The Council had
also approved an appraisal to be completed on the property as well. The next step in
the process is to complete a relocation plan and provide relocation services to the
owner of the property. This task would need to be hired out for service and Corre INC
had provided proposals for these services. The total cost of the development of the
plans would be $13,500. Dregne also noted that he had communicated with the owners
of the property via phone, and they were appreciative of the City’s approach and willing
to work with the City.


Motion by Majewski, to approve R–74-2017 – Resolution Authorizing and directing the
proper City official(s) to approve the proposal to develop a relocation plan and provide
relocation services with Corre, INC for 2431 County Highway A, Stoughton, WI and offer
to Council for consideration, second by Reeves. Motion carried 5-0.


Resolution by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton Approving an
Agreement with Angus Young Associates, Inc for Architectural Services related
to the construction of a new Public Works Facility:
Planning Director Scheel explained that this agreement would be the next step in the
process of planning the proposed public works facility. He noted that the agreement had
been reviewed extensively by Laura Callan at Stafford Rosenbaum. The costs
associated with the agreement would be part of the overall $8 million project cost.


Motion by Majewski, to approve the resolution by the Common Council of the City of
Stoughton Approving an Agreement with Angus Young Associates, Inc for Architectural







Services related to the construction of a new Public Works Facility and offer to Council
for consideration, second by Reeves. Motion carried 5-0.


Discussion and possible action regarding identifying funding for more
preparation time for the City Attorney:
Alderperson Swadley explained that he had requested this item be discussed again to
determine if the City needed to find a better route to utilize the City attorney better.
Attorney Dregne explained that the Mayor had asked the City Leadership team if they
wanted to have a designated day to meet with the City Attorney to discuss any
upcoming projects, ordinances, or policies. Olson noted that city staff had indicated that
type of meeting wasn’t necessary and felt comfortable calling the City Attorney with any
questions as needed. Dregne indicated that since the first conversation regarding this
matter, he has been contacted more by City staff with any questions. He also noted that
he has been included on projects much earlier in the process than before. No action
was taken.


Adjournment
Motion by Majewski, to adjourn the May 23, 2017 meeting of the Finance Committee,
second by Reeves. Motion carried 5-0. The meeting of the Finance Committee
adjourned at 6:43 p.m.








City of Stoughton, 381 E Main Street, Stoughton WI 53589


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL


Resolution Authorizing and Directing the proper city official(s) to acknowledge receipt of the 2016 City
of Stoughton Audit


Committee Action: Finance Committee meets June 27, 2017


File Number: R-94-2017 Date Introduced: June 27, 2017


WHEREAS, Baker Tilly Virchow Krause LLP has prepared the City of Stoughton Audit Report for
2016, and


WHEREAS, your Finance Committee met on June 27, 2017 to consider, approve and recommend the
approval of the 2016 City of Stoughton Audit and the adoption of the corresponding resolution, now
therefore


BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that the proper city official(s) be
hereby authorized and directed to acknowledge receipt of the 2016 City of Stoughton Audit.


Council Action: Adopted Failed Vote


Mayoral Action: Accept Veto


Donna Olson, Mayor Date


Council Action: Override Vote
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT


To the City Council
City of Stoughton
Stoughton, Wisconsin


Report on the Financial Statements


We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, as
of and for the year ended December 31, 2016, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the City of Stoughton's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.


Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements


Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.


Auditors' Responsibility


Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.


An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the City of Stoughton's preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Stoughton's
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.


We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.
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To the City Council
City of Stoughton


Opinions


In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information of the City of Stoughton,  Wisconsin, as of December 31, 2016 and the respective
changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.


Other Matters


Required Supplementary Information


Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the required supplementary
information as listed in the table of contents be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such
information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting
Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial
statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited
procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the
basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements.
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do
not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.


Supplementary Information


Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City of Stoughton's basic financial statements. The supplementary information as listed in the table
of contents is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves,
and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. In our opinion, the supplementary information is fairly stated in all material respects, in relation to the
basic financial statements as a whole.


Madison, Wisconsin
June 21, 2017
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CITY OF STOUGHTON 


 
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 


(Unaudited) 


As of and For the Year Ended December 31, 2016 
 
 
 


 
As management of the City of Stoughton, we offer readers of the City of Stoughton's financial statements 
this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City of Stoughton for the fiscal year 
ended December 31, 2016. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in 
conjunction with the city's financial statements. 


 


FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 


When revenues exceed expenses, the result is an increase in net position. When expenses exceed 
revenues, the result is a decrease in net position. You can think of this relationship between revenues 
and expenses as the city's operating results and the net position, as measured in the Statement of Net 
Position, as one way to measure the city's financial health, or financial position. Over time, increases and 
decreases in the city's net position, as measured by the Statement of Activities, are one indicator of 
whether its financial health is improving or deteriorating. However, the city's goal is to provide services 
that improve the quality of life of our residents, not to generate profits as companies do. For this reason, 
you will need to consider many other non-financial factors, such as the condition of our roads, or the 
quality of our services, in assessing the overall health of our city. 
 


 The assets and deferred outflows of the City of Stoughton exceeded its liabilities and deferred 
inflows by $79,451,662 (net position). Of this amount, $19,381,379 is considered unrestricted net 
position, $5,060,895 is restricted for specific purposes (restricted net position), and $55,009,388 is 
net investment in capital assets. 


 
 The city's total net position increased by $2,472,135 Governmental activities net position 


decreased by $448,039 while business-type net position increased by $2,920,174. 
 
 On December 31, 2016, the city's governmental funds reported combined fund balances of 


$14,248,722, an increase of $419,904 from 2015. Unassigned fund balance was $2,565,550 at year-
end. 


 
 The City of Stoughton's total debt increased by $6,377,823 (18%) during 2016. 


 


OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 


This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the city's basic financial 
statements. These financial statements consist of two parts: Management's Discussion and Analysis (this 
section) and the basic financial statements. The basic financial statements include two kinds of 
statements that present different views of the city: 
 


 The first two statements are government-wide financial statements that provide both long-term and 
short-term information about the city's overall financial status. 


 
 The remaining statements are fund financial statements that focus on individual parts of city 


government, reporting the city's operations in more detail than the government-wide statements. 







CITY OF STOUGHTON 
 


MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
(Unaudited) 


As of and For the Year Ended December 31, 2016 
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OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.) 
 


 
These financial statements also include notes that explain some of the information in the financial 
statements and provide more detailed data. The statements are followed by a section of required 
supplementary information that further explains and supports the information in the financial statements. 
 
The government-wide statements report information about the city as a whole using accounting methods 
similar to those used by private-sector companies. The statement of net position includes all of the 
government’s assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources. All of 
the current year’s revenues and expenses are accounted for in the statement of activities regardless of 
when cash is received or paid. 
 
The two government-wide statements report the city’s net position and how they have changed. Net 
position – the city’s assets plus deferred outflows of resources less liabilities and deferred inflows of 
resources – is one way to measure the city’s financial health, or position. Over time, increases or 
decreases in the city’s net position are an indicator of whether its financial health is improving or 
deteriorating. To assess the overall health of the city you need to consider additional non-financial factors 
such as changes in the city’s property tax base and the condition of the city’s roads. 
 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the government’s net position changed 
during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying 
event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of the cash flows. Thus, revenue and 
expenses reported in this statement for some items will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods. 
 
A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been 
segregated for specific activities or objectives. The city, like other state and local governments, uses fund 
accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the 
funds of the city can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary 
funds. 
 
Governmental Funds – Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the 
government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows 
and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end 
of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing 
requirements. 
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing 
so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing 
decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between 
governmental funds and governmental activities. 
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OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.) 
 


 
The city maintains thirty-four individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the 
governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and 
changes in fund balances for the general fund, debt service fund, and construction fund, all of which are 
considered to be major funds. Data from the other governmental funds are combined into a single, 
aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of these non-major governmental funds is provided 
in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report. 
 
The city adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general fund. A budgetary comparison statement 
has been provided for the general fund to demonstrate compliance with this budget. 
 
Proprietary Funds – The city maintains five different proprietary funds, all of which are enterprise funds. 
Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the 
government-wide financial statements. Proprietary fund financial statements present the same type of 
information as the government-wide financial statements, only in more detail. 
 
Internal Service Fund – The internal service fund is used to account for and report the financing of goods 
or services provided by one department or agency to other departments or agencies of the city, on a cost-
reimbursement basis. 
 
Fiduciary Funds – Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside 
the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because 
the resources of those funds are not available to support the city’s own programs. The accounting used 
for fiduciary funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. 
 
Notes to the Financial Statements – The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. 
 
Other Information – In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, required 
supplementary information presents a detailed budgetary comparison schedule for the general fund to 
demonstrate compliance with the budget, followed by the city’s pension related information. The 
combining statements referred to earlier in connection with nonmajor governmental funds are presented 
immediately following the required supplementary information. 
 


 


FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE 
 


 
An analysis of the city’s financial position begins with a review of the Statement of Net Position and the 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position. These two statements report the city’s 
net position and changes therein. It should be noted that the financial position could also be affected by 
non-financial factors, including economic conditions, population growth and new regulations. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE (cont.) 
 


 
A summary of the city’s Statement of Net Position is presented below. 
 


Table 1
Condensed Statement of Net Position


2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
Current and other assets 27,148,573$   25,180,866$      18,735,100$     16,078,338$      45,883,673$    41,259,204$    
Capital assets 38,471,938     36,005,803        51,017,100       48,704,011        89,489,038      84,709,814      


Total Assets 65,620,511     61,186,669        69,752,200       64,782,349        135,372,711    125,969,018    


Pension related amounts 3,103,229       865,833             1,066,540         293,480             4,169,769        1,159,313        
Total Deferred Outflows
of Resources 3,103,229       865,833             1,066,540         293,480             4,169,769        1,159,313        


Long-term liabilities 27,238,629     22,888,649        17,387,561       14,992,807        44,626,190      37,881,456      
Other liabilities 2,493,603       1,254,652          1,617,810         1,596,851          4,111,413        2,851,503        


Total Liabilities 29,732,232     24,143,301        19,005,371       16,589,658        48,737,603      40,732,959      


Unearned revenue 10,944,230     9,413,884          408,985            1,961                 11,353,215      9,415,845        
Total Deferred Inflows
  of Resources 10,944,230     9,413,884          408,985            1,961                 11,353,215      9,415,845        


Net investment in 
capital assets 19,190,712     20,218,136        36,484,386       34,727,832        55,009,388      54,200,088      


Restricted 1,969,261       2,484,622          3,091,634         3,149,076          5,060,895        5,633,698        
Unrestricted 6,887,305       5,792,559          11,828,364       10,607,302        19,381,379      17,145,741      


Total Net Position 28,047,278$   28,495,317$     51,404,384$    48,484,210$     79,451,662$    76,979,527$   


Governmental Business Type Totals
Activities Activities


 
The largest portion of the city’s net position (71%) reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, 
buildings and improvements, machinery and equipment, and infrastructure), less any debt used to acquire 
those assets that is still outstanding. The city uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; 
consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the city’s investment in its 
capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this 
debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate 
these liabilities. 
 
An additional portion of the city’s net position (8%) represents resources that are subject to external 
restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining balance of unrestricted net position (21%) may be 
used to meet the government’s ongoing obligation to citizens and creditors. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE (cont.) 
 


 
A summary of the city’s Statement of Activities is presented below. 
 


Table 2
Condensed Statement of Revenues,


Expenses and Changes in Net Position


2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015


REVENUES
Program Revenues


Charges for services 2,883,638$     2,473,272$    20,328,506$     19,892,731$   23,212,144$     22,366,003$  
Operating grants and 
   contributions 1,728,580       1,900,671      36,747                29,812             1,765,327          1,930,483      
Capital grants and


contributions 55,913             1,008,676      1,741,957          1,050,684        1,797,870          2,059,360      
General Revenues


Property taxes 8,662,381       8,215,063      -                           -                         8,662,381          8,215,063      
Other taxes 134,647          122,478          -                           -                         134,647             122,478          
Intergovernmental 856,350          817,074          -                           -                         856,350             817,074          
Other 590,062          471,257          122,793             172,333           712,855             643,590          
      Total Revenues 14,911,571     15,008,491    22,230,003        21,145,560     37,141,574        36,154,051    


EXPENSES
General government 2,092,522       1,458,670      -                           -                         2,092,522          1,458,670      
Public safety 4,101,812       4,387,246      -                           -                         4,101,812          4,387,246      
Public works 3,227,449       2,845,848      -                           -                         3,227,449          2,845,848      
Culture, education and
   recreation 3,793,485       2,963,438      -                           -                         3,793,485          2,963,438      
Conservation and development 1,725,503       540,734          -                           -                         1,725,503          540,734          
Water -                        -                       1,559,150          1,381,539        1,559,150          1,381,539      
Sewer -                        -                       1,964,246          1,975,595        1,964,246          1,975,595      
Electric -                        -                       14,577,775        14,364,258     14,577,775        14,364,258    
EMS -                        -                       665,127             630,083           665,127             630,083          
Storm sewer -                        -                       469,033             397,907           469,033             397,907          
Interest and fiscal charges 493,337          533,342          -                           -                         493,337             533,342          


     Total Expenses 15,434,108     12,729,278    19,235,331        18,749,382     34,669,439        31,478,660    


Income Before Transfers (522,537)         2,279,213      2,994,672          2,396,178        2,472,135          4,675,391      


Transfers 74,498             (331,385)        (74,498)              331,385           -                           -                       


Change in Net Position (448,039)         1,947,828      2,920,174          2,727,563        2,472,135          4,675,391      


Beginning Net Position 28,495,317     26,547,489    48,484,210        45,756,647     76,979,527        72,304,136    


ENDING NET POSITION 28,047,278$  28,495,317$  51,404,384$     48,484,210$   79,451,662$     76,979,527$  


Governmental Business Type
Activities Activities Totals
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE (cont.) 
 


 
As previously noted, the Statement of Net Position shows the change in financial position of net position. 
The specific nature or source of these changes then becomes more evident in the Statement of 
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position as shown above in Table 2.  
 
Governmental Activities – Revenues 
 
Governmental activities decreased the city’s net position by $448,039. This decrease is primarily a result 
of reduction in grants and contributions and increase in expenditures. 
 
Program revenues are those revenues that can be directly related to a particular activity, whereas general 
revenues represent revenues that are not directly related to one specific function. General revenues 
include state aids and investment income. Charges for services are primarily made up of licenses, 
permits, public charges for services such as library, garbage, recycling, park, and recreation fees. 
Operating grants are mainly from state resources received for highway maintenance and recycling 
programs. Capital grants fluctuate annually and are received to assist the city in capital asset purchases. 
 
Property taxes are the largest revenue source for the governmental activities accounting for 58% of total 
revenues. 
 


Governmental Activities by Revenue Source 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE (cont.) 


 
 
Governmental Activities – Expenses 
 
Governmental activities expenses are broken down into various functions. General government includes 
administrative type costs including Council, Clerk, Finance, Legal and Assessment services. Costs 
associated with the city's Police Department and Fire services are shown within the public safety function. 
The public works function includes expenses for street and sidewalk maintenance, winter and forestry 
operations, and refuse and recycling efforts. Health and human services include the senior center, parks, 
recreation, cemetery and cable television. Conservation and development are the expenses of the 
planning department and TIF funds. 
 
 Governmental Activities Expenses Shown by Function 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE (cont.) 
 


 
Business Type Activities 
 
Business-type activities increased the City of Stoughton's net position by $2,920,174. The net investment 
in capital assets increased by approximately 5% or $1,756,554. This is due primarily to the fact that each 
of the utilities had more capital asset additions than debt issued to acquire capital assets. 
 
As shown on the following chart, the major source of revenues for the business-type activities is charges 
for services; other revenues include grants, contributions and investment income. 
 


Revenues by Source - Business Type Activities 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE (cont.) 
 


 
Operating Expenses and Revenues - Business-type Activities 
 


 
 
Governmental Funds 
 
The focus of the City of Stoughton’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, 
outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the city’s 
financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of the 
government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 
 
At December 31, 2016, the city’s governmental funds reported combined fund balances of $14,248,722. 
Approximately 18% of this amount, $2,565,550, constitutes the unassigned fund balance, which is available 
to meet the city’s current and future needs. An additional $10,622,202 is included in the restricted, 
committed, or assigned category which has been designated for specific projects or expenditures. The 
remaining $1,060,970 is non-spendable for prepaid expenditures, long-term receivables, non-current 
assets, or CVMIC equity. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE (cont.) 
 


 


General Fund 
 
The city’s general fund is the chief operating fund of the city. Total fund balance in the general fund 
increased $103,141 or 2%. These changes are primarily due to an overall savings in the 2016 operating 
budget. See the following General Fund Budgetary Highlights section for further details. 
 
The city has a formal minimum fund balance policy. That policy is to maintain an unassigned general fund 
balance within a range of 20% to 25% of general fund annual budgeted expenditures. The unassigned 
general fund balance at year end was $3,364,758 or 26.6% of 2016 general fund budgeted expenditures. 
 
Debt Service Fund 
 
The city’s debt service fund accounts for the accumulation of resources for, and payment of, general long-
term debt principal, interest and related costs. The entire fund balance of $3,427,418, which is an 
increase of $3,258,190 from the prior year mainly because of crossover refunding proceeds, is restricted 
for future debt service. 
 
Construction Capital Projects Fund 
 
The city’s construction capital projects fund accounts for the funds accumulated for the purpose of 
obtaining capital assets or for capital projects and other expenditures that are unique and are not normal 
operating or maintenance type expenditures reportable within the general fund or other governmental 
funds. The total fund balance as of December 31, 2016 is $1,833,745, all of which is assigned for the 
completion of projects that were begun but were not fully complete by year end. 
 
Tax Incremental District No. 7 
 
TID No. 7 was created in 2015. The entire fund balance of $1,055,847, which is a decrease of 
$3,298,969 mainly because of proceeds that were spent on TID projects, is restricted for future TID 
projects. 
 
Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
 
Fund balance of all other governmental funds is $2,506,103, an increase of $96,666 from the prior year. 
 
Proprietary Funds 
 
The City of Stoughton’s proprietary fund financial statements provide the same type of information found 
in the government-wide financial statements, but in more detail. Factors concerning the finances of these 
funds have already been addressed in the discussion of the city’s business-type activities. 
 
Internal Service Fund 
 
In December 2011, the city paid off its Wisconsin Retirement System Unfunded Actuarial Accrued 
Liability. The city borrowed money from the Electric Utility to pay off its portion of liability. This advance 
has been recorded in the Retirement Fund, which is an Internal Service Fund that the city created for this 
purpose. The internal service fund had a deficit of $376,653 as of December 31, 2016, which represents 
the amount to be paid to the Electric Utility and funded through future years’ charges to governmental 
funds.  
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GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 
 


 
The General Fund budget had total appropriations, including those for transfers out, of $12,636,498. Actual 
expenditures and transfers out were $12,612,546, resulting in a $23,952 favorable variance. Total revenues 
and other sources were $12,715,687, $152,710 more than the budget. Further details can be found in the 
budget to actual section of this report and the city’s year-end budget to actual report. 


 


CAPITAL ASSETS 
 


 
At the end of 2016, the city had invested a total of $89,489,038 in capital assets. This investment in 
capital assets includes land, buildings and improvements, machinery and equipment, and infrastructure. 
 


2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015


Land and other assets


   not being depreciated 12,277,840$ 11,257,259$ 1,378,406$       1,433,009$    13,656,246$ 12,690,268$ 


Buildings & improvements 15,609,683    15,482,520    1,240,308         1,240,308      16,849,991    16,722,828    


Machinery & equipment 10,141,858    9,798,098      842,543             841,123         10,984,401    10,639,221    


Infrastructure 29,168,741    28,096,459    -                          -                       29,168,741    28,096,459    


Utility plant -                       -                       79,908,979       75,317,683    79,908,979    75,317,683    


      Total Capital Assets 67,198,122    64,634,336    83,370,236       78,832,123    150,568,358 143,466,459 


Less: Accumulated depreciation (28,726,184)  (28,628,533)  (32,353,136)      (30,128,112)  (61,079,320)  (58,756,645)  


NET CAPITAL ASSETS 38,471,938$ 36,005,803$ 51,017,100$     48,704,011$ 89,489,038$ 84,709,814$ 


Governmental Business Type Totals


Activities Activities


 
Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following: 
 
Governmental Activities 
 


 Infrastructure reconstruction projects of sidewalks throughout the city and street reconstruction on 
Williams Drive, Williamson, Clyde, and Van Buren Streets.  


 Various equipment purchases. 
 
Business-type Activities 
 


 Business-type activities capital assets increased mainly due to additions and replacements to utility 
plant. 
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LONG-TERM DEBT 
 


 
At December 31, 2016, the city had $42,047,920 of long-term bonds and notes outstanding. $14,351,787 of 
this is revenue debt, $4,775,000 is note anticipation notes, and the rest relates to general obligation issues. 
Total long-term bonds and loans outstanding at December 31, 2016 increased by $6,377,823. In 
accordance with Wisconsin Statutes, total general obligation indebtedness of the city may not exceed 5% 
of the equalized value of taxable property within the city's jurisdiction. The debt limit as of December 31, 
2016 was $50,039,825. Total general obligation debt outstanding at year end was $22,921,133. Therefore, 
the city was at 46% of the legal debt limit. 
 


 


CURRENTLY KNOWN FACTS/ECONOMIC CONDITIONS 
 


 
All currently known facts and economic conditions were considered in preparing the 2017 city budget. 
None of these conditions are anticipated to change the overall financial position of the city. 
 


 


REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 
 


 
The financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers, investors and creditors with a general 
overview of the city’s finances. If you have questions about this report or need any additional information, 
contact the City of Stoughton Finance Director. 
 







CITY OF STOUGHTON


STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
As of December 31, 2016


Governmental
Activities


Business-type
Activities Totals


ASSETS
Cash and investments $ 11,512,206 $ 10,333,886 $ 21,846,092
Receivables (net) 10,604,986 3,061,998 13,666,984
Internal balances 521,067 (521,067) -
Inventories and prepaid items 70,038 203,245 273,283
Investment in mutual insurance company 257,805 - 257,805
Restricted cash and investments 3,207,367 5,246,597 8,453,964
Other assets - 410,441 410,441
Land held for resale 975,104 - 975,104
Capital Assets


Capital assets not being depreciated 12,277,840 1,378,406 13,656,246
Capital assets net of depreciation 26,194,098 49,638,694 75,832,792


Total Assets 65,620,511 69,752,200 135,372,711


DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related amounts 3,103,229 1,066,540 4,169,769


Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 3,103,229 1,066,540 4,169,769


LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 2,429,168 1,410,107 3,839,275
Deposits 64,435 106,064 170,499
Liabilities Payable from Restricted Assets


Current portion of revenue bonds - 1,346,072 1,346,072
Accrued interest - 101,639 101,639


Noncurrent Liabilities
Due within one year 5,773,534 318,409 6,091,943
Due in more than one year 21,465,095 15,723,080 37,188,175


Total Liabilities 29,732,232 19,005,371 48,737,603


DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Unearned revenue 9,753,757 - 9,753,757
Pension related amounts 1,190,473 408,985 1,599,458


Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 10,944,230 408,985 11,353,215


NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 19,190,712 36,484,386 55,009,388
Restricted for


Debt service 107,262 1,995,346 2,102,608
Equipment replacement - 1,096,288 1,096,288
TID activities 1,315,382 - 1,315,382
Library 202,444 - 202,444
Impact fees 337,799 - 337,799
Grants 6,374 - 6,374


Unrestricted 6,887,305 11,828,364 19,381,379


TOTAL NET POSITION $ 28,047,278 $ 51,404,384 $ 79,451,662


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended December 31, 2016


Program Revenues


Functions/Programs Expenses
Charges for


Services


Operating
Grants and


Contributions


Capital 
Grants and


Contributions


Governmental Activities
General government $ 2,092,522 $ 159,648 $ 153,445 $ -
Public safety 4,101,812 574,370 155,136 55,913
Public works 3,227,449 973,799 661,206 -
Culture, recreation and education 3,793,485 1,069,879 736,076 -
Conservation and development 1,725,503 105,942 - -
Interest and fiscal charges 493,337 - 22,717 -


Total Governmental Activities 15,434,108 2,883,638 1,728,580 55,913


Business-type Activities
Water 1,559,150 2,001,124 - 756,373
Wastewater 1,964,246 2,036,002 - 660,959
Electric 14,577,775 15,116,204 - 324,625
EMS 665,127 630,317 30,638 -
Storm sewer 469,033 544,859 6,109 -


Total Business-type Activities 19,235,331 20,328,506 36,747 1,741,957


Total $ 34,669,439 $ 23,212,144 $ 1,765,327 $ 1,797,870


General Revenues
Taxes


Property taxes, levied for general purposes
Property taxes, levied for TIF districts
Other taxes


Intergovernmental revenues not restricted to specific programs
Investment income
Miscellaneous


Total General Revenues
Transfers


Change in net position


NET POSITION - Beginning of Year


NET POSITION - END OF YEAR


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Net (Expenses) Revenues and Changes in Net Position


Governmental
Activities


Business-type
Activities Totals


$ (1,779,429) $ - $ (1,779,429)
(3,316,393) - (3,316,393)
(1,592,444) - (1,592,444)
(1,987,530) - (1,987,530)
(1,619,561) - (1,619,561)


(470,620) - (470,620)
(10,765,977) - (10,765,977)


- 1,198,347 1,198,347
- 732,715 732,715
- 863,054 863,054
- (4,172) (4,172)
- 81,935 81,935
- 2,871,879 2,871,879


(10,765,977) 2,871,879 (7,894,098)


7,914,655 - 7,914,655
747,726 - 747,726
134,647 - 134,647
856,350 - 856,350
54,685 122,613 177,298


535,377 180 535,557


10,243,440 122,793 10,366,233
74,498 (74,498) -


(448,039) 2,920,174 2,472,135


28,495,317 48,484,210 76,979,527


$ 28,047,278 $ 51,404,384 $ 79,451,662


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
As of December 31, 2016


General Debt Service


Construction
Capital
Projects


TIF District
No. 7 Capital


Projects


ASSETS
Cash and investments $ 3,433,467 $ - $ 1,912,938 $ 2,295,774
Receivables (net)


Taxes 8,875,594 - - 242,013
Delinquent personal property tax 43,797 - - -
Accounts 271,404 - 5,699 107,757
Special assessments - - - -
Delinquent special assessments 6,636 - - -
Leases - 74,128 - -
Loans - - - -
Other - - - -


Due from other funds 1,262,782 251,717 16,407 -
Advances to other funds 618,427 - - -
Other investments 257,805 - - -
Prepaid items - - - -
Restricted cash and investments - 3,207,367 - -


TOTAL ASSETS $ 14,769,912 $ 3,533,212 $ 1,935,044 $ 2,645,544


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Nonmajor
Governmental


Funds Totals


$ 3,870,027 $ 11,512,206


810,590 9,928,197
- 43,797


27,146 412,006
89,312 89,312


- 6,636
- 74,128


50,000 50,000
910 910


- 1,530,906
- 618,427
- 257,805


70,038 70,038
- 3,207,367


$ 4,918,023 $ 27,801,735


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
As of December 31, 2016


General Debt Service


Construction
Capital
Projects


TIF District
No. 7 Capital


Projects


LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES


Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 199,416 $ - $ 101,299 $ 1,317,685
Accrued liabilities 270,358 - - -
Deposits 1,436 - - 29,999
Other liabilities - - - -
Due to other funds 25,243 31,666 - -
Due to other governments 12,105 - - -
Advances from other funds - - - -


Total Liabilities 508,558 31,666 101,299 1,347,684


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues 8,835,745 - - 242,013
Unavailable revenues - 74,128 - -


Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 8,835,745 74,128 - 242,013


Fund Balances (Deficit)
Nonspendable for prepaid items - - - -
Nonspendable for long-term receivables 682,857 - - -
Nonspendable for non-current assets 50,433 - - -
Nonspendable for CVMIC Equity 257,805 - - -
Restricted - 3,427,418 - 1,055,847
Committed - - - -
Assigned 1,069,756 - 1,833,745 -
Unassigned (deficit) 3,364,758 - - -


Total Fund Balances 5,425,609 3,427,418 1,833,745 1,055,847


TOTAL LIABILITIES,
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND
BALANCES $ 14,769,912 $ 3,533,212 $ 1,935,044 $ 2,645,544


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Nonmajor
Governmental


Funds Totals


$ 100,161 $ 1,718,561
14,549 284,907
33,000 64,435


226,678 226,678
576,277 633,186


- 12,105
618,427 618,427


1,569,092 3,558,299


675,999 9,753,757
166,829 240,957
842,828 9,994,714


69,875 69,875
- 682,857
- 50,433
- 257,805


1,811,999 6,295,264
767,475 767,475
655,962 3,559,463


(799,208) 2,565,550
2,506,103 14,248,722


$ 4,918,023 $ 27,801,735


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION


As of December 31, 2016


Total Fund Balances - Governmental Funds $ 14,248,722


Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are
different because:


Capital assets used in governmental funds are not financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds. See Note II. A. 38,471,938


Land held for resale. 975,104


Some receivables that are not currently available are reported as unavailable
revenues in the fund financial statements but are recognized as revenue when
earned in the government-wide statements. 240,957


The net pension liability does not relate to current financial resources and is not
reported in the governmental funds. (556,063)


Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions do not relate to current financial
resources and are not reported in the governmental funds. 3,103,229


Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions do not relate to current financial
resources and are not reported in the governmental funds. (1,190,473)


Internal service funds are reported in the statement of net position as governmental
activities. (376,653)


Some liabilities, including long-term debt, are not due and payable in the current
period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds. See Note  II. A. (26,869,483)


NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES $ 28,047,278


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS


For the Year Ended December 31, 2016


General Debt Service


Construction
Capital
Projects


TIF District
No. 7 Capital


Projects


REVENUES
Taxes $ 7,968,616 $ - $ - $ -
Intergovernmental 1,629,115 22,717 15,124 -
Licenses and permits 233,079 - - -
Fines, forfeitures and penalties 135,588 - - -
Public charges for services 1,393,649 - - -
Intergovernmental charges for services 55,536 48,783 - -
Special assessments 12,855 - - -
Investment income 26,183 - 8,973 10,200
Miscellaneous 464,732 58,596 - -


Total Revenues 11,919,353 130,096 24,097 10,200


EXPENDITURES
Current


General government 1,843,239 - - -
Public safety 3,814,855 - - -
Public works 1,995,483 - - -
Culture, recreation and education 1,236,683 - - -
Conservation and development - - - 850


Capital Outlay - - 2,746,591 3,308,319
Debt Service


Principal - 2,544,421 - -
Interest and fiscal charges - 554,501 54,500 -


Total Expenditures 8,890,260 3,098,922 2,801,091 3,309,169


Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures 3,029,093 (2,968,826) (2,776,994) (3,298,969)


OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Debt issued - 3,210,000 2,620,000 -
Premium on debt - 132,351 - -
Property sales - - - -
Transfers in 796,334 2,884,665 417,870 -
Transfers out (3,722,286) - - -


Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (2,925,952) 6,227,016 3,037,870 -


Net Change in Fund Balances 103,141 3,258,190 260,876 (3,298,969)


FUND BALANCES - Beginning of Year 5,322,468 169,228 1,572,869 4,354,816


FUND BALANCES - END OF YEAR $ 5,425,609 $ 3,427,418 $ 1,833,745 $ 1,055,847


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Nonmajor
Governmental


Funds Totals


$ 828,412 $ 8,797,028
333,038 1,999,994


- 233,079
- 135,588


899,453 2,293,102
- 104,319


161,154 174,009
9,329 54,685


564,140 1,087,468
2,795,526 14,879,272


4,425 1,847,664
27,501 3,842,356


- 1,995,483
2,032,459 3,269,142


164,705 165,555
1,705,963 7,760,873


- 2,544,421
- 609,001


3,935,053 22,034,495


(1,139,527) (7,155,223)


850,000 6,680,000
- 132,351


16,695 16,695
1,913,759 6,012,628


(1,544,261) (5,266,547)
1,236,193 7,575,127


96,666 419,904


2,409,437 13,828,818


$ 2,506,103 $ 14,248,722


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
 AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS


TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the Year Ended December 31, 2016


Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds $ 419,904
  
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different
because:


Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of
net position the cost of these assets is capitalized and they are depreciated over their
estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense in the statement of activities.


Capital outlay is reported as an expenditure in the fund financial statements but is
capitalized in the government-wide financial statements 7,760,873


Some items reported as capital outlay were not capitalized (2,822,222)
Depreciation is reported in the government-wide financial statements (1,703,900)
Net book value of assets retired (97,033)


Capital assets contributed to business-type activities are reported as capital outlay in the
fund financial statements. (671,583)


Property held for resale recorded as an asset in the government-wide statements but
reported as a capital outlay in the fund financial statements. 750,531


Receivables not currently available are reported as revenue when collected or currently
available in the fund financial statements but are recognized as revenue when earned in
the government-wide financial statements.


Special assessments 21,104
Loan activity 50,000
Lease activity (55,000)


Debt issued provides current financial resources to governmental funds, but issuing debt
increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net position. Repayment of debt principal
is an expenditure in the governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term
liabilities in the statement of net position.


Debt issued (6,680,000)
Principal repaid 2,544,421


Some expenses in the statement of activities do not require the use of current financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in the governmental funds. 


Compensated absences 341,662
Net pension asset/liability (1,379,925)
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions 2,237,396
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions (1,184,668)
Accrued interest on debt (16,687)


Internal service funds are used by management to charge self insurance costs to individual
funds. The change in net position of the internal service fund reported with governmental
activities 37,088


CHANGE IN NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES $ (448,039)


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
As of December 31, 2016


Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds


Water Wastewater Electric


ASSETS
Current Assets


Cash and investments $ 412,856 $ 1,333,682 $ 6,951,441
Receivables


Other receivables 237,248 212,282 1,688,079
Interest receivable 3,858 1,921 49,995
Current portion of special assessments 50,103 34,359 -


Due from other funds 70,394 49,361 15,289
Current portion of advance to other funds - - 39,190
Inventories 34,812 - 163,294
Prepaid items 828 1,035 3,276
Restricted Assets


Redemption account 267,550 365,599 486,538
Total Current Assets 1,077,649 1,998,239 9,397,102


Noncurrent Assets
Restricted Assets


Reserve account 244,677 - 649,338
Depreciation account 25,000 33,283 25,000
Replacement account - 1,096,288 -
Construction account 213,127 123 1,840,074


Capital Assets
Land and land rights 430,131 - 220,797
Construction in progress 80,638 94,791 189,399
Plant in service 21,549,377 28,879,140 28,069,197
Property held for future use - - 352,664
Less: Accumulated depreciation (6,778,559) (10,250,053) (14,429,881)


Other Assets
Special assessments 400,824 274,874 -
Plant and maintenance reserve account 328,378 - 508,914
Sick leave reserve account 96,587 120,910 171,811
Advance to other funds - - 337,463
Investment in ATC - - 361,850
Non-utility property (net of amortization) 30,638 - 17,953


Total Noncurrent Assets 16,620,818 20,249,356 18,314,579


Total Assets 17,698,467 22,247,595 27,711,681


DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related amounts 206,806 227,166 575,914


Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 206,806 227,166 575,914


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Business-type Activities -
Enterprise Funds


Nonmajor
Enterprise


Funds Totals


Governmental
Activities -


Internal
Service Fund


$ 409,307 $ 9,107,286 $ -


108,455 2,246,064 -
- 55,774 -
- 84,462 -


85,769 220,813 -
- 39,190 -
- 198,106 -
- 5,139 -


- 1,119,687 -
603,531 13,076,521 -


- 894,015 -
- 83,283 -
- 1,096,288 -
- 2,053,324 -


9,986 660,914 -
- 364,828 -


3,494,116 81,991,830 -
- 352,664 -


(894,643) (32,353,136) -


- 675,698 -
- 837,292 -
- 389,308 -
- 337,463 -
- 361,850 -
- 48,591 -


2,609,459 57,794,212 -


3,212,990 70,870,733 -


56,654 1,066,540 -


56,654 1,066,540 -


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
As of December 31, 2016


Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds


Water Wastewater Electric


LIABILITIES 
Current Liabilities


Accounts payable 75,473 66,855 1,068,767
Accrued liabilities 10,938 17,496 107,051
Public benefits - - 26,651
Deposits - - 106,064
Due to other funds 403,264 9,073 462,554
Current portion of general obligation debt 51,000 34,000 -
Current portion of advance - - -
Liabilities Payable from Restricted Assets


Current portion of revenue bonds 322,677 413,395 610,000
Accrued interest 8,230 22,761 70,648


Total Current Liabilities 871,582 563,580 2,451,735


Noncurrent Liabilities
Long-Term Debt


Customer advances for construction - - 27,141
Revenue bonds payable 2,620,747 4,744,968 5,640,000
Unamortized premium on bond refunding 35,638 - 131,571
General obligation debt payable 423,000 282,000 -
Compensated absences 86,587 120,910 171,811
Net pension liability 36,404 40,825 103,350
Advances from other funds - - -


Total Noncurrent Liabilities 3,202,376 5,188,703 6,073,873


Total Liabilities 4,073,958 5,752,283 8,525,608


DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related amounts 77,947 87,394 221,246


Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 77,947 87,394 221,246


NET POSITION (DEFICIT)
Net investment in capital assets 12,041,652 13,249,638 9,860,679
Restricted for


Debt service 528,997 376,121 1,090,228
Equipment replacement - 1,096,288 -


Unrestricted (deficit) 1,182,719 1,913,037 8,589,834


TOTAL NET POSITION (DEFICIT) $ 13,753,368 $ 16,635,084 $ 19,540,741


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Nonmajor
Enterprise


Funds Totals


Governmental
Activities -


Internal
Service Funds


14,983 1,226,078 -
21,893 157,378 -


- 26,651 -
- 106,064 -


243,642 1,118,533 -
233,409 318,409 -


- - 39,190


- 1,346,072 -
- 101,639 -


513,927 4,400,824 39,190


- 27,141 -
- 13,005,715 -
- 167,209 -


1,216,618 1,921,618 -
31,039 410,347 -
10,471 191,050 -


- - 337,463
1,258,128 15,723,080 337,463


1,772,055 20,123,904 376,653


22,398 408,985 -


22,398 408,985 -


1,332,417 36,484,386 -


- 1,995,346 -
- 1,096,288 -


142,774 11,828,364 (376,653)


$ 1,475,191 $ 51,404,384 $ (376,653)


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS


For the Year Ended December 31, 2016


Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds


Water Wastewater Electric


OPERATING REVENUES $ 2,001,124 $ 2,036,002 $ 15,116,204


OPERATING EXPENSES
Operation and maintenance 1,012,205 1,020,298 13,329,607
Depreciation 428,084 796,285 996,954


Total Operating Expenses 1,440,289 1,816,583 14,326,561


Operating Income 560,835 219,419 789,643


NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment income 25,029 2,485 92,308
Interest and fiscal charges (74,001) (147,663) (148,952)
Miscellaneous expenses (4,280) - (3,080)
Debt issuance costs (47,812) - (110,140)
Interest subsidy - - -
Amortization of premium on bond refunding 2,952 - 10,958
Miscellaneous revenue - - -
Intergovernmental grants - - -


Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) (98,112) (145,178) (158,906)


Income Before Contributions and Transfers 462,723 74,241 630,737


CONTRIBUTIONS AND TRANSFERS
Contributions in aid of construction 756,373 660,959 324,625
Capital contributions - municipal 215,803 185,879 269,901
Transfers in - - -
Transfers out (390,267) - (397,998)


Total Contributions and Transfers 581,909 846,838 196,528


Change in Net Position 1,044,632 921,079 827,265


NET POSITION (DEFICIT) - Beginning of Year 12,708,736 15,714,005 18,713,476


NET POSITION (DEFICIT) - END OF YEAR $ 13,753,368 $ 16,635,084 $ 19,540,741


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Business-type Activities -
Enterprise Funds


Nonmajor
Enterprise


Funds Totals


Governmental
Activities -


Internal
Service Fund


$ 1,175,176 $ 20,328,506 $ 49,500


944,489 16,306,599 -
147,355 2,368,678 -


1,091,844 18,675,277 -


83,332 1,653,229 49,500


2,791 122,613 -
(42,316) (412,932) (12,412)


- (7,360) -
- (157,952) -


7,978 7,978 -
- 13,910 -


4,460 4,460 -
28,769 28,769 -
1,682 (400,514) (12,412)


85,014 1,252,715 37,088


- 1,741,957 -
- 671,583 -


81,054 81,054 -
(38,870) (827,135) -
42,184 1,667,459 -


127,198 2,920,174 37,088


1,347,993 48,484,210 (413,741)


$ 1,475,191 $ 51,404,384 $ (376,653)


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS


For the Year Ended December 31, 2016


Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds


Water Wastewater Electric


CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Received from customers $ 2,000,726 $ 2,027,899 $ 14,973,046
Received from municipality for services - - -
Received for street lighting - - 129,286
Paid to suppliers for goods and services (600,919) (579,463) (12,486,322)
Paid to employees for services (379,268) (381,206) (760,474)


Net Cash Flows From Operating Activities 1,020,539 1,067,230 1,855,536


CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investments sold and matured 222,122 469,943 1,893,138
Investment income 15,172 18,582 49,135
Investments purchased (200,000) (825,095) (1,926,705)
Dividends from ATC - - 15,064


Net Cash Flows From Investing Activities 37,294 (336,570) 30,632


CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Paid to municipality for tax equivalent (356,604) - (370,260)
Received from municipality principal on Wisconsin Retirement


UAAL advance - - 37,088
Received from municipality interest on Wisconsin Retirement


UAAL advance - - 12,412
Transfers to other funds (2,412) - (21,213)
Paid to utilities principal on Wisconsin Retirement UAAL advance - - -
Paid to utilities interest on Wisconsin Retirement UAAL advance - - -
Advances from other funds - - -


Net Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities (359,016) - (341,973)


CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING
ACTIVITIES


Debt retired (1,399,957) (434,390) (2,215,000)
Interest paid (79,101) (150,466) (112,620)
Debt issuance costs (47,812) - (110,140)
Premium received 38,590 - 93,666
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (1,497,384) (745,230) (1,196,807)
Capital contributions received 586,352 277,552 374,680
Proceeds from debt issue 2,520,000 - 4,005,000


Net Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing Activities 120,688 (1,052,534) 838,779


Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 819,505 (321,874) 2,382,974


CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of Year 259,711 2,355,598 4,285,700


CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR $ 1,079,216 $ 2,033,724 $ 6,668,674


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Business-type Activities -
Enterprise Funds


Nonmajor
Enterprise


Funds Totals


Governmental
Activities -


Internal Service
Fund


$ 1,198,804 $ 20,200,475 $ -
- - 49,500
- 129,286 -


(353,529) (14,020,233) -
(557,650) (2,078,598) -
287,625 4,230,930 49,500


- 2,585,203 -
2,791 85,680 -


- (2,951,800) -
- 15,064 -


2,791 (265,853) -


- (726,864) -


- 37,088 -


42,184 54,596 -
- (23,625) -
- - (37,088)
- - (12,412)


29,817 29,817 -
72,001 (628,988) (49,500)


(233,409) (4,282,756) -
(45,446) (387,633) -


- (157,952) -
- 132,256 -


(412,880) (3,852,301) -
6,109 1,244,693 -


- 6,525,000 -
(685,626) (778,693) -


(323,209) 2,557,396 -


732,516 7,633,525 -


$ 409,307 $ 10,190,921 $ -


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS


For the Year Ended December 31, 2016


Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds


Water Wastewater Electric


RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME TO NET CASH
FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES


Operating income $ 560,835 $ 219,419 $ 789,643
Nonoperating revenue (expense) - - (3,080)
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income to Net Cash Flows


From Operating Activities
Depreciation 428,084 796,285 996,954
Depreciation charged to other funds 31,606 - 45,600


Changes in assets, deferred outflows, liabilities and deferred
inflows


Customer accounts receivable (31,717) (14,000) (77,030)
Other accounts receivable 14,969 7,568 66,161
Due from other funds (2,841) 1,559 (8,637)
Due to other funds - - 46,468
Inventories (4,981) - (33,889)
Prepaid items (277) (334) (741)
Accounts payable 8,963 14,153 (29,236)
Accrued wages 4,029 - -
Compensated absences (6,495) 15,088 1,728
Customer deposits (1,615) - 8,714
Other current liabilities - 4,985 (5,004)
Public benefits - - 563
Pension related deferrals and liabilities 19,979 22,507 57,322


NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ 1,020,539 $ 1,067,230 $ 1,855,536


RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS TO THE
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUNDS


Cash and investments $ 412,856 $ 1,333,682 $ 6,951,441
Restricted cash and investments


Redemption account 267,550 365,599 486,538
Reserve account 244,677 - 649,338
Depreciation account 25,000 33,283 25,000
Construction account 213,127 123 1,840,074
Plant and maintenance reserve account 328,378 - 508,914
Sick leave reserve account 96,587 120,910 171,811
Replacement account - 1,096,288 -
Total Cash and Investments 1,588,175 2,949,885 10,633,116
Less:  Noncash equivalents (508,959) (916,161) (3,964,442)


  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS $ 1,079,216 $ 2,033,724 $ 6,668,674


NONCASH CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Unrealized loss on investments $ (8,367) $ (26,717) $ (37,560)


Contributed capital assets $ 352,096 $ 563,389 $ -


ATC earnings allocated $ - $ - $ 10,016


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Business-type Activities -
Enterprise Funds


Nonmajor
Enterprise


Funds Totals


Governmental
Activities -


Internal Service
Fund


$ 83,332 $ 1,653,229 $ 49,500
35,098 32,018 -


147,355 2,368,678 -
- 77,206 -


(7,129) (129,876) -
- 88,698 -


(4,341) (14,260) -
- 46,468 -
- (38,870) -
- (1,352) -


(2,168) (8,288) -
- 4,029 -


31,039 41,360 -
- 7,099 -


1,090 1,071 -
- 563 -


3,349 103,157 -


$ 287,625 $ 4,230,930 $ 49,500


$ 409,307 $ 9,107,286 $ -


- 1,119,687 -
- 894,015 -
- 83,283 -
- 2,053,324 -
- 837,292 -
- 389,308 -
- 1,096,288 -


409,307 15,580,483 -
- (5,389,562) -


$ 409,307 $ 10,190,921 $ -


$ - $ -


$ - $ -


$ - $ -


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS


As of December 31, 2016


Pension Trust Agency Fund


ASSETS
Cash and Investments $ 770,493 $ 11,758,362
Receivables 86 -
Tax roll receivable - 3,204,121


Total Assets 770,579 14,962,483


LIABILITIES
Due to other taxing units - 14,962,483


Total Liabilities - 14,962,483


NET POSITION


Held in trust for pension benefits $ 770,579 $ -


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS


For the Year Ended December 31, 2016


Pension Trust


ADDITIONS
Contributions


Employer $ 36,671
Total Contributions 36,671


Investment income 2,351
Total Additions 39,022


Change in Net Position 39,022


NET POSITION - Beginning of Year 731,557


NET POSITION - END OF YEAR $ 770,579


See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2016


NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES


The accounting policies of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin conform to accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America as applicable to governmental units. The accepted standard-
setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles is the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB).


A. REPORTING ENTITY


This report includes all of the funds of the city. The reporting entity for the city consists of the primary
government and its component unit. Component units are legally separate organizations for which the
primary government is financially accountable or other organizations for which the nature and significance
of their relationship with the primary government are such that their exclusion would cause the reporting
entity's financial statements to be misleading. The primary government is financially accountable if (1) it
appoints a voting majority of the organization's governing body and it is able to impose its will on that
organization, (2) it appoints a voting majority of the organization's governing body and there is a potential
for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on, the
primary government, (3) the organization is fiscally dependent on and there is a potential for the
organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on, the primary
government. Certain legally separate, tax exempt organizations should also be reported as a component
unit if all of the following criteria are met: (1) the economic resources received or held by the separate
organization are entirely or almost entirely for the direct benefit of the primary government, its component
units, or its constituents; (2) the primary government or its component units, is entitled to, or has the ability
to access, a majority of the economic resources received or held by the separate organization; and (3) the
economic resources received or held by an individual organization that the primary government, or its
component units, is entitled to, or has the ability to otherwise access, are significant to the primary
government.


Component units are reported using one of two methods, discrete presentation or blending. Generally,
component units should be discretely presented in a separate column in the financial statements. A
component unit should be reported as part of the primary government using the blending method if it
meets any one of the following criteria: (1) the primary government and the component unit have
substantively the same governing body and a financial benefit or burden relationship exists, (2) the
primary government and the component unit have substantively the same governing body and
management of the primary government has operational responsibility for the component unit, (3) the
component unit serves or benefits, exclusively or almost exclusively, the primary government rather than
its citizens, or (4) the total debt of the component unit will be paid entirely or almost entirely from resources
of the primary government.


Blended Component Units


The Stoughton Redevelopment Authority (RDA) serves all the citizens of the government and is governed
by a board of seven Commissioners. The rates for user charges and bond issuance authorizations are
approved by the government's council and the government is legally obligated to provide resources in
case there are deficiencies in debt service payments and resources are not available from other remedies.
The Authority is reported as a special revenue fund. The Authority does not issue separate financial
statements.  


Page 25







CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2016


NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS


In February 2015, the GASB issued statement No. 72 - Fair Value Measurement and Application. This
statement addresses accounting and financial reporting issues related to fair value measurements. It
defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. This standard was
implemented January 1, 2016. 


Government-Wide Financial Statements


The statement of net position and statement of activities display information about the reporting
government as a whole. They include all funds of the reporting entity except for fiduciary funds. The
statements distinguish between governmental and business-type activities. Governmental activities
generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange revenues.
Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties for goods or
services. Likewise, the primary government is reported separately from certain legally separate
component units for which the primary government is financially accountable.


The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or
segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a
specific function or segment. The city does not allocate indirect expenses to functions in the statement of
activities. Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use or directly
benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment, and 2) grants and
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function
or segment. Taxes and other items not included among program revenues are reported as general
revenues. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program
revenues.


Fund Financial Statements


Financial statements of the city are organized into funds, each of which is considered to be a separate
accounting entity. Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts,
which constitute its assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, net
position/fund balance, revenues, and expenditures/expenses. 
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2016


NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)


Fund Financial Statements (cont.)


Funds are organized as major funds or nonmajor funds within the governmental and proprietary
statements. An emphasis is placed on major funds within the governmental and proprietary categories. A
fund is considered major if it is the primary operating fund of the city or meets the following criteria:


a. Total assets/deferred outflows of resources, liabilities/deferred inflows of resources, revenues,
or expenditures/expenses of that individual governmental or enterprise fund are at least 10% of
the corresponding total for all funds of that category or type, and 


b. The same element of the individual governmental or enterprise fund that met the 10% test is at
least 5% of the corresponding total for all governmental and enterprise funds combined.


c. In addition, any other governmental or enterprise fund that the city believes is particularly
important to financial statement users may be reported as a major fund.


Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds,
even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements. Major individual
governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund
financial statements.


The city reports the following major governmental funds:


General Fund - accounts for the city's primary operating activities. It is used to account for and
report all financial resources except those accounted for and reported in another fund.


Debt Service Fund - used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted,
committed, or assigned to expenditure for the payment of general long-term debt principal,
interest, and related costs, other than TID or enterprise debt.


Construction capital project fund - used to account for and report financial resources that are
restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditures for capital outlays, including the
acquisition or construction of capital facilities and other capital assets.


Tax Incremental District (TID) No. 7 Capital Projects Fund - used to account for and report
financial resources that are restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditures outlined in the
TID project plan.


The city reports the following major enterprise funds:


Water Utility - accounts for operations of the water system
Wastewater Utility - accounts for operations of the wastewater system
Electric Utility - accounts for operations of the electric system
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2016


NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)


Fund Financial Statements (cont.)


The city reports the following nonmajor governmental and enterprise funds:


Special Revenue Funds - used to account for and report the proceeds of specific revenue
sources that are restricted or committed to expenditures for specified purposes (other than debt
service or capital projects).


Library Food Pantry
Ambulance Landmarks
Opera House Fire Department Special
Opera House Repair Senior Center Wood Shop
Township Outreach Senior Center Special
Tourism Economic Development
Seniors in Need Redevelopment Authority
Holiday Special Assessments
CDBG K9 Unit
Cemetery Tree Commission


Capital Projects Funds - used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted,
committed, or assigned to expenditure for capital outlays, including the acquisition or
construction of capital facilities and other capital assets.


Fire Equipment TIF District No. 3
Park Acquisition TIF District No. 4
River Trail TIF District No. 5
Building Maintenance TIF District No. 6
Equipment Replacement
Outlay


Enterprise Funds - used to account for and report any activity for which a fee is charged to
external uses for goods or services, and must be used for activities which meet certain debt or
cost recovery criteria.


EMS Storm Sewer


In addition, the city reports the following fund types:


Internal Service Fund - used to account for and report the financing of goods or services
provided by one department or agency to other departments or agencies of the city, or to other
governmental units, on a cost-reimbursement basis.


Retirement fund
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NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


B. GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)


Fund Financial Statements (cont.)


Pension (and Other Employee Benefit) Trust Fund - used to account for and report resources
that are required to be held in trust for the members and beneficiaries of defined benefit pension
plans, defined contribution plans, other postemployment benefit plans, or other employee benefit
plans.


Firemen's Pension Trust


Agency Fund - used to account for and report assets held by the city in a trustee capacity or as
an agent for individuals, private organizations, and/or other governmental units.


Tax Collections Fund


C. MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING, AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION


Government-Wide Financial Statements


The government-wide statement of net position and statement of activities are reported using the
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Under the accrual basis of
accounting, revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recorded when the liability is
incurred or economic asset used. Revenues, expenses, gains, losses, assets, and liabilities resulting from
exchange and exchange-like transactions are recognized when the exchange takes place. Property taxes
are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Taxes receivable for the following year
are recorded as receivables and deferred inflows. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as
soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider are met. Special assessments are recorded as
revenue when earned. Unbilled receivables are recorded as revenues when services are provided.


As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial
statements. Exceptions to this general rule are charges between the city's water, wastewater, and electric
utilities and various other functions of the government. Elimination of these charges would distort the
direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions concerned.


Fund Financial Statements


Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when they are both
measurable and available. Available means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter
to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the city considers revenues to be
available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures are
recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for unmatured interest on long-term debt,
claims, judgments, compensated absences, and pension expenditures, which are recorded as a fund
liability when expected to be paid with expendable available financial resources.


Page 29







CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2016


NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


C. MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING, AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT PRESENTATION (cont.)


Fund Financial Statements (cont.)


Property taxes are recorded in the year levied as receivables and deferred inflows. They are recognized
as revenues in the succeeding year when services financed by the levy are being provided.


Intergovernmental aids and grants are recognized as revenues in the period the city is entitled the
resources and the amounts are available. Amounts owed to the city which are not available are recorded
as receivables and unavailable revenues. Amounts received before eligibility requirements (excluding time
requirements) are met are recorded as liabilities. Amounts received in advance of meeting time
requirements are recorded as deferred inflows.


Special assessments are recorded as revenues when they become measurable and available as current
assets. Annual installments due in future years are reflected as receivables and unavailable revenues.
Delinquent special assessments being held by the county are reported as receivables and unavailable
revenues.


Revenues susceptible to accrual include property taxes, miscellaneous taxes, public charges for services,
special assessments and interest. Other general revenues such as fines and forfeitures, inspection fees,
recreation fees, and miscellaneous revenues are recognized when received in cash or when measurable
and available under the criteria described above. 


Proprietary and fiduciary fund financial statements (other than agency funds) are reported using the
economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as described previously in
this note. Agency funds follow the accrual basis of accounting, and do not have a measurement focus.


The proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in
connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the
water, wastewater, storm sewer, electric utility funds and EMS fund are charges to customers for sales
and services. Special assessments are recorded as receivables and contribution revenue when levied.
Operating expenses for proprietary funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses,
and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as
nonoperating revenues and expenses.


All Financial Statements


The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets,
deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenditures/expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY


1. Deposits and Investments


For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the city considers all highly liquid investments with an initial
maturity of three months or less when acquired to be cash equivalents.


Investment of city funds is restricted by Wisconsin state statutes. Available investments are limited to:


a. Time deposits in any credit union, bank, savings bank or trust company maturing in three years or
less.


b. Bonds or securities of any county, city, drainage district, technical college district, village, town, or
school district of the state. Also, bonds issued by a local exposition district, a local professional
baseball park district, a local professional football stadium district, a local cultural arts district, the
University of Wisconsin Hospitals and Clinics Authority, or the Wisconsin Aerospace Authority.


c. Bonds or securities issued or guaranteed by the federal government.


d. The local government investment pool.


e. Any security maturing in seven years or less and having the highest or second highest rating
category of a nationally recognized rating agency.


f. Securities of an open-end management investment company or investment trust, subject to
various conditions and investment options.


g. Repurchase agreements with public depositories, with certain conditions.


The city has adopted an investment policy. That policy follows the state statute for allowable investments,
and does not address the risks disclosed in Note IV.A.


Investments are stated at fair value, which is the amount at which an investment could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties. Fair values are based on methods and inputs as outlined in
Note IV. A. No investments are reported at amortized cost. Adjustments necessary to record investments
at fair value are recorded in the operating statement as increases or decreases in investment income.
Investment income on commingled investments of municipal accounting funds is allocated based on
average balances. The difference between the bank statement balance and carrying value is due to
outstanding checks and/or deposits in transit.


The Wisconsin Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) is part of the State Investment Fund (SIF), and
is managed by the State of Wisconsin Investment Board. The SIF is not registered with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, but operates under the statutory authority of Wisconsin Chapter 25. The SIF
reports the fair value of its underlying assets annually. Participants in the LGIP have the right to withdraw
their funds in total on one day's notice. At December 31, 2016, the fair value of the city 's share of the
LGIP's assets was substantially equal to the amount as reported in these statements.
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NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)


1. Deposits and Investments (cont.)


PMA Financial Network, Inc. is the administrator for the Wisconsin Investment Series Cooperative
(WISC). The investment manager for WISC is PMA Financial Network, Inc. The WISC is not registered
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, but does operate in a manner consistent with Rule 2a7 of
the Investment Company Act of 1940. Investments in WISC are valued at WISC’s share price, the price
for which the investments could be sold. At December 31, 2016 the city's share of the WISC's assets was
substantially equal to the amount reported in these statements.


See Note IV. A. for further information. 


2. Receivables  


Property taxes are levied in December on the assessed value as of the prior January 1. In addition to
property taxes for the city, taxes are collected for and remitted to the state and county governments as
well as the local school district and technical college district. Taxes for all state and local governmental
units billed in the current year for the succeeding year are reflected as receivables and due to other taxing
units on the accompanying statement of net position - fiduciary funds.


Property tax calendar - 2016 tax roll:


Lien date and levy date December 2016
Tax bills mailed December 2016
Payment in full, or January 31, 2017
First installment due January 31, 2017
Second installment due July 31, 2017
Personal property taxes in full January 31, 2017
Tax sale - 2016 delinquent real estate taxes October 2019


Accounts receivable have been shown net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts. Delinquent real
estate taxes as of July 31 are paid in full by the county, which assumes the collection thereof. No provision
for uncollectible accounts receivable has been made for the water, wastewater, and electric utilities
because they have the right by law to place substantially all delinquent bills on the tax roll, and other
delinquent bills are generally not significant. 


During the course of operations, transactions occur between individual funds that may result in amounts
owed between funds. Short-term interfund loans are reported as "due to and from other funds." Long-term
interfund loans (noncurrent portion) are reported as "advances from and to other funds." Interfund
receivables and payables between funds within governmental activities are eliminated in the statement of
net position. Any residual balances outstanding between the governmental activities and business-type
activities are reported in the governmental-wide financial statements as internal balances.
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NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)


2. Receivables (cont.)


In the governmental fund financial statements, advances to other funds are offset equally by a
nonspendable fund balance account which indicates that they do not constitute expendable available
financial resources and, therefore, are not available for appropriation or by a restricted fund balance
account, if the funds will ultimately be restricted when the advance is repaid.


It is the city's policy to record unavailable revenue for the net amount of the receivable balance. As loans
are repaid, revenue is recognized. When new loans are made from the repayments, expenditures are
recorded. Interest received from loan repayments is recognized as revenue when received in cash. Any
unspent loan repayments at year end are presented as restricted fund balance in the fund financial
statements.


3. Inventories and Prepaid Items  


Governmental fund inventory items are charged to expenditure accounts when purchased. Year-end
inventory was not significant. Proprietary fund inventories are generally used for construction and/or for
operation and maintenance work. They are not for resale.    They are valued at cost based on weighted
average, and charged to construction and/or operation and maintenance expense when used.


Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as
prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements.


4. Restricted Assets  


Mandatory segregations of assets are presented as restricted assets. Such segregations are required by
bond agreements and other external parties. Current liabilities payable from these restricted assets are so
classified. The excess of restricted assets over current liabilities payable from restricted assets will be
used first for retirement of related long-term debt. The remainder, if generated from earnings, is shown as
restricted net position.


5. Capital Assets  


Government-Wide Statements


Capital assets, which include property, plant and equipment, are reported in the government-wide financial
statements. Capital assets are defined by the government as assets with an initial cost of more than
$5,000 for general capital assets and $15,000 for infrastructure assets, and an estimated useful life in
excess of one year. All capital assets are valued at historical cost, or estimated historical cost if actual
amounts are unavailable. Donated capital assets are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of
donation. 
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NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)


5. Capital Assets (cont.)


Government-Wide Statements (cont.)


Additions to and replacements of capital assets of business-type activities are recorded at original cost,
which includes material, labor, overhead, and an allowance for the cost of funds used during construction
when significant. For tax-exempt debt, the amount of interest capitalized equals the interest expense
incurred during construction netted against any interest revenue from temporary investment of borrowed
fund proceeds. No interest was capitalized during the current year. The cost of renewals and betterments
relating to retirement units is added to plant accounts. The cost of property replaced, retired or otherwise
disposed of, is deducted from plant accounts and, generally, together with removal costs less salvage, is
charged to accumulated depreciation.


Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets is recorded as an allocated expense in the statement of
activities, with accumulated depreciation reflected in the statement of net position. Depreciation is
provided over the assets' estimated useful lives using the straight-line method. The range of estimated
useful lives by type of asset is as follows:


Buildings 15-75 Years
Land Improvements 15-30 Years
Machinery and Equipment 3-15 Years
Utility System 5-100 Years
Infrastructure 30-75 Years


Fund Financial Statements


In the fund financial statements, capital assets used in governmental fund operations are accounted for as
capital outlay expenditures of the governmental fund upon acquisition. Capital assets used in proprietary
fund operations are accounted for the same way as in the government-wide statements.


6.  Land Held for Resale 


Land held for resale consists of land and improvements and is valued at cost of acquisition, demolition,
and site improvement. Properties include both land intended for resale and land designated as a public
area. Land held for resale is recorded at historical cost.
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NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)


7.  Other Assets  


These accounts include costs related to the utility's investment in American Transmission Company
("ATC") and non-utility property.


The electric utility is a member of ATC. ATC was formed by approximately 25 utilities to plan, construct,
maintain, monitor and own electric transmission facilities in Wisconsin. The utility owns less than 1/2 of 1
percent of ATC. The investment earns dividends quarterly, some of which is paid in cash and some of
which is required to be reinvested. From time to time, the utility has the option to contribute additional
funds to maintain their proportionate share of ownership. The asset is valued at original cost plus
additional contributions and reinvested dividends.


The water and electric utilities have plant and maintenance reserve accounts.  Monthly deposits are made
into this account and made available for routine capital projects and other large operating expenses.


The water, wastewater, and electric utilities have sick leave reserve accounts. Upon retirement, these
funds are used for insurance coverage for utility employees.


Non-Utility Property


Electric utility non-utility property consists of the city dam with a balance of $84,212 and leasehold rental
property with a balance of $91,458 at December 31, 2016. Water utility non-utility property consists of a
park shelter with a balance of $107,000 at December 31, 2016. The costs are being amortized on a
straight-line basis over their useful life.


8.  Deferred Outflows of Resources 


A deferred outflow of resources represents a consumption of net position/fund balance that applies to a
future period and will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until that future
time.


9. Compensated Absences  


Under terms of employment, employees are granted sick leave and vacations in varying amounts. Only
benefits considered to be vested are disclosed in these statements. 


All vested vacation and sick leave pay is accrued when incurred in the government-wide  and proprietary
fund financial statements. A liability for these amounts is reported in governmental funds only if they have
matured, for example, as a result of employee resignations and retirements, and are payable with
expendable resources. 
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D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)


9.  Compensated Absences (cont.)


Payments for vacation and sick leave will be made at rates in effect when the benefits are used.
Accumulated vacation and sick leave balances at December 31, 2016 are determined on the basis of
current salary rates and include salary related payments.


The city provides post-employment health insurance benefits for all eligible employees who chose to
convert accumulated sick leave benefits to post-employment health insurance. The benefits are based on
contractual agreements with employee groups, local ordinances, or employee benefit policies.  Employees
may convert 100% of accumulated sick leave to pay for health care premiums. The cost of those
premiums is recognized as an expenditure as the premiums are paid. The entire cost is paid by the city.
Funding for those costs is provided out of the general fund. Total expenditures for premiums during the
year were $164,555. Six participants were eligible during 2016 to receive benefits. There is no amount
outstanding at year end to be paid in the future. The city does not incur an implicit rate subsidy on these
benefits.


10. Long-Term Obligations   


All long-term obligations to be repaid from governmental and business-type resources are reported as
liabilities in the government-wide statements. The long-term obligations consist primarily of notes and
bonds payable and accrued compensated absences.


Long-term obligations for governmental funds are not reported as liabilities in the fund financial
statements. The face value of debts (plus any premiums) are reported as other financing sources and
payments of principal and interest are reported as expenditures. The accounting in proprietary funds is the
same as it is in the government-wide statements.


For the government-wide statements and proprietary fund statements, bond premiums and discounts are
amortized over the life of the issue using the effective interest method. The balance at year end is shown
as an increase or decrease in the liability section of the statement of net position.


11. Deferred Inflows of Resources  


A deferred inflow of resources represents an acquisition of net position/fund balance that applies to a
future period and therefore will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that future time.
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D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)


12.  Equity Classifications  


Government-Wide Statements


Equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components:


a. Net investment in capital assets - Consists of capital assets including restricted capital assets,
net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances (excluding unspent
debt proceeds) of any bonds, mortgages, notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the
acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets.


b. Restricted net position - Consists of net position with constraints placed on their use either by 1)
external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other
governments or, 2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.


c. Unrestricted net position - All other net positions that do not meet the definitions of "restricted" or
"net investment in capital assets."


The net position section includes an adjustment for capital assets owned by the business-type activities
column, but financed by the debt of the governmental activities column. The amount is a reduction of "net
investment in capital assets", and an increase in "unrestricted" net position, shown only in the total
column. A reconciliation of this adjustment is as follows:


Governmental
Activities


Business-type
Activities Adjustment Total


Net investment in capital assets $ 19,190,712 $ 36,484,386 $ (665,710) $ 55,009,388
Unrestricted 6,887,305 11,828,364 665,710 19,381,379


When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the city's policy to use
restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.


Fund Statements


Governmental fund balances are displayed as follows:


a.  Nonspendable - Includes fund balance amounts that cannot be spent either because they are
not in spendable form or because legal or contractual requirements require them to be
maintained intact.


b.  Restricted - Consists of fund balances with constraints placed on their use either by 1) external
groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or
2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.
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NOTE I - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.)


D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)


12.  Equity Classifications (cont.)


Fund Statements (cont.)


c.  Committed - Includes fund balance amounts that are constrained for specific purposes that are
internally imposed by the government through formal action of the highest level of decision
making authority. Fund balance amounts are committed through a formal action (resolution) of
the City Council. This formal action must occur prior to the end of the reporting period, but the
amount of the commitment, which will be subject to the constraints, may be determined in the
subsequent period. Any changes to the constraints imposed require the same formal action of
the City Council that originally created the commitment.


d.  Assigned - Includes spendable fund balance amounts that are intended to be used for specific
purposes that do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed. The City
Council has, by resolution, adopted a financial policy authorizing the finance director to assign
amounts for a specific purpose. Assignments may take place after the end of the reporting
period.


e.  Unassigned - Includes residual positive fund balance within the general fund which has not been
classified within the other above mentioned categories. Unassigned fund balance may also
include negative balances for any governmental fund if expenditures exceed amounts restricted,
committed, or assigned for those purposes.


Proprietary fund equity is classified the same as in the government-wide statements.


The city considers restricted amounts to be spent first when both restricted and unrestricted fund balance
is available unless there are legal documents / contracts that prohibit doing this, such as in grant
agreements requiring dollar for dollar spending. Additionally, the city would first use committed, then
assigned, and lastly unassigned amounts of unrestricted fund balance when expenditures are made.


The city has a formal minimum fund balance policy. That policy is to maintain an unassigned general fund
balance within a range of 20% to 25% of general fund annual budgeted expenditures. The unassigned
general fund balance at year end was $3,364,758 or 26.6% of 2016 general fund budgeted expenditures.


See Note IV. H. for further information.


Fiduciary fund equity is classified as held in trust for pension benefits on the statement of fiduciary net
position. Various donor restrictions apply, including authorizing and spending trust income, and the city
believes it is in compliance with all significant restrictions. Net appreciation of $39,022 was available for
the year ended.
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D. ASSETS, DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES, LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION OR EQUITY (cont.)


13.  Pension  


For purposes of measuring the net pension liability (asset), deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position
of the Wisconsin Retirement System (WRS) and additions to/deductions from WRS' fiduciary net position
have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by WRS. For this purpose, benefit
payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in
accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.


14.  Basis for Existing Rates  


Current water rates were approved by the PSCW effective May 1, 2016.


Current electric rates were approved by the PSCW on September 1, 2015.


Current wastewater rates were approved by the utilities committee effective January 1, 2015.


NOTE II - RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 


A. EXPLANATION OF CERTAIN DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCE


SHEET AND THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION


The governmental fund balance sheet includes a reconciliation between fund balance - total governmental
funds and net position - governmental activities as reported in the government-wide statement of net
position. The details of this reconciliation include the following items.


Capital assets used in governmental funds are not financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in
the funds.


Capital assets not being depreciated $ 12,277,840
Capital assets, net of depreciation 26,194,098


Combined Adjustment for Capital Assets $ 38,471,938
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NOTE II - RECONCILIATION OF GOVERNMENT-WIDE AND FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont.)


A. EXPLANATION OF CERTAIN DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCE


SHEET AND THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION (cont.)


Long-term liabilities applicable to the city's governmental activities are not due and payable in the current
period, and accordingly, are not reported as fund liabilities. Interest on long-term debt is not accrued in
governmental funds, but rather is recognized as an expenditure when due. All liabilities-both current and
long-term-are reported in the statement of net position.


Bonds and notes payable $ 25,456,106
Compensated absences 1,226,460
Accrued interest 186,917


Combined Adjustment for Long-Term
Liabilities $ 26,869,483


NOTE III - STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY  


A. BUDGETARY INFORMATION


A budget has been adopted for the general, construction, opera house, library, outlay, EMS and storm
sewer funds. A budget has not been formally adopted for any other funds. Wisconsin Statute 65.90
requires that an annual budget be adopted for all funds.


B. EXCESS EXPENDITURES AND OTHER FINANCING USES OVER APPROPRIATIONS  


Funds
Budgeted


Expenditures
Actual


Expenditures


Excess
Expenditures Over


Budget


Opera House $ 726,699 $ 955,876 $ 229,177
Library 825,063 880,981 55,918


The city controls expenditures at the object level. Some individual line items experienced expenditures
which exceeded appropriations. The detail of those items can be found in the city's year-end budget to
actual report.
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NOTE III - STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY (cont.)


C. DEFICIT BALANCES  


Generally accepted accounting principles require disclosure of individual funds that have deficit balances
at year end.


As of December 31, 2016, the following individual funds held a deficit balance:


Fund Amount Reason


Special revenue - Opera House $ 177,967 Expenditures in excess of revenues
Special revenue - Economic


Development
6,746 Expenditures in excess of revenues


Special revenue - Redevelopment
Authority


65,843 Expenditures in excess of revenues


Special revenue -  Special
Assessments


39,902 Expenditures in excess of revenues


Special revenue - River Trail 359 Expenditures in excess of revenues
Capital projects - TIF District No. 5 419,916 Expenditures in excess of revenues
Capital projects - TIF District No. 6 18,600 Expenditures in excess of revenues


TIF district deficits are anticipated to be funded with future incremental taxes levied over the life of the
districts, which is 27 years for the districts created before October 1, 1995, and 23 years for districts
created thereafter through September 30, 2004. Beginning October 1, 2004, the life of new districts varies
by type of district (20-27 years) and may be extended in some cases. Other fund deficits are anticipated to
be funded with future contributions, general tax revenues, or long-term borrowing.


D. LIMITATIONS ON THE CITY'S TAX LEVY  


Wisconsin law limits the city's future tax levies. Generally the city is limited to its prior tax levy dollar
amount (excluding TIF Districts), increased by the greater of the percentage change in the city's equalized
value due to new construction or zero percent. Changes in debt service from one year to the next are
generally exempt from this limit with certain exceptions. The city is required to reduce its allowable levy by
the estimated amount of fee revenue it collects for certain services, if those services were funded in 2013
by the property tax levy. Levies can be increased above the allowable limits if the amount is approved by
referendum.
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NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS  


A. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS


The city's deposits and investments at year end were comprised of the following:


Carrying
Value


Statement
Balances Associated Risks


Deposits $ 16,881,380 $ 13,497,957 Custodial credit
US agencies - implicitly guaranteed 1,713,738 1,713,738 Credit, custodial credit,


concentration of credit,
interest rate


Mutual funds - bond funds 44,713 44,713 Credit
LGIP 1,408,680 1,408,680 Credit
Negotiable certificates of deposit 2,643,412 2,643,412 Credit, custodial credit,


concentration of credit,
interest rate


State and local bonds 1,029,196 1,029,196 Credit, custodial credit,
concentration of credit,
interest rate


Wisconsin Investment Series Cooperative 15,898,624 15,900,163 Credit, interest rate
U.S. treasuries 3,207,367 3,207,367 Custodial credit, interest


rate
Petty cash 1,801 - N/A


Total Deposits and Investments $ 42,828,911 $ 39,445,226


Reconciliation to financial statements


Per statement of net position
Unrestricted cash and investments $ 21,846,092
Restricted cash and investments 8,453,964


Per statement of net position - fiduciary
funds


Pension Trust 770,493
Agency Fund 11,758,362


Total Deposits and Investments $ 42,828,911


Deposits in each local and area bank are insured by the FDIC in the amount of $250,000 for time and
savings accounts (including NOW accounts) and $250,000 for demand deposit accounts (interest-bearing
and noninterest-bearing). In addition, if deposits are held in an institution outside of the state in which the
government is located, insured amounts are further limited to a total of $250,000 for the combined amount
of all deposit accounts.Deposits in the credit union are insured by the National Credit Union Administration
in the amount of $250,000 for all share draft accounts and $250,000 for all share certificate and regular
share accounts.
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NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


A. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (cont.)


Bank accounts and credit unions are also insured by the State Deposit Guarantee Fund in the amount of
$400,000. However, due to the nature of this fund, recovery of material principal losses may not be
significant to individual municipalities. This coverage has not been considered in computing custodial
credit risk.


The Securities Investor Protection Corporation (SIPC), created by the Securities Investor Protection Act of
1970, is an independent government-sponsored corporation (not an agency of the U.S. government).


SIPC membership provides account protection up to a maximum of $500,000 per customer, of which
$100,000 may be in cash. $500,000 of the city's investments are covered by SIPC. 


The city maintains collateral agreements with its banks. At December 31, 2016, the banks had pledged
various government securities in the amount of $4,848,162 to secure the city's deposits.


The city categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally
accepted accounting principles. The hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair
value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets; Level 2 inputs
are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs.


The valuation methods for recurring fair value measurements are as follows:


 Market approach


December 31, 2016


Investment Type Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total


Negotiable certificates of deposit $ - $ 2,643,412 $ - $ 2,643,412
US agencies - implicitly guaranteed - 1,713,738 - 1,713,738
State and local bonds - 1,029,196 - 1,029,196


Total $ - $ 5,386,346 $ - $ 5,386,346


Custodial Credit Risk 


Deposits


Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a financial institution failure, the city's deposits may not
be returned to the city.


As of December 31, 2016, $6,503,157 of the city's total bank balances were exposed to custodial credit
risk as follows:


Uninsured and uncollateralized $ 6,503,157


Total $ 6,503,157
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NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


A. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (cont.)


Custodial Credit Risk (cont.)


Investments


For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the
city will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession
of an outside party.


U.S. Agencies


Neither insured nor registered and held by counterparty $ 1,713,738


State and local bonds


Neither insured nor registered and held by counterparty $ 1,029,196


U.S. Treasuries


Neither insured nor registered and held by counterparty $ 3,207,367


Credit Risk 


Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations.


As of December 31, 2016, the city's investments were rated as follows:


Investment Type
Standard &


Poors


Moody's
Investors
Services Morning-Star


U.S. Agencies AAA Aa
Negotiable Certificates of Deposit Not rated
Mutual Fund - Fidelity Puritan 5 star
State and local bonds AA Aa1 - Aa2
Wisconsin Investment Series Cooperative AAAm


The city also held investments in the following external pool which is not rated:


Local Government Investment Pool
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NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


A. DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS (cont.)


Interest Rate Risk


Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the value of an investment.


As of December 31, 2016, the city's investments were as follows:


Maturity (In Years)


Investment Type Fair Value Less than 1 1-3 3 or more


US treasuries $ 3,207,367 $ 3,207,367 $ - $ -
US agencies 1,713,738 - - 1,713,738
State and local bonds 1,029,196 - - 1,029,196
Negotiable certificates of deposit 2,643,412 682,461 1,960,951 -


Totals $ 8,593,713 $ 3,889,828 $ 1,960,951 $ 2,742,934


The average maturity of investments at Wisconsin Investment Series Cooperative is not available. 


See Note I.D.1. for further information on deposit and investment policies.
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NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


B. RECEIVABLES  


Receivables as of year end for the government's individual major funds and nonmajor funds in the
aggregate, including the applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts, are as follows:


General
Fund


Debt
Service Construction


TIF District
No. 7


Water
Utility


Wastewater
Utility


Electric
Utility


Nonmajor
Funds Totals


Receivables
Taxes $8,875,594 $ - $ - $ 242,013 $ - $ - $ - $ 810,590 $ 9,928,197
Delinquent personal


property tax 43,797 - - - - - - - 43,797
Accounts 271,404 - 5,699 107,757 237,248 212,282 1,688,079 158,271 2,680,740
Special assessments - - - - 450,927 309,233 - 89,312 849,472
Interest - - - - 3,858 1,921 49,995 - 55,774
Loans - - - - - - - 50,000 50,000
Delinquent special


assessments 6,636 - - - - - - - 6,636
Leases - 74,128 - - - - - - 74,128
Other - - - - - - - 910 -


Gross receivables 9,197,431 74,128 5,699 349,770 692,033 523,436 1,738,074 1,109,083 13,688,744


Less:  Allowance for
uncollectibles - - - - - - - (22,670) (22,670)


Net Total
Receivables $9,197,431 $ 74,128 $ 5,699 $ 349,770 $ 692,033 $ 523,436 $ 1,738,074 $ 1,086,413 $13,666,074


Amounts not expected
to be collected within
one year $ 50,433 $ 15,167 $ - $ - $ 400,824 $ 274,874 $ - $ 139,312 $ 880,610


Governmental funds report unavailable or unearned revenue in connection with receivables for revenues
that are not considered to be available to liquidate liabilities of the current period. Property taxes levied for
the subsequent year are not earned and cannot be used to liquidate liabilities of the current period.
Governmental funds also defer revenue recognition in connection with resources that have been received,
but not yet earned. At the end of the current fiscal year, the various components of unavailable revenue
and unearned revenue reported in the governmental funds were as follows:


Unearned Unavailable


Property taxes receivable for subsequent year $ 9,753,757 $ -
Special assessments not yet due - 116,829
Lease receivable - 74,128
Loans receivable - 50,000


Total Unearned/Unavailable Revenue for
Governmental Funds $ 9,753,757 $ 240,957
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C. RESTRICTED ASSETS  


The following represent the balances of the restricted assets:


Long-Term Debt Accounts


Redemption - Used to segregate resources accumulated for debt service payments over the
next twelve months.


Reserve - Used to report resources set aside to make up potential future deficiencies in
the redemption account.


Depreciation - Used to report resources set aside to fund plant renewals and replacement or
make up potential future deficiencies in the redemption account.


Construction - Used to report proceeds of revenue bond issuances that are restricted for use in
construction.


Equipment Replacement Account


The Wastewater utility established an equipment replacement account to be used for significant
mechanical equipment replacement as required by the Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources.


Following is a list of restricted assets at December 31, 2016: 


Restricted
Assets


Liabilities
Payable from


Restricted
Assets


Restricted Net
Position


Bond redemption account $ 1,119,687 $ 101,639 $ 1,018,048
Bond reserve account 894,015 - 894,015
Bond depreciation account 83,283 - 83,283
Construction account 2,053,324 - n/a
Equipment replacement account 1,096,288 - 1,096,288


Total $ 5,246,597 $ 101,639 $ 3,091,634


Additionally, $3,207,667 is restricted for debt service refunding for governmental activities. 
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NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


D. CAPITAL ASSETS  


Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2016, was as follows:


Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions


Ending
Balance


Governmental Activities
Capital assets not being depreciated


Land $ 9,439,210 $ - $ - $ 9,439,210
Construction in progress 441,630 1,040,479 19,898 1,462,211
Inexhaustible portion of streets 1,376,419 - - 1,376,419


Total Capital Assets Not Being
Depreciated 11,257,259 1,040,479 19,898 12,277,840


Capital assets being depreciated
Buildings and improvements 15,482,520 168,875 41,712 15,609,683
Machinery and equipment 9,798,098 860,431 516,671 10,141,858
Streets 15,661,564 2,067,913 944,312 16,785,165
Storm sewers 5,673,610 - 180,436 5,493,174
Street lighting 227,551 - - 227,551
Bridges 845,989 - - 845,989
Sidewalks 4,682,774 149,268 20,151 4,811,891
Traffic signals 411,974 - - 411,974
Dams 592,997 - - 592,997


Total Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 53,377,077 3,246,487 1,703,282 54,920,282


Total Capital Assets 64,634,336 4,286,966 1,723,180 67,198,122


Less:  Accumulated depreciation for
Buildings and improvements (6,252,982) (403,308) 34,988 (6,621,302)
Machinery and equipment (7,035,118) (431,942) 426,362 (7,040,698)
Streets (9,665,112) (558,946) 944,312 (9,279,746)
Storm sewers (2,778,211) (182,923) 180,436 (2,780,698)
Street lighting (41,159) (3,034) - (44,193)
Bridges (188,046) (11,280) - (199,326)
Sidewalks (2,467,816) (96,238) 20,151 (2,543,903)
Traffic signals (158,579) (10,299) - (168,878)
Dams (41,510) (5,930) - (47,440)


Total Accumulated Depreciation (28,628,533) (1,703,900) 1,606,249 (28,726,184)


Net Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 24,748,544 1,542,587 97,033 26,194,098


Total Governmental
Activities Capital Assets,
Net of Accumulated
Depreciation $ 36,005,803 $ 2,583,066 $ 116,931 $ 38,471,938


Page 48







CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2016


NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


D. CAPITAL ASSETS (cont.)


Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows:


Governmental Activities
General government $ 96,708
Public safety 349,485
Public works, which includes the depreciation of infrastructure 1,048,865
Culture, recreation and education 208,842


Total Governmental Activities Depreciation Expense $ 1,703,900


Business-type Activities


Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions


Ending
Balance


Water
Capital assets not being depreciated


Land and land rights $ 430,131 $ - $ - $ 430,131
Construction in progress 106,478 883,885 909,725 80,638


Total Capital Assets Not Being
Depreciated 536,609 883,885 909,725 510,769


Capital assets being depreciated
Source of supply 595,730 - - 595,730
Pumping 1,468,520 20,920 - 1,489,440
Treatment 90,763 - - 90,763
Transmission and distribution 16,766,589 1,827,934 66,782 18,527,741
Administrative and general assets 843,272 2,431 - 845,703


Total Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 19,764,874 1,851,285 66,782 21,549,377


Total Capital Assets 20,301,483 2,735,170 976,507 22,060,146


Less:  Accumulated depreciation for
Source of supply (352,437) (17,276) - (369,713)
Pumping (1,214,858) (43,630) - (1,258,488)
Treatment (88,203) (437) - (88,640)
Transmission and distribution (3,999,252) (316,262) 86,457 (4,229,057)
Administrative and general assets (747,883) (84,778) - (832,661)


Total Accumulated  Depreciation (6,402,633) (462,383) 86,457 (6,778,559)


Net Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 13,362,241 1,388,902 (19,675) 14,770,818


Net Water Capital Assets $ 13,898,850 $ 2,272,787 $ 890,050 $ 15,281,587
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D. CAPITAL ASSETS (cont.)


Business-type Activities (cont.)


Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions


Ending
Balance


Wastewater
Capital assets not being depreciated


Construction in progress $ 61,100 $ 39,244 $ 5,553 $ 94,791
Total Capital Assets Not Being


Depreciated 61,100 39,244 5,553 94,791


Capital assets being depreciated
Collection system 10,363,837 868,844 18,028 11,214,653
Collection system pumping 401,065 332,454 - 733,519
Treatment and disposal 15,554,351 - - 15,554,351
Administrative and general assets 1,314,953 61,664 - 1,376,617


Total Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 27,634,206 1,262,962 18,028 28,879,140


Total Capital Assets 27,695,306 1,302,206 23,581 28,973,931


Less: Accumulated depreciation for
Wastewater (9,483,326) (796,285) 29,558 (10,250,053)


Total Accumulated Depreciation (9,483,326) (796,285) 29,558 (10,250,053)


Net Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 18,150,880 466,677 (11,530) 18,629,087


Net Wastewater Capital
Assets $ 18,211,980 $ 505,921 $ (5,977) $ 18,723,878
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D. CAPITAL ASSETS (cont.)


Business-type Activities (cont.)


Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions


Ending
Balance


Electric
Capital assets not being depreciated


Land and land rights $ 220,797 $ - $ - $ 220,797
Construction in progress 251,853 187,437 249,891 189,399
Property held for future use 352,664 - - 352,664


Total Capital Assets Not Being
Depreciated 825,314 187,437 249,891 762,860


Capital assets being depreciated
Transmission 15,019 - - 15,019
Distribution 22,777,607 1,251,311 91,267 23,937,651
Administrative and general assets 4,109,842 6,685 - 4,116,527


Total Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 26,902,468 1,257,996 91,267 28,069,197


Total Capital Assets 27,727,782 1,445,433 341,158 28,832,057


Less:  Accumulated depreciation for
Transmission (19,366) - - (19,366)
Distribution (10,731,691) (845,302) 91,267 (11,485,726)
Administrative and general assets (2,727,478) (197,311) - (2,924,789)


Total Accumulated Depreciation (13,478,535) (1,042,613) 91,267 (14,429,881)


Net Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 13,423,933 215,383 - 13,639,316


Net Electric Capital Assets $ 14,249,247 $ 402,820 $ 249,891 $ 14,402,176
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D. CAPITAL ASSETS (cont.)


Business-type Activities (cont.)


Beginning
Balance Additions Deletions


Ending
Balance


Stormwater
Capital assets not being


depreciated/amortized
Land $ 9,986 $ - $ - $ 9,986


Total Capital Assets Not Being
Depreciated/Amortized 9,986 - - 9,986


Capital assets being depreciated
Storm Sewer 1,016,135 395,130 - 1,411,265


Total Capital Assets Being depreciated 1,016,135 395,130 - 1,411,265


Total Capital Assets 1,026,121 395,130 - 1,421,251


Less:  Accumulated depreciation for
Storm Sewer (69,983) (47,042) - (117,025)


Total Accumulated Depreciation (69,983) (47,042) - (117,025)


Net Capital Assets Being
depreciated 946,152 348,088 - 1,294,240


Net Stormwater Capital
Assets $ 956,138 $ 348,088 $ - $ 1,304,226


EMS
Capital assets being depreciated


Buildings and improvements $ 1,240,308 $ - $ - $ 1,240,308
Equipment 841,123 17,750 16,330 842,543


Total Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 2,081,431 17,750 16,330 2,082,851


Less:  Accumulated depreciation for
Buildings and improvements (254,560) (25,226) - (279,786)
Equipment (439,075) (75,087) 16,330 (497,832)


Total Accumulated Depreciation (693,635) (100,313) 16,330 (777,618)


Net Capital Assets Being
Depreciated 1,387,796 (82,563) - 1,305,233


Net Other Enterprise Capital
Assets $ 1,387,796 $ (82,563) $ - $ 1,305,233


Business-type Capital Assets, Net
of Accumulated Depreciation $ 48,704,011 $ 3,447,053 $ 1,133,964 $ 51,017,100
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NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


D. CAPITAL ASSETS (cont.)


Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows:


Business-type Activities
Water $ 428,084
Waste water 796,285
Electric 996,954
Storm sewer 47,042
EMS 100,313


Total Business-type Activities Depreciation Expense $ 2,368,678


Depreciation expense may be different from business-type activity capital asset additions because of joint
metering, salvage, cost of removal, internal allocations, or cost associated with the disposal of assets.
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NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


E. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES, ADVANCES AND TRANSFERS   


Interfund Receivables/Payables


The following is a schedule of interfund receivables and payables including any overdrafts on pooled cash
and investment accounts:


Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount


Amount Not
Due Within One


Year


General Tourism $ 4,069 $ -
General TIF District No. 4 360,802 -
General Water Utility 387,855 -
General Electric Utility 376,785 -
General Special Assessments 37,175 -
General Redevelopment Authority 64,071 64,071
General Debt Service 31,666 -
Construction Water Utility 10,564 -
Construction Wastewater Utility 5,843 -
Debt Service Water Utility 4,845 -
Debt Service Wastewater Utility 3,230 -
Debt Service EMS 243,642 -
Water Utility General 5,260 -
Wastewater Utility General 4,694 -
Electric Utility General 15,289 -
General River Trail 359 359
Storm Sewer Electric Utility 85,769 -
Water Utility Special Assessments 65,134 -
Wastewater Utility Special Assessments 44,667 -


Total - Fund Financial Statements 1,751,719


Less:  Fund eliminations (853,999)


Less:  Interfund advances (376,653)


Total Internal Balances - Government-Wide Statement of
Net Position $ 521,067


Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount


Governmental Activities Business-type Activities $ 1,032,764
Business-type Activities Governmental Activities (511,697)


Total Government-Wide Financial Statements $ 521,067
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E. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES, ADVANCES AND TRANSFERS (cont.)


Interfund Receivables/Payables (cont.)


The principal purpose of these interfunds is to fund ongoing operations.  All remaining balances resulted
from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods and services are provided or reimbursable
expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and (3) payments between
funds are made.


Advances


The general fund is advancing funds to the TIF District Nos. 5 and 6 capital project funds. The amount
advanced is determined by the deficiency of revenues over expenditures and other financing sources
since the district's inception. A repayment schedule has not been established.


In December 2011, the Electric Utility provided an advance to the Internal Service Fund for the purpose of
full payment of the Wisconsin Retirement System Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability. The Internal
Service Fund will repay the Electric Utility over a period of fourteen years at 3%. A repayment schedule
has been established.


The following is a schedule of interfund advances:


Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount


Amount Not
Due Within One


Year


General Fund TIF District No. 5 $ 598,427 $ 598,427
General Fund TIF District No. 6 20,000 20,000
Electric Utility Internal service fund 376,653 337,463


Total - Fund Financial Statements 995,080


Less:  Fund eliminations (618,427)


Total - Interfund Advances $ 376,653


Internal Service Fund Advance


Years Principal Interest


2017 $ 39,190 $ 11,300
2018 41,375 10,124
2019 43,646 8,883
2020 46,007 7,573
2021 48,459 6,193
2022-2025 157,976 9,726


Totals $ 376,653 $ 53,799
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E. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES, ADVANCES AND TRANSFERS (cont.)


Advances (cont.)


For the statement of net position, interfund advances which are owed within the governmental activities or
business-type activities are netted and eliminated.


Transfers


The following is a schedule of interfund transfers:


Fund Transferred To Fund Transferred From Amount Principal Purpose


General Tourism $ 8,069 Room tax revenue


General Water utility 390,267
Payment in lieu of taxes and


dividend


General Electric utility 397,998
Payment in lieu of taxes and


dividend
Debt service General 2,337,231 Payments on non-TID debt
Debt service TIF District No. 3 439,529 Payments on TIF District debt
Debt service TIF District No. 4 107,905 Payments on TIF District debt
Construction Storm Sewer 38,870 Fund capital projects
Construction Special Assessments 279,000 Fund capital projects
Construction Building Maintenance 30,000 Fund capital projects
Construction Park Acquisition 70,000 Fund capital projects
EMS General 81,054 Fund operations
Library General 560,495 Fund annual operations
Opera house General 143,506 Fund capital projects
Outlay General 200,000 Fund capital projects
Outlay Building Maintenance 101,758 Fund capital projects
Outlay Equipment replacement 508,000 Fund capital projects
Equipment Replacement General 400,000 Fund capital projects


Total - Fund Financial Statements 6,093,682


Less:  Fund eliminations (5,347,601)


Capital assets contributions from governmental
activities to business-type activities (671,583)


Total Transfers - Government-Wide Statement
of Activities $ 74,498
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NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


E. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES, ADVANCES AND TRANSFERS (cont.)


Transfers (cont.)


Fund Transferred To Fund Transferred From Amount


Governmental Activities Business-type Activities $ 827,135
Business-type Activities Governmental Activities (752,637)


Total Government-wide Financial Statements $ 74,498


Generally, transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that collects them to the fund that the
budget requires to expend them, (2) move receipts restricted to debt service from the funds collecting the
receipts to the debt service fund, and (3) use unrestricted revenues collected in the general fund to
finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations.


F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS  


Long-term obligations activity for the year ended December 31, 2016, was as follows:


Beginning
Balance Increases Decreases


Ending
Balance


Amounts Due
Within One


Year


Governmental Activities
Bonds and Notes Payable


General obligation debt $ 16,545,527 $ 6,680,000 $ 2,544,421 $ 20,681,106 $ 5,773,534
Bond anticipation notes 4,775,000 - - 4,775,000 -


Sub-totals 21,320,527 6,680,000 2,544,421 25,456,106 5,773,534


Other Liabilities
Compensated absences (Note


I.D.9) 1,568,122 - 341,662 1,226,460 -
Net pension liability (Note V.A) - 556,063 - 556,063 -


Total Other Liabilities 1,568,122 556,063 341,662 1,782,523 -


Total Governmental
Activities Long-Term
Liabilities $ 22,888,649 $ 7,236,063 $ 2,886,083 $ 27,238,629 $ 5,773,534
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F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)


Beginning
Balance Increases Decreases


Ending
Balance


Amounts Due
Within One


Year


Business-type Activities
Bonds and Notes Payable


General obligation debt $ 2,553,436 $ - $ 313,409 $ 2,240,027 $ 318,409
Revenue bonds 11,796,134 6,525,000 3,969,347 14,351,787 1,346,072
Unamortized premium on


bonds 48,863 132,256 13,910 167,209 -


Sub-totals 14,398,433 6,657,256 4,296,666 16,759,023 1,664,481


Other Liabilities
Vested compensated


absences 368,987 75,231 33,871 410,347 -
Net pension liability - 191,050 - 191,050 -
Customer advances for


construction 225,387 175,808 374,054 27,141 -


Total Other Liabilities 594,374 442,089 407,925 628,538 -


Total Business-type
Activities Long-Term
Liabilities $ 14,992,807 $ 7,099,345 $ 4,704,591 $ 17,387,561 $ 1,664,481


In accordance with Wisconsin Statutes, total general obligation indebtedness of the city may not exceed
5% of the equalized value of taxable property within the city's jurisdiction. The debt limit as of December
31, 2016, was $50,039,825. Total general obligation debt outstanding at year end was $22,921,133. 
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NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)


General Obligation Debt 


All general obligation notes and bonds payable are backed by the full faith and credit of the city. Notes and
bonds in the governmental funds will be retired by future property tax levies or tax increments
accumulated by the debt service fund. Business-type activities debt is payable by revenues from user fees
of those funds or, if the revenues are not sufficient, by future tax levies.


Governmental Activities


General Obligation Debt
Date of
Issue


Final
Maturity


Interest
Rates


Original
Indebtedness


Balance
December 31,


2016


2008 General Obligation
Notes 2/13/08 2/1/18 3.00 - 3.50% $ 485,000 $ 115,000


2008 General Obligation
Notes 2/13/08 2/1/18 2.85 - 3.40 1,005,000 235,000


2008 General Obligation
Bonds 2/13/08 4/1/26 3.25 - 3.75 5,530,000 3,475,000


2009 General Obligation
Refunding Notes 4/14/09 3/1/19 1.60 - 3.85 5,060,000 865,000


2010 General Obligation
Notes 4/13/10 3/1/20 1.25 - 4.40 3,000,000 1,595,000


2010 General Obligation
Refunding Bonds 4/13/10 3/1/20 1.00 - 3.25 3,095,000 1,385,000


2012 General Obligation
Notes 4/15/12 3/1/22 0.40 - 2.00 2,759,000 1,824,973


2013 State Trust Fund
Loan 6/23/13 3/15/20 2.75 1,400,000 826,133


2014 General Obligation
Notes 6/1/14 4/1/24 2.00 - 2.25 2,755,000 2,295,000


2015 General Obligation
Notes 7/9/15 4/1/25 2.00 - 2.25 1,545,000 1,385,000


2016 General Obligation
Notes 5/26/16 4/1/26 3.25 - 3.75 5,830,000 5,830,000


2016 State Trust Fund
Loan 12/28/16 3/15/36 3.5 850,000 850,000


Total Governmental Activities - General Obligation Debt $ 20,681,106
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NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)


General Obligation Debt (cont.)


Business-type Activities


General Obligation Debt
Date of
Issue


Final
Maturity


Interest
Rates


Original
Indebtedness


Balance
December 31,


2016


2010 General Obligation
Notes 4/13/10 3/1/20 1.25 - 4.40% $ 1,015,000 $ 510,000


2012 General Obligation
Notes 4/15/12 3/1/22 0.40 - 2.00 661,000 430,027


2014 General Obligation
Notes 6/1/14 4/1/24 2.00 - 2.25 280,000 230,000


2015 General Obligation
Notes 7/9/15 4/1/25 2.00 - 2.25 1,180,000 1,070,000


Total Business-type Activities - General Obligation Debt $ 2,240,027


Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:


Governmental Activities Business-type Activities
General Obligation Debt General Obligation Debt


Years Principal Interest Principal Interest


2017 $ 5,773,534 $ 409,716 $ 324,676 $ 52,762
2018 2,684,119 310,588 330,970 43,948
2019 2,445,602 240,730 342,289 34,549
2020 2,401,095 180,971 348,635 24,602
2021 1,371,014 138,784 215,007 17,360
2022-2026 5,486,408 351,452 678,450 27,609
2027-2031 237,383 74,886 - -
2032-2036 281,951 30,316 - -


Totals $ 20,681,106 $ 1,737,443 $ 2,240,027 $ 200,830


Revenue Debt


Business-type activities revenue bonds are payable only from revenues derived from the operation of the
water, wastewater and electric utilities. 
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NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)


Revenue Debt (cont.)


The utilities have pledged future  revenues to repay revenue bonds issued between 1999-2016. Proceeds
from the bonds provided financing for the utility construction, improvements, and additions. The bonds are
payable solely from utility revenues and are payable through 2036. Annual principal and interest payments
on the bonds are expected to require 2%, 12% and 17%, respectively of electric, water and wastewater
gross revenues. The total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is $16,681,014.
Principal and interest paid for the current year and total customer gross revenues were $1,390,959 and
$19,273,152, respectively.


Revenue debt payable at December 31, 2016, consists of the following:


Business-type Activities Revenue Debt


Date of
Issue


Final
Maturity


Interest
Rates


Original
Indebtedness


Balance
December 31,


2016


Water Utility


2010 Water Utility Revenue
Bonds 1/27/10 5/1/29 2.67% $ 575,018 $ 423,424


2016 Water Utility Revenue
Bonds 5/26/16 5/1/26 1.00 - 2.75 2,520,000 2,520,000


Total Water Utility 2,943,424


Wastewater Utility


1999 Wastewater Utility
Clean Water Fund Loan 12/22/99 5/1/19 3.049% $ 623,465 120,341


2000 Wastewater Utility
Clean Water Fund Loan 7/12/00 5/1/20 3.049 1,116,259 280,959


2003 Wastewater Utility
Clean Water Fund Loan 9/10/03 5/1/23 2.766 1,670,624 695,113


2007 Wastewater Utility
Clean Water Fund Loan 6/27/07 5/1/27 2.475 1,539,762 1,015,168


2014 Wastewater Utility
Clean Water Fund Loan 11/1/14 5/1/34 2.625 3,305,713 3,046,782


Total Wastewater Utility 5,158,363
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NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)


Business-type Activities Revenue Debt (cont.)


Date of
Issue


Final
Maturity


Interest
Rates


Original
Indebtedness


Balance
December 31,


2016


Electric Utility


2013 Electric Utility
Revenue Bonds 4/1/13 4/1/23 2.00 - 2.25% $ 3,170,000 $ 2,245,000


2016 Electric Utility
Revenue Bonds 5/26/16 4/1/36 2.00 - 3.00 4,005,000 4,005,000


Total Electric Utility 6,250,000


Total Business-type Activities - Revenue Debt $ 14,351,787


Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:


Business-type Activities
Revenue Debt


Years Principal Interest


2017 $ 1,346,072 $ 344,400
2018 1,353,118 284,929
2019 1,370,495 256,850
2020 1,405,628 228,089
2021 1,346,722 199,390
2022-2026 4,419,539 630,125
2027-2031 1,768,893 305,146
2032-2036 1,341,320 80,298


Totals $ 14,351,787 $ 2,329,227


Note Anticipation Notes 


Note anticipation notes at December 31, 2016, consist of the following:


Governmental Activities


Notes Anticipation Notes
Date of
Issue


Final
Maturity


Interest
Rates


Original
Indebtedness


Balance
December 31,


2016


2015 Note Anticipation
Notes 10/21/15 10/1/18 1.250% $ 4,775,000 $ 4,775,000


Total Governmental Activities Bond Anticipation Notes $ 4,775,000
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NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)


Bond Anticipation Notes (cont.)


Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:


Governmental Activities
Bond Anticipation Notes


Years Principal Interest


2017 $ - $ 59,688
2018 4,775,000 59,688


Totals $ 4,775,000 $ 119,376


Capital Leases 


Refer to Note IV.H.


Other Debt Information  


Estimated payments of compensated absences are not included in the debt service requirement
schedules. The compensated absences liability, other post employment benefits obligation, and net
pension obligation attributable to governmental activities will be liquidated primarily by the general fund. 


A statutory mortgage lien upon the city's system and any additions, improvements and extensions thereto
is created by Section 66.0621 of the Wisconsin Statutes as provided for in the ordinances creating the
revenue bond issue. The city's system and the earnings of the system remain subject to the lien until
payment in full of the principal and interest on the bonds.


The water and electric mortgage revenue bond ordinances require segregation of the proceeds of the
bond issues and the creation and continual funding of several funds from operating revenues. The city
was in compliance with funding requirements in all material respects at December 31, 2016.


Crossover Refunding


On May 26, 2016, the city issued $5,830,000 in general obligation bonds with an average coupon rate of
1.7% to advance refund $3,180,000 of outstanding bonds with an average coupon rate of 3.25-3.75% and
to provide $2,620,000 of proceeds to fund capital projects. $3,210,000 of net proceeds along with existing
funds of the city were used to purchase U.S. government securities. Those securities were deposited in an
account to provide for future debt service payments on the new bonds until the crossover date. The bonds
are not considered to be defeased and the liability for those bonds as well as the escrow account are
recorded in the financial statements. This type of advance refunding is commonly called a crossover
refunding.
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NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


F. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS (cont.)


Crossover Refunding (cont.)


The cash flow requirements on the refunded debt prior to the advance refunding was $4,199,213 from
2017 through 2026. The cash flow requirements on the refunding bonds are $3,911,368 from 2017
through 2026. The advance refunding resulted in an economic gain (difference between the present
values of the debt service payments on the old and new debt) of $271,770. 


Current Refunding


On May 26, 2016, the water utility issued $2,520,000 in revenue bonds with an average coupon rate of
1.77% to refund $1,175,000 of outstanding bonds with an average coupon rate of 3.77% and provide
$1,320,000 of proceeds to fund new construction. $1,200,000 of the net proceeds along with existing
funds of the water utility were used to prepay the outstanding debt.


The cash flow requirements on the refunded debt prior to the current refunding was $1,396,625 from 2017
through 2023. The cash flow requirements on the  refunding bonds are $1,269,531 from 2017 through
2023. The current refunding resulted in an economic gain (difference between the present values of the
debt service payments on the old and new debt) of $122,199. 


On May 26, 2016, the electric utility issued $4,005,000 in revenue bonds with an average coupon rate of
2.20% to refund $1,725,000 of outstanding 2006 bonds with an average coupon rate of 3.71% and provide
$2,445,000 of proceeds to fund new construction. $1,560,000 of the net proceeds along with existing
funds of the electric utility were used to prepay the outstanding debt.


The cash flow requirements on the refunded debt prior to the current refunding was $2,058,000 from 2017
through 2023. The cash flow requirements on the  refunding bonds are $1,685,833 from 2017 through
2023. The current refunding resulted in an economic gain (difference between the present values of the
debt service payments on the old and new debt) of $157,590. 
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NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


G.   LEASE DISCLOSURES


Lessor - Capital Leases


In 2007, the city amended the original 1998 lease agreement with the Mandt Community Center, Inc.
(MCCI). Under terms of the lease, the city is to receive monthly payments ranging from $4,490 to $5,113
from MCCI for the use of the ice arena. The lease payments received by the city approximately equal the
annual debt service requirements of the corresponding city general obligation debt for the ice arena.
Differences between the lease payments and debt payments are due to the timing difference between
lease and debt payments. The lease payments may only be used to pay debt service on the city notes.
Ownership of the property reverts to MCCI upon full payment of the outstanding debt. The term of the
lease is from April 1, 1998 through March 1, 2018.  Lease payments to maturity are as follows:


Governmental Activities


Years Principal Interest Total


2017 $ 58,961 $ 1,964 $ 60,925
2018 15,167 352 15,519


Totals $ 74,128 $ 2,316 $ 76,444


H. NET POSITION/FUND BALANCES


Net position reported on the government wide statement of net position at December 31, 2016, includes
the following:


Governmental Activities


Net Investment in Capital Assets
Land $ 9,439,210
Construction in progress 1,462,211
Inexhaustible portion of streets 1,376,419
Other capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 26,194,098
Less:  Related long-term debt outstanding (excluding unspent capital related


debt proceeds) (19,281,226)


Total Net Investment in Capital Assets $ 19,190,712
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NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


H. NET POSITION/FUND BALANCES (cont.)


Governmental Funds


Governmental fund balances reported on the fund financial statements at December 31, 2016, include the
following:


General
Fund


Debt
Service Construction


TIF District
No. 7


Nonmajor
Funds Totals


Fund Balances


  Nonspendable:
Delinquent items $ 50,433 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 50,433
Prepaid items - - - - 69,875 69,875
Noncurrent interfunds 682,857 - - - - 682,857
CVMIC equity 257,805 - - - - 257,805


 Restricted for:
Debt service - 3,427,418 - - - 3,427,418
Library - - - - 202,444 202,444
Impact fees - - - - 337,799 337,799
TID activities - - - 1,055,847 1,265,382 2,321,229
CDBG - - - - 6,374 6,374


  Committed to:
Food pantry - - - - 141,425 141,425
Landmarks - - - - 1,182 1,182
Fire department special - - - - 30,883 30,883
Ambulance - - - - 16,684 16,684
Opera house repair - - - - 6,447 6,447
Township outreach - - - - 5,498 5,498
Tourism - - - - 23,823 23,823
Seniors in need - - - - 38,616 38,616
Holiday - - - - 4,786 4,786
Senior center wood shop - - - - 3,221 3,221
Senior center special - - - - 440,558 440,558
K9 unit - - - - 18,677 18,677
Tree commission - - - - 2,703 2,703
Cemetery - - - - 32,972 32,972
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NOTE IV - DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS (cont.)


H. NET POSITION/FUND BALANCES (cont.)


Governmental Funds (cont.)


General
Fund


Debt
Service Construction


TIF District
No. 7


Nonmajor
Funds Totals


 Assigned to:
Utility payment in lieu of taxes $ 764,640 $ - $ - - $ - $ 764,640
Safety camp 23,470 - - - - 23,470
Youth gift 15,952 - - - - 15,952
Bryant grant 85,104 - - - - 85,104
Pool sinking fund 14,333 - - - - 14,333
Shop with a cop 4,733 - - - - 4,733
Police federal grants 9,775 - - - - 9,775
Budget appropriation 80,000 - - - - 80,000
Liability insurance loss 70,000 - - - - 70,000
Arts council 1,749 - - - - 1,749
Capital projects - - 1,833,745 - - 1,833,745
Capital outlay - - - - 223,727 223,727
Fire equipment - - - - 20,226 20,226
Equipment replacement - - - - 142,022 142,022
Building replacement - - - - 269,987 269,987


  Unassigned (deficit): 3,364,758 - - - (799,208) 2,565,550


Total Fund Balances
(Deficit) $ 5,425,609 $ 3,427,418 $ 1,833,745 $ 1,055,847 $ 2,506,103 $ 14,248,722


Business-type Activities


Net Investment in Capital Assets
Land $ 660,914
Construction in progress 364,828
Other capital assets, net of depreciation 49,991,358
Less:  Related long-term debt outstanding (16,591,814)
Plus:  Unspent capital related debt proceeds 2,226,309
Less: Unamortized debt premium (167,209)


Total Net Investment in Capital Assets $ 36,484,386
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NOTE V - OTHER INFORMATION 


A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM


Plan description. The WRS is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan. WRS
benefits and other plan provisions are established by Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes. Benefit terms
may only be modified by the legislature. The retirement system is administered by the Wisconsin
Department of Employee Trust Funds (ETF). The system provides coverage to all eligible State of
Wisconsin, local government and other public employees. All employees, initially employed by a
participating WRS employer on or after July 1, 2011, and expected to work at least 1200 hours a year and
expected to be employed for at least one year from employee’s date of hire are eligible to participate in the
WRS. 


ETF issues a standalone Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR), which can be found at
http://etf.wi.gov/publications/cafr.htm.


Vesting. For employees beginning participation on or after January 1, 1990, and no longer actively
employed on or after April 24, 1998, creditable service in each of five years is required for eligibility for a
retirement annuity. Participants employed prior to 1990 and on or after April 24, 1998, and prior to July 1,
2011, are immediately vested. Participants who initially became WRS eligible on or after July 1, 2011,
must have five years of creditable service to be vested. 


Benefits provided. Employees who retire at or after age 65 (54 for protective occupation employees, 62
for elected officials and State executive participants) are entitled to receive an unreduced retirement
benefit. The factors influencing the benefit are: (1) final average earnings, (2) years of creditable service,
and (3) a formula factor.


Final average earnings is the average of the participant's three highest years' earnings. Creditable service
is the creditable current and prior service expressed in years or decimal equivalents of partial years for
which a participant receives earnings and makes contributions as required. The formula factor is a
standard percentage based on employment category.


Employees may retire at age 55 (50 for protective occupation employees) and receive reduced benefits.
Employees terminating covered employment before becoming eligible for a retirement benefit may
withdraw their contributions and forfeit all rights to any subsequent benefits. 


The WRS also provides death and disability benefits for employees.
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A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)


Post-retirement adjustments. The Employee Trust Funds Board may periodically adjust annuity
payments from the retirement system based on annual investment performance in accordance with s.
40.27, Wis. Stat. An increase (or decrease) in annuity payments may result when investment gains
(losses), together with other actuarial experience factors, create a surplus (shortfall) in the reserves, as
determined by the system’s consulting actuary. Annuity increases are not based on cost of living or other
similar factors. For Core annuities, decreases may be applied only to previously granted increases. By
law, Core annuities cannot be reduced to an amount below the original, guaranteed amount (the “floor”)
set at retirement. The Core and Variable annuity adjustments granted during recent years are as follows:


Year
Core Fund
Adjustment


Variable Fund
Adjustment


2006    0.8%    3%


2007 3.0 10


2008 6.6 0


2009 (2.1) (42)


2010 (1.3) 22


2011 (1.2) 11


2012 (7.0) (7)


2013 (9.6) 9


2014 4.7 25


2015 2.9 2


Contributions. Required contributions are determined by an annual actuarial valuation in accordance with
Chapter 40 of the Wisconsin Statutes. The employee required contribution is one-half of the actuarially
determined contribution rate for General category employees and Executives and Elected Officials.
Required contributions for protective employees are the same rate as general employees. Employers are
required to contribute the remainder of the actuarially determined contribution rate. The employer may not
pay the employee required contribution unless provided for by an existing collective bargaining agreement.


During the reporting period, the WRS recognized $463,123 in contributions from the city.
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A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)


Contribution rates as of December 31, 2016 are:


Employee Category Employee Employer


General 6.6% 6.6%


Executives & Elected Officials 6.6% 6.6%


Protective with Social Security 6.6% 9.4%


Protective without Social Security 6.6% 13.2%


Pension Liability, Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of
Resources Related to Pensions


At December 31, 2016, the city reported a liability of $747,113 for its proportionate share of the net
pension liability. The net pension liability was measured as of December 31, 2015, and the total pension
liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December
31, 2014 rolled forward to December 31, 2015. No material changes in assumptions or benefit terms
occurred between the actuarial valuation date and the measurement date. The city’s proportion of the net
pension liability was based on the city’s share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the
contributions of all participating employers. At December 31, 2015, the city’s proportion was
0.04597674%, which was an increase of 0.00111181% from its proportion measured as of December 31,
2014.


For the year ended December 31, 2016, the city recognized pension expense of $909,254.


At December 31, 2016, the city reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to pensions from the following sources:


Deferred
Outflows of
Resources


Deferred
Inflows of


Resources


Differences between expected and actual experience $ 126,390 $ 1,572,287


Changes in assumptions 522,713 -


Net differences between projected and actual earnings on
pension plan investments 3,058,895 -


Changes in proportion and differences between employer
contributions and proportionate share of contributions - 27,171


Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 461,771 -


Totals $ 4,169,769 $ 1,599,458
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A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)


$461,771 reported as deferred outflows related to pension resulting from the WRS Employer’s
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension
liability (asset) in the year ended December 31, 2017. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pension will be recognized in pension expense as
follows:


Year Ended 
December 31:


Deferred Outflows
of Resources


Deferred Inflows
of Resources


2017 $ 962,740 $ 387,392


2018 962,740 387,392


2019 962,740 387,392


2020 803,052 386,303


2021 16,726 50,979


Actuarial assumptions. The total pension liability in the December 31, 2015 actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement:


Actuarial Valuation Date: December 31, 2014


Measurement Date of Net Pension Liability (Asset) December 31, 2015


Actuarial Cost Method: Entry Age


Asset Valuation Method: Fair Market Value


Long-Term Expected Rate of Return: 7.2%


Discount Rate: 7.2%


Salary Increases:


    Inflation


    Seniority/Merit


3.2%


0.2% - 5.6%


Mortality: Wisconsin 2012 Mortality Table


Post-retirement Adjustments*: 2.1%


* No post-retirement adjustment is guaranteed. Actual adjustments are based on recognized investment
return, actuarial experience and other factors. 2.1% is the assumed annual adjustment based on the
investment return assumption and the post-retirement discount rate.


Actuarial assumptions are based upon an experience study conducted in 2012 using experience from
2009 – 2011. The total pension liability for December 31, 2015 is based upon a roll-forward of the liability
calculated from the December 31, 2014 actuarial valuation. 
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A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)


Long-term expected return on plan assets. The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan
investments was determined using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected
future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are
developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected
rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation
percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real
rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:


Core Fund Asset Class
Current Asset
Allocation %


Destination
Target Asset
Allocation %


Long-Term
Expected


Nominal Rate
of Return %


Long-Term
Expected Real


Rate of Return %


U.S. Equities    27%    23%    7.6%    4.7%


International Equities 24.5 22 8.5 5.6


Fixed Income 27.5 37 4.4 1.6


Inflation Sensitive Assets 10 20 4.2 1.4


Real Estate 7 7 6.5 3.6


Private Equity/Debt 7 7 9.4 6.5


Multi-Asset 4 4 6.7 3.8


Total Core Fund 107 120 7.4 4.5


Variable Fund Asset Class


U.S Equities 70 70 7.6 4.7


International Equities 30 30 8.5 5.6


Total Variable Fund 100 100 7.9 5.0


New England Pension Consultants Long Term US CPI (Inflation) Forecast: 2.75%
Asset Allocations are managed within established ranges, target percentages may differ from actual monthly
allocations
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A. EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM (cont.)


Single discount rate.  A single discount rate of 7.20% was used to measure the total pension liability.
This single discount rate was based on the expected rate of return on pension plan investments of 7.20%
and a long term bond rate of 3.56%. Because of the unique structure of WRS, the 7.20% expected rate of
return implies that a dividend of approximately 2.1% will always be paid. For purposes of the single
discount rate, it was assumed that the dividend would always be paid. The projection of cash flows used to
determine this single discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current
contribution rate and that employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between
actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rate. Based on these assumptions, the pension
plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments
(including expected dividends) of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return
on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the
total pension liability.


Sensitivity of the city’s proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) to changes in the
discount rate. The following presents the city’s proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset)
calculated using the discount rate of 7.20 percent, as well as what the city’s proportionate share of the net
pension liability (asset) would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower
(6.20 percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (8.20 percent) than the current rate: 


1% Decrease to
Discount Rate


(6.20%)
Current Discount


Rate (7.20%)


1% Increase to
Discount Rate


(8.20%)
City’s proportionate share of the net
pension liability (asset) $5,240,266 $747,113 $(2,762,119)


Pension plan fiduciary net position. Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net position
is available in separately issued financial statements available at http://etf.wi.gov/publications/cafr.htm.


At December 31, 2016, the city reported a payable to the pension plan which represents contractually
required contributions outstanding as of the end of the year.


The city has a defined benefit pension plan for fire department employees. The amount paid to retirees
each year is based on the years of service at the time of retirement and the position the retiree held while
a member of the department. Historically, the investment earnings of the pension fund are sufficient to
cover annual pension payments. As of December 31, 2016, the balance in the Firemen's Pension Fund is
$770,493 and is recorded as a pension trust fund of the city. The plan has not had an actuarial valuation.


B. RISK MANAGEMENT  


The city is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, or destruction of assets;
errors and omissions; workers compensation; and health care of its employees. The city participates in a
public entity risk pool called  to provide coverage for losses from theft of, damage to, or destruction of
assets and workers compensation. However, other risks, such as (torts; theft of, damage to, or destruction
of assets; errors and omission; workers compensation; and health care of its employees) are accounted
for and financed by the city in the general fund.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTE V - OTHER INFORMATION (cont.)


B. RISK MANAGEMENT (cont.)


Public Entity Risk Pool


Wisconsin Municipal Insurance Commission (WMIC)
Cities and Villages Mutual Insurance Company (CVMIC)


The WMIC is an intergovernmental cooperation commission created by contract under Section 66.30 of
the Wisconsin Statutes. It was created in August, 1987 for the purpose of facilitating the organization,
establishment and capitalization of the CVMIC, and has numerous cities and villages as members.


The CVMIC is a municipal mutual insurance company established on September 14, 1987 under Section
611.23 of the Wisconsin Statutes. The CVMIC provides liability insurance coverage to the cities and
villages which make up the membership of the WMIC.


The CVMIC is self-insured up to a maximum of $2,000,000 of each insurance risk. Losses paid by CVMIC
plus administrative expenses will be recovered through premiums to the participating pool of
municipalities. The city's share of such losses is approximately less than 1%.


Management of each organization consists of a board of directors or officers comprised of representatives
elected by each of three classes of participants based on population. The city does not exercise any
control over the activities of the agencies beyond the election of the officers and board.


Financial statements of WMIC and CVMIC can be obtained directly from CVMIC's offices.


The initial investment in WMIC is refundable upon withdrawal from the commission and has been reported
at the original amount of $257,805 in the general fund.


The city pays an annual premium to CVMIC for its general liability insurance, which provides coverage up
to $5,000,000 per occurrence, less the city's retained liability. The city's retained liability is limited to
$25,000 per occurrence and an annual aggregate limit of $100,000. An actuarially determined estimate
shows that there is no liability or claims incurred but not reported at December 31, 2016. Total claims
incurred during 2016 were $21,644. Claims paid during 2016 were substantially the same as claims
incurred. Total claims incurred and paid during 2015 were $94,955.


C. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  


Claims and judgments are recorded as liabilities if all the conditions of Governmental Accounting
Standards Board pronouncements are met. The liability and expenditure for claims and judgments are
only reported in governmental funds if it has matured. Claims and judgments are recorded in the
government-wide statements and proprietary funds as expenses when the related liabilities are incurred.


From time to time, the city is party to various pending claims and legal proceedings. Although the outcome
of such matters cannot be forecasted with certainty, it is the opinion of management and the city attorney
that the likelihood is remote that any such claims or proceedings will have a material adverse effect on the
city's financial position or results of operations. 
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NOTE V - OTHER INFORMATION (cont.)


C. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (cont.)


The city has received federal and state grants for specific purposes that are subject to review and audit by
the grantor agencies. Such audits could lead to requests for reimbursements to the grantor agency for
expenditures disallowed under terms of the grants. Management believes such disallowances, if any,
would be immaterial.


The city has active construction projects as of December 31, 2016. Work that has been completed on
these projects but not yet paid for (including contract retainages) is reflected as accounts payable and
expenditures.


Long-Term Contracts - WPPI Energy


The electric utility is one of 51 WPPI Energy member municipalities located throughout the State of
Wisconsin. On December 1, 1989, each initial WPPI Energy member commenced purchasing electric
service from WPPI Energy under a long-term Power Supply Contract for Participating Members (long-term
contract). Under the long-term contract, WPPI Energy is obligated to provide and sell, and each member
is obligated to take and pay for, the electric power and energy required for the operation of each member's
electric utility. 


The long-term contract requires all WPPI Energy members to pay for power and energy requirements
supplied or made available by WPPI Energy at rates sufficient to cover WPPI Energy's revenue
requirement including power supply costs, administrative expenses and debt service. WPPI Energy's
subsequent year's operating budget and rates are approved annually by its Board of Directors, consisting
of representatives from each member. The members have agreed to charge rates to retail customers
sufficient to meet their WPPI Energy obligations. The long-term contract provides that all payments to
WPPI Energy constitute operating expenses of the utility payable from any operating and maintenance
fund established for that system.


In 2015, a majority of WPPI Energy members ratified an eighteen year extension to their existing
contracts. All but two of the remaining members ratified the same extension in 2016. The new contract
expires at midnight on December 31, 2055.


WPPI Energy's outstanding debt service obligation to be paid by its members through their wholesale
power charges through the remainder of the long-term contract was $411 million as of December 31,
2016.


Developer Agreements


The city has entered into a developer agreement where the city shall reimburse developer for off-site
public improvements in the amount of $4,427,044. The city has reimbursed $3,763,230 as of December
31, 2016.


The city has entered into a developer agreement where the city shall construct the city improvements and
provide a development incentive grant in the amount of $377,000. Grant disbursement and construction is
expected to be completed in 2017.
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NOTE V - OTHER INFORMATION (cont.)


D. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  


The PSCW provided authorization for the electric utility to construct a new substation and five feeders on
the west side of the City of Stoughton in order to reliably serve planned and expected load growth. The
estimated cost of the project is $2.77 million.


New electric rates were approved by the PSCW effective April 1, 2017. The new rates are designed to
earn a 5% rate of return.


On June 08, 2017 the city issued general obligation promissory notes in the amount of $7,660,000 with an
interest rate of 2.0194%. This amount will be used for capital projects.


E. EFFECT OF NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS ON CURRENT-PERIOD FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  


The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has approved the following:


 Statement No. 73, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and Related Assets That


Are Not Within the Scope of GASB Statement 68, and Amendments to Certain Provisions of


GASB Statements 67 and 68


 Statement No. 74, Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefit Plans Other Than Pension


Plans


 Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other


Than Pensions


 Statement No. 80, Blending Requirements for Certain Component Units - an Amendment of


GASB Statement No. 14


 Statement No. 81, Irrevocable Split-Interest Agreements


 Statement No. 82, Pension Issues - an Amendment of GASB Statements No. 67, No. 68, and


No. 73


When they become effective, application of these standards may restate portions of these financial
statements.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


DETAILED SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND


For the Year Ended December 31, 2016


Original and
Final Budget Actual


Variance with
Final Budget


REVENUES


TAXES
Taxes $ 7,969,655 $ 7,968,616 $ (1,039)


INTERGOVERNMENTAL REVENUES
Intergovernmental 1,616,654 1,629,115 12,461


LICENSES AND PERMITS
Business and occupational licenses 37,800 36,879 (921)
Dog and cat licenses 4,000 5,849 1,849
Building permits 143,000 190,351 47,351


Total Licenses and Permits 184,800 233,079 48,279


FINES, FORFEITURES AND PENALTIES
Fines, forfeitures and penalties 110,000 135,588 25,588


PUBLIC CHARGES FOR SERVICES
Public charges for services 1,371,021 1,393,649 22,628


INTERGOVERNMENTAL CHARGES
Intergovernmental charges for services 52,000 55,536 3,536


SPECIAL ASSESSMENTS
Special assessments 10,000 12,855 2,855


INVESTMENT INCOME
Investment income 36,000 26,183 (9,817)


MISCELLANEOUS
Miscellaneous 385,047 464,732 79,685


Total Revenues 11,735,177 11,919,353 184,176


See independent auditors' report and accompanying notes to required supplementary information.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


DETAILED SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND


For the Year Ended December 31, 2016


Original and
Final Budget Actual


Variance with
Final Budget


EXPENDITURES


GENERAL GOVERNMENT
Council/Board $ 47,005 $ 45,915 $ 1,090
Legislative and executive 100,152 98,034 2,118
Judicial 63,095 56,902 6,193
General administration 168,462 215,116 (46,654)
Financial administration 864,176 797,493 66,683
Legal 91,500 110,990 (19,490)
Personnel 129,393 130,312 (919)
City buildings 69,242 45,739 23,503
Assessor 47,500 44,000 3,500
Contingency 80,000 - 80,000
Other general government - 205,569 (205,569)
Health insurance - 93,169 (93,169)


Total General Government 1,660,525 1,843,239 (182,714)


PUBLIC SAFETY
Police department 2,798,811 2,974,142 (175,331)
Fire department 480,326 491,004 (10,678)
Planning/Inspection 308,857 349,709 (40,852)


Total Public Safety 3,587,994 3,814,855 (226,861)


PUBLIC WORKS
Highway and street maintenance and construction 106,751 119,140 (12,389)
Highway and street maintenance for local 1,024,921 1,040,545 (15,624)
Snow and ice control 80,000 45,932 34,068
Other sanitation 715,000 697,813 17,187
Buildings and grounds operations 123,796 92,053 31,743


Total Public Works 2,050,468 1,995,483 54,985


CULTURE, RECREATION AND EDUCATION
Park maintenance 209,157 119,019 90,138
Senior Center 525,289 479,597 45,692
Culture 351,565 272,967 78,598
Recreation 324,468 324,459 9
Cemetery 36,000 38,323 (2,323)
Cable television 2,000 2,318 (318)


Total Culture, Recreation and Education 1,448,479 1,236,683 211,796


Total Expenditures 8,747,466 8,890,260 (142,794)


See independent auditors' report and accompanying notes to required supplementary information.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


DETAILED SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND


For the Year Ended December 31, 2016


Original and
Final Budget Actual


Variance with
Final Budget


Excess of revenues over expenditures $ 2,987,711 3,029,093 $ 41,382


OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 827,800 796,334 (31,466)
Transfers out (3,889,032) (3,722,286) 166,746


Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (3,061,232) (2,925,952) 135,280


Net Change in Fund Balance (73,521) 103,141 176,662


FUND BALANCE - Beginning of Year 5,322,468 5,322,468 -


FUND BALANCE - END OF YEAR $ 5,248,947 $ 5,425,609 $ 176,662


See independent auditors' report and accompanying notes to required supplementary information.
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Proportionate
Share of the Net Plan Fiduciary


Proportion Proportionate Pension Liability (Asset) Net Position
of the Net Share of the as a Percentage as a Percentage


Fiscal Pension Net Pension Covered of Covered of the Total
Year Ending Liability (Asset) Liability (Asset) Payroll Payroll Pension Liability


12/31/16 0.04597674% 747,113$            6,169,077$     12.11% 98.20%
12/31/15 0.04486493% (1,102,005)          5,696,627       19.34% 102.74%


Contributions in
Relation to the Contributions


Contractually Contractually Contribution as a Percentage
Fiscal Required Required Deficiency Covered of Covered


Year Ending Contributions Contributions (Excess) Payroll Payroll


12/31/16 461,771$        461,771$            -$                    7,032,737$                      6.57%
12/31/15 465,913          465,913              -                      6,169,077                        7.55%


For the Year Ended December 31, 2016


SCHEDULE OF PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY (ASSET) - 


SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS - WISCONSIN RETIREMENT SYSTEM


CITY OF STOUGHTON


WISCONSIN RETIREMENT SYSTEM
For the Year Ended December 31, 2016


See independent auditors' report and accompanying notes to the required supplementary information.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
For the Year Ended December 31, 2016


BUDGETARY INFORMATION


Budgetary information is derived from the annual operating budget and is presented using the same basis
of accounting for each fund as described in Note I. C.


Department heads submit budget requests by mid-August. The mayor and finance director produce the
executive budget, which is reviewed with the finance committee in mid-September. The city council then
reviews the budget and holds a public hearing. Council adoption of the budget follows the public hearing,
usually in November. Department heads have the authority to make budget transfers within their own
department, except for wage accounts and capital outlay items. Council action is required for adjustments
to wage and outlay accounts, and to change a department's total budget.


Appropriations lapse at year end unless specifically carried over. Carryovers to the following year were
$5,000.  Budgets are adopted at the department level of expenditure. 


WISCONSIN RETIREMENT SYSTEM


The amounts determined for each fiscal year were determined as of the calendar year-end and occurred
within the fiscal year.


The city is required to present the last ten years of data; however accounting standards allow the
presentation of as many years as are available until ten fiscal years are presented.


Changes in benefit terms. There were no changes of benefit terms for any participating employer in the
Wisconsin Retirement System.


Changes in assumptions. There were no changes in assumptions.


See independent auditors' report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS


As of December 31, 2016


Special Revenue Funds


Library Ambulance Opera House
Opera House


Repair


ASSETS
Cash and investments $ 214,400 $ 17,868 $ 9,852 $ 6,447
Receivables (net)


Taxes - - - -
Accounts 210 - - -
Special assessments - - - -
Loans - - - -
Other - - - -


Prepaid items 163 - 69,875 -


TOTAL ASSETS $ 214,773 $ 17,868 $ 79,727 $ 6,447


LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES


Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 1,397 $ 1,117 $ 27,466 $ -
Accrued liabilities 10,932 67 3,550 -
Deposits - - - -
Other liabilities - - 226,678 -
Due to other funds - - - -
Advances from other funds - - - -


Total Liabilities 12,329 1,184 257,694 -


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues - - - -
Unavailable revenues - - - -


Total Deferred Inflows of Resources - - - -


Fund Balances (Deficit)
Nonspendable - - 69,875 -
Restricted 202,444 - - -
Committed - 16,684 - 6,447
Assigned - - - -
Unassigned (deficit) - - (247,842) -


Total Fund Balances (deficit) 202,444 16,684 (177,967) 6,447


TOTAL LIABILITIES,
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND
BALANCES $ 214,773 $ 17,868 $ 79,727 $ 6,447
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Special Revenue Funds


Township
Outreach


Fund Tourism
Seniors in


Need Holiday Food Pantry Landmarks


Fire
Department


Special


$ 5,498 $ 25,803 $ 38,616 $ 4,786 $ 137,563 $ 1,182 $ 30,373


- - - - - - -
- 20,896 - - 5,980 - -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - 910
- - - - - - -


$ 5,498 $ 46,699 $ 38,616 $ 4,786 $ 143,543 $ 1,182 $ 31,283


$ - $ 18,807 $ - $ - $ 2,118 $ - $ 400
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -
- 4,069 - - - - -
- - - - - - -
- 22,876 - - 2,118 - 400


- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -


- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -


5,498 23,823 38,616 4,786 141,425 1,182 30,883
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -


5,498 23,823 38,616 4,786 141,425 1,182 30,883


$ 5,498 $ 46,699 $ 38,616 $ 4,786 $ 143,543 $ 1,182 $ 31,283
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS


As of December 31, 2016


Special Revenue Funds


Senior Center
Wood Shop


Senior Center
Special Fund


Economic
Development


Fund
Redevelop-


ment Authority


ASSETS
Cash and investments $ 3,297 $ 440,558 $ 26,204 $ -
Receivables (net)


Taxes - - - -
Accounts - - 60 -
Special assessments - - - -
Loans - - - -
Other - - - -


Prepaid items - - - -


TOTAL ASSETS $ 3,297 $ 440,558 $ 26,264 $ -


LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES


Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 76 $ - $ 10 $ 1,772
Accrued liabilities - - - -
Deposits - - 33,000 -
Other liabilities - - - -
Due to other funds - - - 64,071
Advances from other funds - - - -


Total Liabilities 76 - 33,010 65,843


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues - - - -
Unavailable revenues - - - -


Total Deferred Inflows of Resources - - - -


Fund Balances (Deficit)
Nonspendable - - - -
Restricted - - - -
Committed 3,221 440,558 - -
Assigned - - - -
Unassigned (deficit) - - (6,746) (65,843)


Total Fund Balances (deficit) 3,221 440,558 (6,746) (65,843)


TOTAL LIABILITIES,
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND
BALANCES $ 3,297 $ 440,558 $ 26,264 $ -
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Special Revenue Funds Capital Projects Funds


Special
Assessments CDBG K9 Unit


Tree
Commission Cemetery


Fire
Equipment


Park
Acquisition


$ - $ 6,374 $ 18,927 $ 2,703 $ 32,972 $ 20,226 $ 337,799


137,318 - - - - - -
- - - - - - -


89,312 - - - - - -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -


$ 226,630 $ 6,374 $ 18,927 $ 2,703 $ 32,972 $ 20,226 $ 337,799


$ - $ - $ 250 $ - $ - $ - $ -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -
- - - - - - -


146,976 - - - - - -
- - - - - - -


146,976 - 250 - - - -


2,727 - - - - - -
116,829 - - - - - -
119,556 - - - - - -


- - - - - - -
- 6,374 - - - - 337,799
- - 18,677 2,703 32,972 - -
- - - - - 20,226 -


(39,902) - - - - - -
(39,902) 6,374 18,677 2,703 32,972 20,226 337,799


$ 226,630 $ 6,374 $ 18,927 $ 2,703 $ 32,972 $ 20,226 $ 337,799
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS


As of December 31, 2016


Capital Projects Funds


River Trail
TIF District


No. 3
TIF District


No. 4
TIF District


No. 5


ASSETS
Cash and investments $ - $ 310,201 $ 1,315,983 $ 178,511
Receivables (net)


Taxes - 492,440 180,832 -
Accounts - - - -
Special assessments - - - -
Loans - - 50,000 -
Other - - - -


Prepaid items - - - -


TOTAL ASSETS $ - $ 802,641 $ 1,546,815 $ 178,511


LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES


Liabilities
Accounts payable $ - $ - $ - $ -
Accrued liabilities - - - -
Deposits - - - -
Other liabilities - - - -
Due to other funds 359 - 360,802 -
Advances from other funds - - - 598,427


Total Liabilities 359 - 360,802 598,427


Deferred Inflows of Resources
Unearned revenues - 492,440 180,832 -
Unavailable revenues - - 50,000 -


Total Deferred Inflows of Resources - 492,440 230,832 -


Fund Balances (Deficit)
Nonspendable - - - -
Restricted - 310,201 955,181 -
Committed - - - -
Assigned - - - -
Unassigned (deficit) (359) - - (419,916)


Total Fund Balances (deficit) (359) 310,201 955,181 (419,916)


TOTAL LIABILITIES,
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND FUND
BALANCES $ - $ 802,641 $ 1,546,815 $ 178,511
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Capital Projects Funds


TIF District
No. 6 Outlay


Equipment
Replacement


Building
Maintenance


Total
Nonmajor


Governmental
Funds


$ 2,213 $ 269,662 $ 142,022 $ 269,987 $ 3,870,027


- - - - 810,590
- - - - 27,146
- - - - 89,312
- - - - 50,000
- - - - 910
- - - - 70,038


$ 2,213 $ 269,662 $ 142,022 $ 269,987 $ 4,918,023


$ 813 $ 45,935 $ - $ - $ 100,161
- - - - 14,549
- - - - 33,000
- - - - 226,678
- - - - 576,277


20,000 - - - 618,427
20,813 45,935 - - 1,569,092


- - - - 675,999
- - - - 166,829
- - - - 842,828


- - - - 69,875
- - - - 1,811,999
- - - - 767,475
- 223,727 142,022 269,987 655,962


(18,600) - - - (799,208)
(18,600) 223,727 142,022 269,987 2,506,103


$ 2,213 $ 269,662 $ 142,022 $ 269,987 $ 4,918,023


Page 87







CITY OF STOUGHTON


COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCES


NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2016


Special Revenue Funds


Library Ambulance
Opera
House


Opera
House
Repair


Township
Outreach


Fund


REVENUES
Taxes $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
Intergovernmental 238,568 - - - 7,136
Public charges for services 27,127 - 787,962 - -
Special assessments - - - - -
Investment income 695 - 44 35 -
Miscellaneous 61,130 3,389 3,874 - -


Total Revenues 327,520 3,389 791,880 35 7,136


EXPENDITURES
Current


General government - - - - -
Public safety - 9,904 - - -
Culture, recreation and


education 880,981 - 955,876 5,853 4,819
Conservation and


development - - - - -
Capital Outlay - - - - -


Total Expenditures 880,981 9,904 955,876 5,853 4,819


Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures (553,461) (6,515) (163,996) (5,818) 2,317


OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Debt issued - - - - -
Property sales - - - - -
Transfers in 560,495 - 143,506 - -
Transfers out - - - - -


Total Other Financing Sources
(Uses) 560,495 - 143,506 - -


Net Change in Fund Balances 7,034 (6,515) (20,490) (5,818) 2,317


FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) - Beginning
of Year 195,410 23,199 (157,477) 12,265 3,181


FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) -
END OF YEAR $ 202,444 $ 16,684 $ (177,967) $ 6,447 $ 5,498
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Special Revenue Funds


Tourism
Seniors in


Need Holiday Food Pantry Landmarks


Fire
Department


Special


Senior
Center


Wood Shop


Senior
Center
Special
Fund


$ 80,686 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
- - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - -
- 81 39 163 5 71 - 483
- 27,593 3,996 100,971 - 57,760 956 6,461


80,686 27,674 4,035 101,134 5 57,831 956 6,944


- - - - - - - -
- - - - - 16,819 - -


86,534 23,228 9,571 60,422 260 - 1,941 2,875


- - - - - - - -
- - - - - 45,975 - -


86,534 23,228 9,571 60,422 260 62,794 1,941 2,875


(5,848) 4,446 (5,536) 40,712 (255) (4,963) (985) 4,069


- - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - -


(8,069) - - - - - - -


(8,069) - - - - - - -


(13,917) 4,446 (5,536) 40,712 (255) (4,963) (985) 4,069


37,740 34,170 10,322 100,713 1,437 35,846 4,206 436,489


$ 23,823 $ 38,616 $ 4,786 $ 141,425 $ 1,182 $ 30,883 $ 3,221 $ 440,558
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCES


NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2016


Special Revenue Funds


Economic
Development


Fund


Redevelop-
ment


Authority
Special


Assessments CDBG K9 Unit


REVENUES
Taxes $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
Intergovernmental - - - - -
Public charges for services - - - - -
Special assessments - - 161,154 - -
Investment income 73 149 355 - -
Miscellaneous - 9,498 - - 7,130


Total Revenues 73 9,647 161,509 - 7,130


EXPENDITURES
Current


General government - - - - -
Public safety - - - - 778
Culture, recreation and


education - - - - -
Conservation and


development 17,888 87,648 - - -
Capital Outlay - - - - -


Total Expenditures 17,888 87,648 - - 778


Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures (17,815) (78,001) 161,509 - 6,352


OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
(USES)


Debt issued - - - - -
Property sales - - - - -
Transfers in - - - - -
Transfers out - - (279,000) - -


Total Other Financing Sources
(Uses) - - (279,000) - -


Net Change in Fund Balances (17,815) (78,001) (117,491) - 6,352


FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) -
Beginning of Year 11,069 12,158 77,589 6,374 12,325


FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) -
END OF YEAR $ (6,746) $ (65,843) $ (39,902) $ 6,374 $ 18,677
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Special Revenue Funds Capital Projects Funds


Tree
Commission Cemetery


Fire
Equipment


Park
Acquisition River Trail


TIF District
No. 3


TIF District
No. 4


TIF District
No. 5


$ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 487,847 $ 259,879 $ -
- - - - - 4,007 2,977 39,117
- - - 67,873 - 16,491 - -
- - - - - - - -
- 119 28 893 1 567 4,135 36


906 - - 52,782 - 52,805 - 18,877
906 119 28 121,548 1 561,717 266,991 58,030


- - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - -


- 99 - - - - - -


800 - - - - - 51,500 -
- - 15,710 - 1,969 7,608 1,383 752,173


800 99 15,710 - 1,969 7,608 52,883 752,173


106 20 (15,682) 121,548 (1,968) 554,109 214,108 (694,143)


- - - - - - - 850,000
- - - - - - - -
- - - - - - - -
- - - (70,000) - (439,529) (107,905) -


- - - (70,000) - (439,529) (107,905) 850,000


106 20 (15,682) 51,548 (1,968) 114,580 106,203 155,857


2,597 32,952 35,908 286,251 1,609 195,621 848,978 (575,773)


$ 2,703 $ 32,972 $ 20,226 $ 337,799 $ (359) $ 310,201 $ 955,181 $ (419,916)
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCES


NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2016


Capital Projects Funds


TIF District
No. 6 Outlay


Equipment
Replacement


Building
Maintenance


Total
Nonmajor


Governmental
Funds


REVENUES
Taxes $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 828,412
Intergovernmental - 41,233 - - 333,038
Public charges for services - - - - 899,453
Special assessments - - - - 161,154
Investment income - 98 1,049 210 9,329
Miscellaneous - - - 156,012 564,140


Total Revenues - 41,331 1,049 156,222 2,795,526


EXPENDITURES
Current


General government - - - 4,425 4,425
Public safety - - - - 27,501
Culture, recreation


and education - - - - 2,032,459
Conservation and


development 6,869 - - - 164,705
Capital Outlay - 881,145 - - 1,705,963


Total Expenditures 6,869 881,145 - 4,425 3,935,053


Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures (6,869) (839,814) 1,049 151,797 (1,139,527)


OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
(USES)


Debt issued - - - - 850,000
Property sales - 16,695 - - 16,695
Transfers in - 809,758 400,000 - 1,913,759
Transfers out - - (508,000) (131,758) (1,544,261)


Total Other Financing
Sources (Uses) - 826,453 (108,000) (131,758) 1,236,193


Net Change in Fund Balances (6,869) (13,361) (106,951) 20,039 96,666


FUND BALANCES (DEFICIT) -
Beginning of Year (11,731) 237,088 248,973 249,948 2,409,437


FUND BALANCES
(DEFICIT) - END OF YEAR $ (18,600) $ 223,727 $ 142,022 $ 269,987 $ 2,506,103
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
NONMAJOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS


As of December 31, 2016


Storm Sewer EMS


Total Nonmajor
Enterprise


Funds


ASSETS
Current Assets


Cash and investments $ 94,164 $ 315,143 $ 409,307
Receivables 825 107,630 108,455
Due from other funds 85,769 - 85,769


Total Current Assets 180,758 422,773 603,531


Noncurrent Assets
Capital Assets


Land 9,986 - 9,986
Property and equipment 1,411,265 2,082,851 3,494,116
Less: Accumulated depreciation (117,025) (777,618) (894,643)


Total Noncurrent Assets 1,304,226 1,305,233 2,609,459


Total Assets 1,484,984 1,728,006 3,212,990


DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related amounts - 56,654 56,654


Total Deferred Outflows of Resources - 56,654 56,654


LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities


Accounts payable 10,478 4,505 14,983
Accrued liabilities 6,403 15,490 21,893
Due to other funds - 243,642 243,642
Current portion of general obligation debt 118,409 115,000 233,409


Total Current Liabilities 135,290 378,637 513,927


Noncurrent Liabilities
Long-Term Debt


General obligation debt payable 821,618 395,000 1,216,618
Net pension liability - 10,471 10,471
Unused sick leave - 31,039 31,039


Total Liabilities 956,908 815,147 1,772,055


DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Pension related amounts - 22,398 22,398


Total Deferred Inflows of Resources
- 22,398 22,398


NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 475,453 856,964 1,332,417
Unrestricted 52,623 90,151 142,774


TOTAL NET POSITION
$ 528,076 $ 947,115 $ 1,475,191
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CITY OF STOUGHTON


COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND
CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION
NONMAJOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS


For the Year Ended December 31, 2016


Storm Sewer EMS


Total Nonmajor
Enterprise


Funds


OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for services $ 544,859 $ 630,317 $ 1,175,176


Total Operating Revenues 544,859 630,317 1,175,176


OPERATING EXPENSES
Operation and maintenance 401,062 543,427 944,489
Depreciation expense 47,042 100,313 147,355


Total Operating Expenses 448,104 643,740 1,091,844


Operating Income (Loss) 96,755 (13,423) 83,332


NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment income 2,074 717 2,791
Interest and fiscal charges (20,929) (21,387) (42,316)
Interest subsidy - 7,978 7,978
Intergovernmental grants 6,109 22,660 28,769
Miscellaneous - 4,460 4,460


Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses) (12,746) 14,428 1,682


Net Income (Loss) Before Contributions and
Transfers 84,009 1,005 85,014


TRANSFERS
Transfers in - 81,054 81,054
Transfers out (38,870) - (38,870)


Total Transfers (38,870) 81,054 42,184


Change in Net Position 45,139 82,059 127,198


NET POSITION - Beginning of Year 482,937 865,056 1,347,993


NET POSITION - END OF YEAR $ 528,076 $ 947,115 $ 1,475,191


Page 94







CITY OF STOUGHTON


COMBINING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
NONMAJOR ENTERPRISE FUNDS


For the Year Ended December 31, 2016


Storm Sewer EMS Totals


CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Received from customers $ 529,822 $ 668,982 $ 1,198,804
Paid to suppliers for goods and services (171,457) (182,072) (353,529)
Paid to employees for services (226,861) (330,789) (557,650)


Net Cash Flows From Operating Activities 131,504 156,121 287,625


CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Investment income 2,074 717 2,791


Net Cash Flows From Investing Activities 2,074 717 2,791


CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Transfers (38,870) 81,054 42,184
Advances from other funds - 29,817 29,817


Net Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities (38,870) 110,871 72,001


CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING
ACTIVITIES


Debt retired (118,409) (115,000) (233,409)
Interest paid (22,651) (22,795) (45,446)
Acquisition and construction of capital assets (395,130) (17,750) (412,880)
Contribution received for construction 6,109 - 6,109


Net Cash Flows From Capital and Related Financing
Activities (530,081) (155,545) (685,626)


Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents (435,373) 112,164 (323,209)


CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of Year 529,537 202,979 732,516


CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR $ 94,164 $ 315,143 $ 409,307


RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO NET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES


Operating income (loss) $ 96,755 $ (13,423) $ 83,332
Nonoperating revenue - 35,098 35,098
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash


Flows From Operating Activities
Depreciation 47,042 100,313 147,355


Changes in assets, deferred outflows, liabilities and deferred
inflows


Customer accounts receivable (10,696) 3,567 (7,129)
Due from other funds (4,341) - (4,341)
Compensated absences - 31,039 31,039
Accounts payable 2,744 (4,912) (2,168)
Other current liabilities - 1,090 1,090
Pension related deferrals and liabilities - 3,349 3,349


NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ 131,504 $ 156,121 $ 287,625


RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS TO THE
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION


Cash and investments $ 94,164 $ 315,143 $ 409,307


  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS $ 94,164 $ 315,143 $ 409,307


NONCASH CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES
None
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REQUIRED COMMUNICATION OF INTERNAL CONTROL RELATED MATTERS 
IDENTIFIED IN THE AUDIT TO THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 
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To the City Council 
City of Stoughton 
Stoughton, Wisconsin 
 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements of the City of Stoughton as of and for the year 
ended December 31, 2016, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America, we considered its internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing our 
auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the 
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of its internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of its internal control. 
 
A separate report on Internal Control was issued to the Utility Commission. The information contained in that 
report is not included with this report. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph and was not 
designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies and, therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 
However, as discussed below, we identified certain deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be 
material weaknesses. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial 
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. We consider the following 
deficiencies in the city’s internal control to be material weaknesses: 
 


> Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 


> Internal Control Environment 
 
This communication is intended solely for the information and use of the city management, the city council, and 
others within the organization and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these 
specified parties.  
 


 
 
Madison, Wisconsin 
June 21, 2017 
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Auditing standards require that we perform procedures to obtain an understanding of your government 
and its internal control environment as part of the annual audit. This includes an analysis of significant 
transaction cycles and an analysis of the city’s year-end financial reporting process and preparation of 
your financial statements. 
 
 
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING  
 
Properly designed systems of internal control provides your organization with the ability to process and 
record accurate monthly and year end transactions and prepare annual financial reports. 
 
Our audit includes a review and evaluation of the city’s internal controls relating to financial reporting. 
Common attributes of a properly designed system of internal control for financial reporting are as follows: 
 


> There is adequate staffing to prepare financial reports throughout and at the end of the year. 


> Material misstatements are identified and corrected during the normal course of duties. 


> Complete and accurate financial statements, including footnotes, are prepared. 


> Financial reports are independently reviewed for completeness and accuracy. 
 
Our evaluation of the city’s internal controls relating to financial reporting has identified control 
deficiencies that are considered material weakness surrounding the preparation of financial statements 
and footnotes, adjusting journal entries identified by the auditors, and an independent review of financial 
reports. 
 
Management has not prepared financial statements that are in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles. In addition, material misstatements in the general ledger were identified during the 
financial audit. 
 
This level of internal control over financial reporting can be a difficult task for governments that operate 
with only enough staff to process monthly transactions and reports, and often rely on their auditors to 
prepare certain year-end audit entries and financial statements.  
 
 
INTERNAL CONTROL ENVIRONMENT 
 
A properly designed system of internal control includes adequate staffing as well as policies and 
procedures to properly segregate duties. This includes systems that are designed to limit the access or 
control of any one individual to your government’s assets or accounting records, and to achieve a higher 
likelihood that errors or irregularities in the city’s accounting processes would be discovered by your staff 
in a timely manner.  
 
At this time, due to staffing and financial limitations, the city does not have proper internal controls in 
place to achieve adequate segregation of duties. As a result, errors or irregularities could occur as part of 
the financial process that may not be discovered by the city. Therefore, we are reporting a material 
weakness related to the city’s internal control environment.  
 
There are also certain controls that are not currently in place related to significant transaction cycles. As a 
result, there is a risk that erroneous or unauthorized transactions or misstatements could occur without 
the knowledge of management or the governing body. Our recommendations for strengthening controls 
are listed below. 
 


CONTROLS OVER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE/DISBURSEMENTS 
 


There should be controls in place surrounding the identification, recording, and review of retainages 
and encumbrances at year end. 
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INTERNAL CONTROL ENVIRONMENT (cont.) 


 
CONTROLS OVER PAYROLL  


 
Changes made to the payroll system should be reviewed by someone independent of processing 
payroll transactions. 


 
CONTROLS OVER PROPERTY TAXES 


 
Bank reconciliations should be performed by someone independent of the tax collection process. 


 
CONTROLS OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING 


 
Account reconciliations should be performed by someone independent of the processing of 
transactions in the account. 


 
We recommend that a designated employee review the segregation of duties, risks, and these potential 
controls and determine whether additional controls should be implemented. This determination should 
take into consideration a cost/benefit analysis. 
 
 







 


 


OTHER COMMUNICATIONS TO THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 
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TWO WAY COMMUNICATION REFARDING YOUR AUDIT  
 
As part of our audit of your financial statements, we are providing communications to you throughout the 
audit process. Auditing requirements provide for two-way communication and are important in assisting 
the auditor and you with more information relevant to the audit. 
 
As this past audit is concluded, we use what we have learned to begin the planning process for next 
year’s audit. It is important that you understand the following points about the scope and timing of our 
next audit: 
 


a. We address the significant risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, through 
our detailed audit procedures. 


b. We will obtain an understanding of the five components of internal control sufficient to assess the 
risk of material misstatement of the financial statements whether due to error or fraud, and to 
design the nature, timing, and extent of further audit procedures. We will obtain a sufficient 
understanding by performing risk assessment procedures to evaluate the design of controls 
relevant to an audit of financial statements and to determine whether they have been 
implemented. We will use such knowledge to:  


 Identify types of potential misstatements. 


 Consider factors that affect the risks of material misstatement. 


 Design tests of controls, when applicable, and substantive procedures. 


We will not express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting or 
compliance with laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts or grant programs.  


c. The concept of materiality recognizes that some matters, either individually or in the aggregate, 
are important for fair presentation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles while other matters are not important. In performing the audit, we are 
concerned with matters that, either individually or in the aggregate, could be material to the 
financial statements. Our responsibility is to plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance that material misstatements, whether caused by errors or fraud, are detected. 


d. Your financial statements contain components, as defined by auditing standards generally 
accepted in the United States of American, which we also audit. 


 
We are very interested in your views regarding certain matters. Those matters are listed here: 
 


a. We typically will communicate with your top level of management unless you tell us otherwise. 


b. We understand that the city council has the responsibility to oversee the strategic direction of 
your organization, as well as the overall accountability of the entity. Management has the 
responsibility for achieving the objectives of the entity. 


c. We need to know your views about your organization’s objectives and strategies, and the related 
business risks that may result in material misstatements. 


d. Which matters do you consider warrant particular attention during the audit, and are there any 
areas where you request additional procedures to be undertaken? 


e. Have you had any significant communications with regulators or grantor agencies? 


f. Are there other matters that you believe are relevant to the audit of the financial statements? 
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TWO WAY COMMUNICATION REFARDING YOUR AUDIT (cont.) 
 
Also, is there anything that we need to know about the attitudes, awareness, and actions of the city 
concerning: 
 


a. The city’s internal control and its importance in the entity, including how those charged with 
governance oversee the effectiveness of internal control? 


b. The detection or the possibility of fraud? 
 
We also need to know if you have taken actions in response to developments in financial reporting, laws, 
accounting standards, governance practices, or other related matters, or in response to previous 
communications with us. 
 
With regard to the timing of our audit, here is some general information. If necessary, we may do 
preliminary audit work during the months of October-December, and sometimes early January. Our final 
fieldwork is scheduled during the spring to best coincide with your readiness and report deadlines. After 
fieldwork, we wrap up our audit procedures at our office and may issue drafts of our report for your 
review. Final copies of our report and other communications are issued after approval by your staff. This 
is typically 6-12 weeks after final fieldwork, but may vary depending on a number of factors. 
 
Keep in mind that while this communication may assist us with planning the scope and timing of the 
audit, it does not change the auditor’s sole responsibility to determine the overall audit strategy and the 
audit plan, including the nature, timing, and extent of procedures necessary to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence. 
 
We realize that you may have questions on what this all means, or wish to provide other feedback. We 
welcome the opportunity to hear from you. 
 
 







 


 


COMMUNICATION OF OTHER CONTROL DEFICIENCIES, RECOMMENDATIONS 
AND INFORMATIONAL POINTS TO MANAGEMENT THAT ARE NOT 


MATERIAL WEAKNESSES OR SIGNIFICANT DEFICIENCIES 
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PRIOR YEAR POINTS 
 
 COLLATERAL FOR BANK DEPOSITS (PER 12/31/08 LETTER)  


Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 40 requires disclosures about various 
risks associated with the city’s deposits and investments. These disclosures can be found in Note IV.A of 
the financial statements.  
 
One of the required disclosures is custodial credit risk. Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of 
a financial institution failure, the city’s deposits may not be returned. To address this risk, the city has 
collateral agreements with its primary bank to cover deposits in excess of the FDIC limits. However, a 
portion of the city’s deposits and investments was exposed to custodial credit risk because the collateral 
was insufficient to cover all city deposits. In addition, the current collateral agreement in place with the 
city’s primary bank allows for the collateral to be held in the trust department of this bank. GASB No. 40 
states that this type of custodial arrangement exposes the city to greater risk than if the collateral was 
held by an independent third party custodian. 
 
We recommend that the city evaluate its current collateral situation to determine if adjustments are desired. 
 
   Status (12/31/16) 


A total of $12,453,458 of deposits and investments were exposed to some level of custodial credit risk as 
of December 31, 2016. 
 
 
INFORMATIONAL POINTS 
 
 PENSION TRUST FUND 


The city has a Firemen’s Pension Trust fund which was set up several years ago to provide pension 
benefits to the firemen. GASB Statement No. 73, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and 
Related Assets That Are Not within the Scope of GASB 68, and Amendments to Certain Provisions of 
GASB Statements 67 and 68, extend the approach of GASB 68 to all pensions (with some modifications). 
 
The city will have to evaluate if GASB Statement No. 73 will be applicable to the Firemen’s Pension Trust. 
If applicable, the pension plans are required to implement the new standard effective December 31, 2017. 
An actuarial study would be required if GASB 73 is effective for the City’s Firemen’s Pension Trust Fund. 
 
We are available to further discuss this standard, the timing, and impact on your government.  
 
 DECENTRALIZED CASH COLLECTIONS  


As part of our annual audit process, we focus our efforts on the primary accounting systems, internal 
controls, and procedures used by the city. This is in keeping with our goal to provide an audit opinion 
which states that the financial statements of the city are correct in all material respects. 
 
In some cases, the primary system of accounting procedures and controls of the city are supported by 
smaller systems which are decentralized, and reside within a department or outside location. Specifically 
for the City of Stoughton, there are departments that collect cash and periodically remit those collections 
to city hall. Examples include the recreation department and senior center, among others. 
 
Generally, the more centralized a function is, the easier it is to design and implement accounting controls 
that provide some level of checks and balances. That is because you are able to divide certain tasks over 
the people available to achieve some segregation of duties. For those tasks that are decentralized, it is 
usually very difficult to provide for proper segregation of duties. Therefore, with one person being involved 
in most or all aspects of a transaction, you lose the ability to rely on the controls to achieve the 
safeguarding of assets and reliability of financial records. 
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INFORMATIONAL POINTS (cont.) 
 
 DECENTRALIZED CASH COLLECTIONS (cont.) 
 
As auditors, we are required to communicate with you on a variety of topics. We believe it is appropriate 
to make sure that you are informed about the risks that can occur with decentralized cash collections. 
 
 CONTROLS OVER INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY 
 
As part of our audit, we evaluated the information technology controls as they relate to financially 
significant applications. Our procedures primarily focused on documenting and evaluating general 
computer controls, including: 
 


 Logical access to data and applications 
 Change and incident management 
 Systems development and deployment 
 Data backup and recovery 


 
The following points contain suggestions for strengthening internal controls in these areas. 
 


 Passwords should be changed every 90 days, require a minimum of 6 characters, require strong 
(complex) passwords, and password history should be remembered so users can’t reuse recent 
(3-6) previous passwords. Additionally, users should lock after 3-5 failed login attempts. 


 The operating system, database, and applications should be monitored to identify any security 
violations. The company should proactively monitor both internal access on the network and 
financial application as well as external access. In addition there should be a procedure to 
resolve or escalate any security violations. 


 
We recommend that a designated employee review the risks and these potential controls and determine 
whether additional controls should be implemented. This determination should take into consideration a 
cost / benefit analysis.  
 


CYBER SECURITY  
 
It’s no surprise that cyber security continues to be a top concern for management and those charged with 
governance across governments of all sizes and types. Protecting citizens’ data is critical for any 
government. In addition, there have been several incidents of critical malware or ransomware threats to 
communities of various sizes.  
 
We recommend performing a cyber-risk assessment to identify the types and location of data on your 
system as well as considering the sensitivity or potential regulations associated with your data. This will 
allow you to make informed decisions about spending on cyber-risk mitigation. 
 
Our professionals are also available to assist with your cyber security questions, assessments, and 
programs. 
 
 GOVERNMENT FRAUD PREVENTION AND DETECTION: NOW IS THE TIME TO ACT  
 
When it comes to preventing and detecting fraud in government, being proactive is critical. In fact, 
government is the second most likely industry to be impacted by fraud. According to the audit standards, 
the primary responsibility for the prevention and detection of fraud rests with both those charged with 
governance of the entity and management. To get started, your government should conduct a fraud risk 
assessment to identify where and how fraud might occur and what individuals may be in a position to 
commit fraud. Once you’ve identified your entity’s fraud risk areas, the next step is to develop a fraud risk 
assessment and investigation policy.  
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INFORMATIONAL POINTS (cont.) 


 
 GOVERNMENT FRAUD PREVENTION AND DETECTION: NOW IS THE TIME TO ACT (cont.) 
 
As you begin your fraud risk assessment or develop tools to prevent and detect fraud, it is important to 
keep in mind the following information provided by the Association of Certified fraud Examiners: 
 


> Misappropriation of assets accounts for 80 percent of fraud 


> The primary internal control weaknesses observed are lack of internal controls, lack of 
management review, override of existing internal controls and poor tone at the top 


> A tip is the most effective tool to catch a fraudster followed by management review 


> The professional requirements and objectives of a financial audit are different than a forensic 
audit. Due to the nature of a financial audit, less than 10 percent of frauds have been discovered 
as a result of a financial audit conducted by an independent accounting firm. 


 
Your government has not gone through a fraud risk assessment or does not have a plan to prevent and 
detect fraud, we recommend that this be done and then updated on a regular basis. We are available to 
assist you with this process.  
 


WISCONSIN RETIREMENT SYSTEM AND GASB NO. 68 


As you begin your second year reporting your pension activity under the requirements of GASB 
Statement No. 68, let’s review how this information affects your financial statements. 
 
Wisconsin Retirement System (WRS) pension information is reported on a one-year lag in your financial 
statements, so current year balances are the WRS amounts reported for the plan year ended 
December 31, 2015. The following is a summary of the status of the WRS for the current and previous 
year (amounts are in billions). 
 


 Current  
Year 2015 


 Previous Year 
2014 


  
Change 


 


    
Total Pension Liability $ 90.1 $ 89.7  $ 0.4 
Net Assets Available for Benefits 88.5  92.1   (3.6) 
     
 Net Pension Liability (Asset) $ 1.6 $ (2.4 ) $ 4.0 


 
As noted above, for the current year, WRS reports a net pension liability compared to a net pension asset 
for the previous year. Although 2015 contributions to WRS from employers and employees was 
consistent with the 2014 amounts, net investment income for 2015 decreased from $4.9 billion to a net 
loss of $0.7 billion, a $5.6 billion swing. This decrease in net investment income was primarily due to 
declines in investment returns and market values as a result of the 2015 market closing at its lowest point 
since 2008. In addition, benefit payments increased $0.3 billion or 6.3% from 2014 to 2015 partially as a 
result of an additional 6,200 retirees receiving benefits. Your government’s proportionate share of the 
current year net pension liability is reported in your government-wide financial statements.  
 
It should be noted that since the net pension liability (asset) is heavily dependent upon the market value 
of the net assets available for benefits, increases and decreases in the market can and will significantly 
change the amounts reported on your financial statements in the future. 
 
 


 







 


 


REQUIRED COMMUNICATIONS BY THE AUDITOR TO THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE 
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To the City Council 
City of Stoughton 
Stoughton, Wisconsin 
 
 
Thank you for using Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP as your auditor. 
 
We have completed our audit of the financial statements of the City of Stoughton for the year ended 
December 31, 2016 and have issued our report thereon dated June 21, 2017. This letter presents 
communications required by our professional standards. 
 


OUR RESPONSIBILITY UNDER AUDITING STANDARDS GENERALLY ACCEPTED IN THE UNITED  
STATES OF AMERICA 


 
The objective of a financial statement audit is the expression of an opinion on the financial statements. We 
conducted the audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. 
These standards require that we plan and perform our audit to obtain reasonable, rather than absolute, 
assurance about whether the financial statements prepared by management with your oversight are free of 
material misstatement, whether caused by error or fraud. Our audit included examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. Our audit does not relieve management or the city council of their responsibilities. 
 
As part of the audit we obtained an understanding of the entity and its environment, including internal control, 
sufficient to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements and to design the nature, 
timing and extent of further audit procedures. The audit was not designed to provide assurance on internal 
control or to identify deficiencies in internal control. 
 


OTHER INFORMATION IN DOCUMENTS CONTAINING AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Our responsibility does not extend beyond the audited financial statements identified in this report. We do not 
have any obligation to and have not performed any procedures to corroborate other information contained in 
client prepared documents, such as official statements related to debt issues. 
 
 PLANNED SCOPE AND TIMING OF THE AUDIT  
 
We performed the audit according to the planned scope and timing previously communicated to you in our 
management letter about planning matters dated June 7, 2016, and our meeting with the finance committee 
and council on June 14, 2016. 
 
 







To the City Council 
City of Stoughton 
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 QUALITATIVE ASPECTS OF THE ENTITY’S SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING PRACTICES 
 
  Accounting Policies 
 
Management is responsible for selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. In accordance with the 
terms of our engagement letter, we will advise management about the appropriateness of accounting policies 
and their application. The significant accounting policies used by the City of Stoughton are described in Note I 
to the financial statements. As described in Note I to the financial statements, the City of Stoughton changed 
accounting policies related to investments by adopting Statement of Governmental Accounting Standards 
(GASB) Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application. Accordingly, the accounting change has 
been applied to current periods presented; no retrospective application was necessary. We noted no 
transactions entered into by the City of Stoughton during the year that were both significant and unusual, and of 
which, under professional standards, we are required to inform you, or transactions for which there is a lack of 
authoritative guidance or consensus. 
 
  Accounting Estimates 
 
Accounting estimates are an integral part of the financial statements prepared by management and are based 
on management's knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about future 
events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial 
statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ significantly from those 
expected. The most sensitive estimates affecting the financial statements were: 
 


1. Management’s estimate of the allowance for uncollectible EMS receivables is based on historical 
collections.  


2. Management’s estimate of the net pension liability and related deferred outflows and inflows of 
resources is based on technical information obtained from the Wisconsin Retirement System. 
 


We evaluated the key factors and assumptions used to develop these estimates in determining that they 
are reasonable in relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
  Financial Statement Disclosures 
 
The disclosures in the notes to the financial statements are neutral, consistent, and clear. 
 
 DIFFICULTIES ENCOUNTERED IN PERFORMING THE AUDIT 
 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management in performing our audit. 
 
 CORRECTED AND UNCORRECTED MISSTATEMENTS 
 
Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatement identified during the audit, 
other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level of management. 
 







To the City Council 
City of Stoughton 
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 CORRECTED AND UNCORRECTED MISSTATEMENTS (cont.) 
 
There was one prior year uncorrected financial statement misstatement related to sick leave accrual in a 
nonmajor enterprise fund resulting in an overstatement of expenditures for the EMS fund in the amount of 
$22,092. Management has determined that the effect of this uncorrected misstatement is immaterial to the 
financial statements taken as a whole. The following is a summary of material financial statement 
misstatements (audit adjustments): 
 
   Amount 
   
 Record payables  $ 1,307,596
 Record adjustments to special assessments  869,962
 Record debt proceeds for crossover refunding  3,261,867
 Record EMS and storm sewer fund debt activity  559,432
 Record retirement fund activity  426,153
 Record capital assets activity for storm  837,302
 
In addition, we prepare GASB No. 34 conversion entries which are summarized in the “Reconciliation of the 
Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Net Position” and the “Reconciliation of the 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the 
Statement of Activities” in the financial statements. 
 
 DISAGREEMENTS WITH MANAGEMENT 
 
For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a matter, 
whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter that 
could be significant to the financial statements or the auditors’ report. We are pleased to report that no such 
disagreements arose during the course of our audit. 
 
 CONSULTATIONS WITH OTHER INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 
 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and accounting 
matters. If a consultation involves application of an accounting principle to the governmental unit’s financial 
statements or a determination of the type of auditors’ opinion that may be expressed on those statements, our 
professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that the consultant has 
all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with other accountants. 
 
 MANAGEMENT REPRESENTATIONS 
 
We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the management 
representation letter. This letter follows this required communication. 
 
 INDEPENDENCE  
 
We are not aware of any relationships between Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP and the city that, in our 
professional judgment, may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence. 
 







To the City Council 
City of Stoughton 
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 INDEPENDENCE (cont.) 
 
Relating to our audit of the financial statements of the City of Stoughton for the year ended December 31, 2016, 
Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP hereby confirms that we are, in our professional judgment, independent with 
respect to the city in accordance with the Code of Professional Conduct issued by the American Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants. We provided no services to the city other audit services provided in connection 
with the audit of the current year's financial statements and nonaudit services which in our judgment do not 
impair our independence: 
 


 Financial Statement Preparation 


 Adjusting Journal Entries 


 Compiled TIF Financial Statements 


 Compiled Regulatory Reports 


 Maintenance of capital asset records 


 Accounting assistance 
 
None of these nonaudit services constitute an audit under generally accepted auditing standards, including 
Government Auditing Standards. 
 
 OTHER AUDIT FINDINGS OR ISSUES 
 
We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing 
standards, with management each year prior to retention as the City of Stoughton’s auditors. However, these 
discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses were not a 
condition to our retention. 
 
 OTHER MATTERS 
 
We applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information (RSI) that supplements the 
basic financial statements. Our procedures consisted of inquiries of management regarding the methods of 
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic 
financial statements. We did not audit the RSI and do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the 
RSI. 
 
We were engaged to report on the supplementary information which accompanies the financial statements but 
is not RSI. With respect to the supplementary information, we made certain inquiries of management and 
evaluated the form, content, and methods of preparing the information to determine that the information 
complies with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the method of 
preparing it has not changed from the prior period, and the information is appropriate and complete in relation 
to our audit of the financial statements. We compared and reconciled the supplementary information to the 
underlying accounting records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements 
themselves. 
 







To the City Council 
City of Stoughton 
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 RESTRICTION ON USE 
 
This information is intended solely for the use of the city council and management and is not intended to be, 
and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified parties. We welcome the opportunity to discuss 
the information included in this letter and any other matters. Thank you for the opportunity to work with you. 
 


 
 
Madison, Wisconsin 
June 21, 2017 
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 ACCOUNTANTS' COMPILATION REPORT 
 
 
 
To the City Council 
City of Stoughton 
Stoughton, Wisconsin 
 
 
Management is responsible for the accompanying Balance Sheet, Historical Summary of Project Costs, Project 
Revenues and Net Cost to be Recovered Through Tax Increments and Historical Summary of Sources, Uses, 
and Status of Funds of the City of Stoughton's Tax Incremental Districts No. 3, No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, and No. 7 
(“the districts”) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016 and from the date of creation through 
December 31, 2016, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. We have performed a compilation engagement in accordance with Statements on Standards for 
Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. We did not audit or review the financial statements nor were 
we required to perform any procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of the information provided by 
management. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any form of assurance on 
these financial statements. 
 
As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements present only the transactions of the districts and do not purport 
to, and do not, present fairly the financial position of the City of Stoughton as of December 31, 2016, and the 
changes in its financial position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Management has omitted the management’s discussion and analysis that accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America require to be presented to supplement the financial statements. Such 
missing information, although not a required part of the financial statements, is required by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economical, or historical context.  
 


 
 
Madison, Wisconsin 
June 14, 2017 







CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 3


COMPILED
BALANCE SHEET


As of December 31, 2016


Capital
Projects


Fund


ASSETS
    Cash and investments 310,201$      
    Taxes receivable 492,440        


            TOTAL ASSETS 802,641$      


DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCE
    Deferred Inflows of Resources
       Unearned revenues 492,440$      


          Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 492,440        


    Fund Balance
       Restricted 310,201        


              TOTAL DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCE 802,641$      


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 3


COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF PROJECT COSTS, PROJECT REVENUES,


AND NET COST TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH TAX INCREMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2016


and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2016


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


PROJECT COSTS
    Capital expenditures -$                   5,571,359$    
    Professional services - planning, engineering, other 7,608             137,976         
    Debt issuance cost -                     20,162           
    Interest on long-term debt 46,699           1,332,021      
    Contributions to other districts -                     1,106,252      


        Total Project Costs 54,307           8,167,770      


PROJECT REVENUES
    Tax increments 487,847         4,245,750      
    Intergovernmental 4,007             19,681           
    Developer guarantees 16,491           32,495           
    Public charges for services -                     12,942           
    Contribution from other district -                     742,340         
    Transfer from other funds -                     181,304         
    Investment income 567                55,162           
    Land sales 52,805           1,383,920      
    Miscellaneous revenues -                     148,244         


        Total Project Revenues 561,717         6,821,838      


            NET COST (RECOVERED) TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH
              TIF INCREMENTS - DECEMBER 31, 2016 (507,410)$      1,345,932$    


RECONCILIATION OF RECOVERABLE COSTS
    General obligation debt 1,656,133$    
    Fund balance (310,201)        


 
            NET COSTS TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH
              TAX INCREMENTS – DECEMBER 31, 2016 1,345,932$    


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 3


COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF SOURCES, USES, AND STATUS OF FUNDS


For the Year Ended December 31, 2016
and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2016


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


SOURCES OF FUNDS
    Tax increments 487,847$       4,245,750$    
    Intergovernmental 4,007             19,681           
    Developer guarantees 16,491           32,495           
    Public charges for services -                     12,942           
    Contribution from other district -                     742,340         
    Transfers from other funds -                     181,304         
    Investment income 567                55,162           
    Land sales 52,805           1,383,920      
    Miscellaneous revenues -                     148,244         
    Long-term debt issued -                     6,257,496      


        Total Sources of Funds 561,717         13,079,334    


USES OF FUNDS
    Capital expenditures -                     5,571,359      
    Professional services - planning, engineering, other 7,608             137,976         
    Debt issuance cost -                     20,162           
    Contribution to other district -                     1,106,252      
    Interest on long-term debt 46,699           1,332,021      
    Principal on long-term debt 392,830         4,601,363      


        Total Uses of Funds 447,137         12,769,133    


            Excess of sources of funds over uses of funds 114,580         310,201         


    BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 195,621         -                     


             ENDING FUND BALANCE 310,201$       310,201$       


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 4


COMPILED
BALANCE SHEET


As of December 31, 2016


Capital
Projects


Fund


ASSETS
    Cash and investments 1,315,983$    
    Taxes receivable 180,832         
    Loans receivable 50,000           


            TOTAL ASSETS 1,546,815$    


LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, 
AND FUND BALANCE


    Liabilities
        Advance from city general fund 360,802$       


            Total Liabilities 360,802         


    Deferred Inflows of Resources
        Unearned revenues 180,832         
        Unavailable revenues 50,000           


            Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 230,832         


    Fund Balance
        Restricted 955,181         


               TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
                 RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCE 1,546,815$    


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 4


COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF PROJECT COSTS, PROJECT REVENUES,


AND NET COST RECOVERED THROUGH TAX INCREMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2016


and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2016


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


PROJECT COSTS
    Capital expenditures -$                   2,309,568$    
    Revolving loan fund 51,500           51,500           
    Professional services - planning, engineering, other 1,383             75,919           
    Debt issuance costs -                     26,075           
    Interest on long-term debt 12,905           778,315         


        Total Project Costs 65,788           3,241,377      


PROJECT REVENUES
    Tax increments 259,879         2,104,137      
    Intergovernmental 2,977             137,529         
    Contribution from other districts -                     1,405,024      
    Miscellaneous revenues -                     48,691           
    Investment income 4,135             111,177         


        Total Project Revenues 266,991         3,806,558      


            NET COST (RECOVERED) THROUGH
              TIF INCREMENTS - DECEMBER 31, 2016 (201,203)$      (565,181)$      


RECONCILIATION OF RECOVERED COSTS
    General obligation debt 390,000$       
    Fund balance (955,181)        


 
            NET COSTS RECOVERED THROUGH
              TAX INCREMENTS – DECEMBER 31, 2016 (565,181)$      


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 4


COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF SOURCES, USES, AND STATUS OF FUNDS


For the Year Ended December 31, 2016
and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2016


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


SOURCES OF FUNDS
    Tax increments 259,879$       2,104,137$    
    Intergovernmental 2,977             137,529         
    Contribution from other districts -                     1,405,024      
    Miscellaneous revenues -                     48,691           
    Investment income 4,135             111,177         
    Long-term debt issued -                     3,160,750      


        Total Sources of Funds 266,991         6,967,308      


USES OF FUNDS
    Capital expenditures -                     2,309,568      
    Revolving loan fund 51,500           51,500           
    Professional services - planning, engineering, other 1,383             75,919           
    Debt issuance costs -                     26,075           
    Interest on long-term debt 12,905           778,315         
    Principal on long-term debt 95,000           2,770,750      


        Total Uses of Funds 160,788         6,012,127      


            Excess of sources of funds over uses of funds 106,203         955,181         


    BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 848,978         -                     


             ENDING FUND BALANCE 955,181$       955,181$       


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 5


COMPILED
BALANCE SHEET


As of December 31, 2016


Capital
Projects


Fund


ASSETS
Cash and investments 178,511$    


            TOTAL ASSETS 178,511$    


LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE
    Liabilities


Advance from city general fund 598,427$    


            Total Liabilities 598,427      


    Fund Balance
        Unassigned (deficit) (419,916)     


               TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE 178,511$    


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 5


COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF PROJECT COSTS, PROJECT REVENUES,


AND NET COST TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH TAX INCREMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2016


and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2016


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


PROJECT COSTS
   Capital expenditures 750,531$       1,707,517$    


    Professional services - planning, engineering, other 1,642             46,833           
   Interest on advances -                     96,965           


        Total Project Costs 752,173         1,851,315      


PROJECT REVENUES
    Tax increments -                     30,147           
    Transfer from other funds -                     100,000         
    Intergovernmental 39,117           243,231         
    Developer guarantees 18,877           90,353           
    Investment income 36                  52                  
    Land sales -                     116,616         
    Miscellaneous revenues -                     1,000             


        Total Project Revenues 58,030           581,399         


            NET COST TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH
              TIF INCREMENTS - DECEMBER 31, 2016 694,143$       1,269,916$    


RECONCILIATION OF RECOVERABLE COSTS
    General obligation debt 850,000$       
    Fund balance 419,916         


 
            NET COSTS TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH
              TAX INCREMENTS – DECEMBER 31, 2016 1,269,916$    


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 5


COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF SOURCES, USES, AND STATUS OF FUNDS


For the Year Ended December 31, 2016
and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2016


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


SOURCES OF FUNDS 
    Tax increments -$                   30,147$         
    Transfers from other funds -                     100,000         
    Intergovernmental 39,117           243,231         
    Developer guarantees 18,877           90,353           
    Investment income 36                  52                  
    Land sales -                     116,616         
    Miscellaneous revenues -                     1,000             
    Note proceeds 850,000         850,000         


        Total Sources of Funds 908,030         1,431,399      


USES OF FUNDS 
    Capital expenditures 750,531         1,707,517      
    Professional services - planning, engineering, other 1,642             46,833           
    Interest on advance -                     96,965           


        Total Uses of Funds 752,173         1,851,315      


            Excess (deficiency) of sources of funds over uses of funds 155,857         (419,916)        


    BEGINNING FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT) (575,773)        -                     


             ENDING FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT) (419,916)$      (419,916)$      


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 6


COMPILED
BALANCE SHEET


As of December 31, 2016


Capital
Projects


Fund


ASSETS
    Cash and investments 2,213$          


            TOTAL ASSETS 2,213$          


LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT)
    Liabilities
       Accounts payable 813$             
       Advances from city general fund 20,000          


          Total Liabilities 20,813          


    Fund Balance
        Unassigned (deficit) (18,600)         


              TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT) 2,213$          


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 6


COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF PROJECT COSTS, PROJECT REVENUES,


AND NET COST TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH TAX INCREMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2016


and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2016


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


PROJECT COSTS


    Professional services - planning, engineering, other 6,869$           18,600$         


        Total Project Costs 6,869             18,600           


PROJECT REVENUES -                     -                     


            NET COST RECOVERABLE THROUGH
              TIF INCREMENTS - DECEMBER 31, 2016 6,869$           18,600$         


RECONCILIATION OF RECOVERABLE COSTS
     Deficit 18,600$         


 
            NET COSTS TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH
              TAX INCREMENTS – DECEMBER 31, 2016 18,600$         


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 6


COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF SOURCES, USES, AND STATUS OF FUNDS


For the Year Ended December 31, 2016
and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2016


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


SOURCES OF FUNDS -$                   -$                   


USES OF FUNDS


    Professional services - planning, engineering, other 6,869             18,600           


        Total Uses of Funds 6,869             18,600           


            (Deficiency) of sources of funds over uses of funds (6,869)            (18,600)          


    BEGINNING FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT) (11,731)          -                     


             ENDING FUND BALANCE (DEFICIT) (18,600)$        (18,600)$        


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 7


COMPILED
BALANCE SHEET


As of December 31, 2016


Capital
Projects


Fund


ASSETS
    Cash and investments 2,295,774$   
    Tax roll receivable 242,013        
    Accounts receivable 107,757        


            TOTAL ASSETS 2,645,544$   


LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCE
    Liabilities
       Deposits 29,999$        


       Accounts payable 1,317,685     


          Total Liabilities 1,347,684     


    Deferred Inflows of Resources
       Unearned revenues 242,013        


          Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 242,013        


    Fund Balance
       Restricted 1,055,847     


              TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,  
                 AND FUND BALANCE 2,645,544$   


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 7


COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF PROJECT COSTS, PROJECT REVENUES,


AND NET COST TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH TAX INCREMENTS
For the Year Ended December 31, 2016


and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2016


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


PROJECT COSTS
    Capital expenditures 3,308,319$    3,689,079$    
    Professional services - planning, engineering, other 850                4,213             
    Debt issuance cost -                     45,926           


        Total Project Costs 3,309,169      3,739,218      


PROJECT REVENUES
    Premium on debt -                     9,120             
    Investment income 10,200           10,945           


        Total Project Revenues 10,200           20,065           


            NET COST TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH
              TIF INCREMENTS - DECEMBER 31, 2016 3,298,969$    3,719,153$    


RECONCILIATION OF RECOVERABLE COSTS
    Long term debt  4,775,000$    
    Fund balance (1,055,847)     


 
            NET COSTS TO BE RECOVERED THROUGH
              TAX INCREMENTS – DECEMBER 31, 2016 3,719,153$    


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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CITY OF STOUGHTON
TAX INCREMENTAL DISTRICT NO. 7


COMPILED
HISTORICAL SUMMARY OF SOURCES, USES, AND STATUS OF FUNDS


For the Year Ended December 31, 2016
and From the Date of Creation Through December 31, 2016


Year From Date
Ended of Creation


SOURCES OF FUNDS
    Investment income 10,200$         10,945$         
    Premium on debt -                     9,120             
    Long-term debt issued -                     4,775,000      


        Total Sources of Funds 10,200           4,795,065      


USES OF FUNDS
    Capital expenditures 3,308,319      3,689,079      
    Professional services - planning, engineering, other 850                4,213             
    Debt issuance cost -                     45,926           


        Total Uses of Funds 3,309,169      3,739,218      


            Excess (deficiency) of sources of funds over uses of funds (3,298,969)     1,055,847      


    BEGINNING FUND BALANCE 4,354,816      -                     


             ENDING FUND BALANCE 1,055,847$    1,055,847$    


See accompanying notes to financial statements and accountants' compilation report.
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The accounting policies of the City of Stoughton's Tax Incremental Districts No. 3, No. 4, No. 5, No. 6 and 
No. 7 (the "districts") conform to accounting principles as applicable to governmental units and as defined 
by Wisconsin Statutes Section 66.1105. 
 
The City of Stoughton has implemented accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America to the extent they apply in determining the scope of the activity of Tax Incremental Districts No. 
3, No. 4 No. 5, No. 6, and No. 7. The accompanying financial statements reflect all the significant 
operations of the City of Stoughton’s Tax Incremental Districts No. 3, No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, and No. 7. The 
accompanying financial statements do not include the full presentation of the City of Stoughton.  
 
 A.  DESCRIPTION OF FUND AND ACCOUNT GROUP STRUCTURE 
 
This report contains the financial information of the City of Stoughton's Tax Incremental Districts No. 3, 
No. 4, No. 5, No. 6, and No. 7. The summary statements were prepared from data recorded in the 
following funds and the city’s long-term debt: 
 
     Debt Service Fund 
     Capital Projects Fund 
 
Detailed descriptions of the purpose of these funds and long-term debt can be found in the City of 
Stoughton's basic financial statements. 
 
The data was consolidated for purposes of this report. Therefore, the amounts shown in the 
accompanying statements will not directly correlate with amounts shown in the basic financial statements. 
 
The districts were created under the provisions of Wisconsin Statute Section 66.1105. The purpose of 
that section is to allow a municipality to recover development and improvements costs in a designated 
area from the property taxes generated on the increased value of the property after the creation date of 
the districts. The tax on the increased value is called a tax increment. 
 
The statutes allow the districts to collect tax increments until the net project cost has been fully recovered, 
or until 27 years, for TID Nos. 3, 4, and 5 and 20 years for TID Nos. 6 and 7, after the creation date, 
whichever occurs first. Project costs uncollected at the dissolution date are absorbed by the City of 
Stoughton. Project costs may be incurred up to five years before the unextended termination date of the 
districts. 
 
Original Project Plan 


 Creation  Last Date to Incur  Last Year to 
 Date  Project Costs  Collect Increment
      
TID No. 3 1-1-1993  11-24-2014  2020 
TID No. 4 1-1-1999  3-23-2021  2026 
TID No. 5 1-1-2010  3-12-2032  2037 
TID No. 6 1-1-2015  9-29-2030  2036 
TID No. 7 1-1-2015  11-11-2029  2035 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.) 


 
 A.  DESCRIPTION OF FUND AND ACCOUNT GROUP STRUCTURE (cont.) 
 
Plan Amendments 


 Adoption     
 Date     
      
TID No. 3 Amendment No. 1 10-23-2007     
TID No. 3 Amendment No. 2 10-23-2012     
TID No. 4 Amendment No. 1 9-26-2006     
TID No. 4 Amendment No. 2 1-12-2010     


 
 B.  BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 
 
The modified accrual basis of accounting was followed in the preparation of these statements. Under the 
modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded when susceptible to accrual, i.e., both 
measurable and available. Available means collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter 
to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. Project costs, other than interest on long-term debt, are 
recorded when the related fund liability is incurred. 
 
District increments are recorded as revenues in the year due. Intergovernmental aids and grants are 
recognized as revenues in the period the related expenditures are incurred, if applicable, or when the city 
is entitled to the aids. 
  
Special assessments are recorded as revenues when collected. Annual installments due in future years 
are accounted for as receivables and unavailable revenues. There are no special assessments 
receivables as of the date of this report. 
 
Other general revenues are recognized when received in cash or when measurable and available under 
the criteria described above.  
 
 C.  USE OF ESTIMATES 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont.) 
 
 D.  MEASUREMENT FOCUS 
 
The measurement focus of all governmental funds is the funds flow concept. Under the funds flow 
concept, sources and uses of financial resources, including capital outlays, debt proceeds and debt 
retirements are reflected in operations. Resources not available to finance expenditures and 
commitments of the current period are recognized as unavailable or unearned revenue or as 
nonspendable fund equity. Liabilities for claims, judgments, compensated absences and pension 
contributions which will not be currently liquidated using expendable available financial resources are 
shown in the long-term debt footnote disclosure. The related expenditures are recognized when the 
liabilities are liquidated. 
 
 E.  PROJECT PLAN BUDGETS 
 
The estimated revenues and expenditures of the districts are adopted in the project plans. Those 
estimates are for the entire life of the districts, and may not be comparable to interim results presented in 
this report.  
 
 F. LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
Short-term liabilities are recorded as fund liabilities. All other long-term liabilities are shown in the 
long-term debt footnote disclosure.  
 
Proceeds of long-term debt issues not recorded as fund liabilities are reflected as "Sources of Funds" in 
the operating statement of the recipient fund. Retirement of these issues is reported as expenditure in the 
year in which the debt matures or is repaid, whichever is earlier.  
 
 G. CLAIMS AND JUDGMENTS 
 
Claims and judgments are recorded as liabilities if all the conditions of Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board pronouncements are met. The liability and expenditure for claims and judgments is only 
reported in governmental funds if it has matured. Claims and judgments are disclosed in the long-term 
debt footnote when the related liabilities are incurred.  
 
 
NOTE 2 – CASH AND TEMPORARY INVESTMENTS 
 
The districts invest their funds in accordance with the provisions of the Wisconsin Statutes 66.0603(1m) 
and 67.11(2). 
 
Investments are stated at fair value, which is the amount at which an investment could be exchanged in a 
current transaction between willing parties. Fair values are based on quoted market prices. No 
investments are reported at amortized cost. Adjustments necessary to record investments at fair value 
are recorded in the operating statement as increases or decreases in investment income. 
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NOTE 2 – CASH AND TEMPORARY INVESTMENTS (cont.) 
 
The districts, as funds of the city, maintain separate and common cash and investment accounts at the 
same financial institutions utilized by the city. Federal depository insurance and the State of Wisconsin 
Guarantee fund insurance apply to the City of Stoughton as an individual municipality, and, accordingly, 
the amount of insured funds is not determinable for the districts. 
 
 
NOTE 3 – LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
 A.  GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT 
 
All general obligation notes and bonds payable are backed by the full faith and credit of the City of 
Stoughton. Notes and bonds borrowed to finance the districts' expenditures will be retired by tax 
increments accumulated by the TIF District funds. If those revenues are not sufficient, payments will be 
made by future tax levies or utility revenues, as applicable. 
 


 Original    
 Amount   Balance 
 Borrowed Repaid  12-31-16 
TIF District No. 3      
 03/18/93 Promissory Note – 6.00% $ 189,950 $ 189,950 $ -
 10/01/93 Promissory Note – 4.40-6.00% 1,980,000 1,980,000 -
 05/01/02 Promissory Note – 3.50-4.375% 80,483 80,483 -
 09/16/02 Refunding Bonds – 3.00-3.75% 
 06/26/13      State Trust Fund Loan – 2.75%        


1,382,063
1,400,000


 
 


1,382,063
573,867


 -
826,133


 06/01/14      Promissory Note – 2.00% 1,225,000 395,000 830,000
  
  Totals $ 6,257,496


 
$ 4,601,363


 
$ 1,656,133


 
Aggregate maturities of all long-term debt relating to the district are as follows: 
 


Calendar      
  Year     Principal  Interest  Totals 


2017 
2018 
2019 
2020 


$ 403,210
408,661
419,262
425,000


 $ 37,269
27,718
17,967


8,029


 $ 440,479
436,379
437,229
433,029


    Totals $ 1,656,133 $ 90,983  $ 1,747,116
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NOTE 3 – LONG-TERM DEBT (cont.) 
 
 A.  GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT (cont.) 
 


 Original     
 Amount    Balance 
 Borrowed  Repaid  12-31-16 
TIF District No. 4      
 02/23/99 State Trust Fund Loan – 5.25% $ 162,000 $ 162,000 $ -
 08/09/00 State Trust Fund Loan – 5.25% 355,080 355,080 -
 06/01/01 Promissory Note – 4.10-4.60% 1,025,000 1,025,000 -
 06/01/01 Promissory Note – 4.10-4.60% 154,427 154,427 -
 06/15/03 Promissory Note – 3.0 – 3.375% 292,105 292,105   -
 06/22/04 State Trust Fund Loan – 4% 213,746 213,746 -
     04/14/09       Promissory Note – 1.60 – 3.85%    163,392 163,392 -
 04/13/10 G.O. Refunding Bonds1.0 – 3.25% 795,000 405,000 390,000


  Totals $ 3,160,750 $ 2,770,750 $ 390,000
 
Aggregate maturities of all long-term debt relating to the district are as follows: 
 


Calendar      
  Year       Principal  Interest  Totals 
      


2017 $ 95,000 $ 10,483 $ 105,483
2018 
2019 


95,000
100,000


 7,775
4,800


 102,775
104,800


2020 100,000 1,625 101,625
      
    Totals $ 390,000 $ 24,683  $ 414,683


 
 Original     
 Amount    Balance 
 Borrowed  Repaid  12-31-16 
TIF District No. 5      
 12/28/16 State Trust Fund Loan – 3.5% $ 850,000 $ - $ 850,000
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NOTE 3 – LONG-TERM DEBT (cont.) 
 
 A.  GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT (cont.) 
 


TIF District No. 5 (cont.) 
 


Aggregate maturities are as follows: 
 


Calendar      
  Year       Principal  Interest  Totals 
      


2017 $ - $ - $ -
2018 26,428 36,026 62,454
2019 33,629 28,825 62,454
2020 34,730 27,724 62,454
2021 36,021 26,433 62,454
2022-2026 199,858 112,412 312,270
2027-2031 237,383 74,886 312,269
2032-2036 281,951 30,315 312,266
      
    Totals $ 850,000 $ 336,621  $ 1,186,621


 
 B.  NOTE ANTICIPATION NOTES  
 


 Original     
 Amount    Balance 
 Borrowed  Repaid  12-31-16 
TIF District No. 7      
 10/21/15 Note Anticipation Notes – 1.250% $ 4,775,000 $ - $ 4,775,000


  Total $ 4,775,000 $ - $ 4,775,000
 
Debt service requirements to maturity are as follows:  
 


Calendar      
  Year       Principal  Interest  Totals 
      


2017 $ - $ 59,688 $ 59,688
2018 4,775,000 59,688 4,834,688
      
    Totals $ 4,775,000 $ 119,376  $ 4,894,376


 
 
NOTE 4 – ADVANCES FROM/DUE TO CITY GENERAL FUND 
 
The general fund is advancing funds to TIF Districts No. 4, No. 5, and No. 6. The amount advanced is 
determined by the deficiency of revenues over expenditures and other financing sources since the 
district's inception. A repayment schedule has not been established.  
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NOTE 5 – INCREMENT SHARING  
 
As allowable under TIF statutes, the city may share positive TIF increments. In 1998, and again in 2003, 
the city and joint review board approved sharing increments from TIF District No. 2 (donor district, 
subsequently closed) to TIF District No. 3 (donee district). Such transfers are reflected as recoverable 
costs in the donor district, and as project revenues in the donee district. TIF increment sharing was valid 
for a five year period, and was extended for an additional five years by the joint review board. Transfers 
between districts are subject to various conditions in the statutes. 
  
In 2006, the city and joint review board approved sharing increments from TIF District No. 2 (donor 
district, subsequently closed) to TIF District No. 4 (donee district). Transfers were approved to begin in 
2007. State statutes limit the number of years a district may share increments to ten. Since TIF District 
No. 2 had been sharing increments with TIF District No. 3, the increment sharing with TIF District No. 4 
was allowable for years 2007 through 2009. TIF District No. 2 was closed in 2009. 
 
In 2007, the city and joint review board approved sharing increments from TIF District No. 3 (donor 
district) to TIF District No 4 (donee district). Transfers began in 2007 and were valid for a five year period.  
 
 
NOTE 6 – TRANSFERS FROM OTHER FUNDS 
 
The city has transferred funds to TIF Districts No. 3 and No. 5 to cover deficits over the years. It is the 
intent of the city to have TIF Districts No. 3 and No. 5 repay the general fund for these transfers 
contingent upon future availability of funds. The following is a historical summary of transfers for TIF 
District No. 3: 
 


1993 $ 30,000
1997 30,212
1998 104,150
2001 10,451
2002 6,491
 
    Totals $ 181,304


 
The following is a historical summary of transfers for TIF District No. 5: 
 


2010 $ 100,000
 
 
NOTE 7 – LOANS RECEIVABLE 
 
At December 31, 2016, TIF District No. 4 had outstanding loans receivable totaling $50,000. The loans 
are recorded as receivables and unavailable revenue. All repayments are current. The loans are 
considered to be project costs and are reflected in the recoverable cost schedule. 
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NOTE 8 – DEVELOPER AGREEMENTS 
 
TIF District No. 6 has entered into a developer agreement where the city shall construct the city 
improvements and provide a development incentive grant in the amount of $377,000. Grant disbursement 
and construction is expected to be completed in 2017. 
 
TIF District No. 7 has entered into a developer agreement where the TID shall reimburse developer for 
off-site public improvements in the amount of $3,763,230. The TID has reimbursed $3,763,230 as of 
December 31, 2016.  
 
 
NOTE 9 – DEVELOPER PAYMENTS  
 
No developer payments were made by TIF 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 for 2016. 
 
 
NOTE 10 – GUARANTEED REVENUE  
 
TIF District No. 3 has entered into a development agreement with Nelson Global Products, Inc. (the 
“developer”). The agreement guarantees the city will receive a tax increment equal to the annual 
applicable mill rate multiplied by $3,750,000. The developer shall pay the difference between the 
guaranteed tax increment and the tax increment actually levied. The developer’s guarantee obligation 
shall terminate when the city has collected from the tax increment generated from the district or paid 
under the agreement not less than $320,600, or when TIF District No. 3 has terminated, whichever occurs 
first. TIF guarantee payment received in 2016 was $16,491. 
 
TIF District No. 5 has entered into a development agreement with Movin’ Out Development, LLC (the 
“developer”). The agreement guarantees that the developer shall pay the difference between the 
guaranteed tax increment and the tax increment actually levied. The guarantee obligation shall terminate 
when the city has collected from the tax increment generated from the district or been paid under this 
agreement the full amount of the project costs of not less than $610,753 plus 5 percent interest accruing 
from January 1, 2012. TIF guarantee payment received in 2016 was $18,877. 
 
TIF District No. 6 has entered into a development agreement with North American Fur Auction (“NAFA”). 
The agreement guarantees the assessed value of NAFA’s property will be not less than $1,100,000, 
$3,500,000 and $5,000,000 by January 1, 2018, 2019 and 2021 respectively. Beginning calendar year 
2019, NAFA shall pay the difference between the guaranteed tax increment on the assessed values and 
the tax increment actually levied. The agreement shall continue until TIF District No. 6 has terminated. 
There was no guarantee payment due or received in 2016. 
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RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL


Authorizing a reduction in the amount of the TIF Guarantee Letter of Credit provided by McFarland
State Bank (relating to the Kettle Park V/est commercial center).


Finance Committee: (meets June27)


Fiscal Impact: None


FileNumber: R-103-2017 Date Introduced: June27,2017


CITY OF STOUGHTON 381 E. MAIN STREET STOUGHTON \ryISCONSIN


Recrrals


i. The City is holding Letter of Credit No. 50340, in the amount of $4,848,705.00, issued by
McFarland State Bank (the Letter of Credit), to secure certain tax increment guarantee obligations of
Kettle Park West, LLC under the Second Amended and Restated Agreement to Undertake
Development (Kettle Park West Development) entered into as of the 9th day of June, 2015.


2. The Memorandum of Understanding between the City and Kettle Park West, LLC, dated June 9,
2015 (the '.MOU"), sets forth the methodology required for reducing the Letter of Credit.


3. City staff has determined that new construction in the Kettle Park West Commercial Center has
generated a valuation increase, as of January 1,2016, that will generate tax increment totaling
5242,014.00 each year (See Exhibit A). After deducting $15,000 for administrative expenses, the
City will receive tax increment of $227,0I4.00 each year, based on the January 1,2016 assessed


value alone (See Exhibit A).


4. The City has used a two-step process to finance TIF funded public improvements for the Kettle Park
V/est Commercial Center. The first step was the issuance of Note Anticipation Notes. The second
step will be the issuance of a refunding obligation in October 2018, to convert the short-term Note
Anticipation Notes to a longer-term obligation. The Note Anticipation Notes will be repaid using a
combination of tax increment received by the City in 2017 and 2018, and the proceeds of the
Refunding Obligation. As described in Section 3 above, the City will have net increment in the
amount of $454,02 8.12 available in October 201 8 to apply toward payment of the Note Anticipation
Notes.


5. Springstead has determined that, after applying available tax increment, and adding issuance costs,
the amount of the refunding proceeds to be borrowed in October 2018 will be $4,440,000.00. (See


Exhibit B). Springstead has further estimated that the total principal and interest to be paid on the
refunding obligation will be $5,896,193.33. (See Exhibit B)


6. BasedontheJanuary l,2016valuationincrementalone,andcreditingtheCitywith$15,000peryear
in Administrative Expenses, the Kettle Park V/est Commercial Centerwill generate 5227,014.06per
year, or 53,632,224.96,that will be available to pay debt service on the refunding obligation.
Consequently, pursuant to the MOU, the Letter of Credit may now be reduced by the difference
between $5,589,193.33, and 53,632,224.96, resulting in a new letter of credit amount of
52,263,968.37. (See Exhibit B).







RpsoluroN


BE IT RESOLVED, by the City of Stoughton Common Council that the amount of Letter of Credit
No. 50340, issued by McFarland State Bank, may be reduced to $2,263,968.37.


Council Action: Adopted Failed Vote


Mayoral Action: Accept Veto


Donna Olson, Mayor


Council Action:


Date


Override Vote


3CL6927
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City of Stoughton
Kettle Park West TIF 7 Forecast
02t21t17


TID
Year


Assessment
Year


Revenue
Year Construction


Projected
lncrement AV


lncremental
Rate


Annual
lncremental


Tax Revenue
0
1


2
3
4
5
6
7
B


I
10
11


12
13
14
15
16
17
1B


19
20


2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2A34


2015
2016
2017
2018
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2034
2035


10,174,400
6,496,390


16,670 ,780.00


10,174,400
16,670,780
16,670,790
16,670,780
16,670,780
16,670,780
16,670,780
16,670,780
16,670,780
16,670,780
16,670,780
16,670,780
16,670,780
16,670,780
16,670,780
16,670,780
16,670,780
16,670,780
16,670,780


0.023786568
0.023786568
0.023786568
0.023786568
0.023786568
0.023786568
0.023786568
0.023786568
0.023786568
0.023786568
0.023786568
0.023786568
0.023786568
0.023786568
0.023786568
0.023786568
0.023786568
0.023786568
0.023786568


242,014.06
396,540.64
396,540.64
396,540.64
396,540.64
396,540.64
396,540.64
396,540.64
396,540.64
396,540.64
396,540.64
396,540.64
396,540.64
396,540.64
396,540.64
396,540.64
396,540.64
396,540.64
396,540.64


7,379,745.58
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City of Stoughton, Wl
KPW Phase I Letter of Credit Resizlng


7-lun-17


2017 lncrement
Less Citv Admin Expenses


2017 Net lncrement


Assume 2018 Net lncrement Same


TotalTlD lncement Available to Reduce 2018 Refunding


20L5 NAN Refunding Proceeds Needed


Plus Cost of lssuance


Sub-Total


Less TID lncrement Available
201-8 Refundine lssue


Projected Total 2018 Refunding Debt Service
Less Proiected Net TID lncrement (2019-2024)


Resized Letter of Credit


s


s


5 242,014.06


s (1s,000.00)


5 227,014.06


227,014.06


454,028.L2


4794895.83


99L32.29


4894028.L2


s ø54,O28.t2)
S 4.44o.ooo.oo


S 5,896,t93.33
S ß,632,224.961
S 2.262.96s.37
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S pringsted
Proiected 2018 Refundine


FiscalYear


20L9


2020


202r
2022
2023


2024


2025


2026


2027


2028
2029


2030


203L
2032


2033
2034


TOTAL


Annual
Debt Service


$ 369,243.33


$ 367,380.00


$ 367,380.00


$ 366,975.00


$ s21,092.50


$ 369,715.00


$ 367,890.00


$ 370,465.00


$ 367,287.50


$ 368,180.00


$ 368,025.00


$ 366,843.75


$ 369,572.50


$ a71,305.00


$ 367,278.75


$ 367,560.00


S s,896,193.33


Annual


Net TID lncrement


5 227,0!4.06


5 227,0t4.o6


5 zz7,014.06


$ zz7,o'J.4.06


S zz7,ot4.o6


5 227,014.06


5 227,014.06


s 227,014.06


S zz7,ot4.o6


5 zz7,ot4.o6


5 227,0t4.06


5 227,0L4.06


S zz7,oL4.o6


5 227,0L4.o6


S zz7,oL4.o6


S 227,oL4.06


s 3,632,224.96


Annual


Surplus/(oeficit)


s (142,229.271


s (140,365.94)


s (140,36s.94)


s (139,960.94)


S (144,079.441


S (142,700.94]|


S (14o,97s.94]'


s (143,450.94)


s (140,273.441


s (14L,165.94)


S (141,010.94)


S (139,829.69)


s (L42,558;441


$ (144,29O.94J


s (140,264.69)


S (140.s4s.94)


5 (2,263,968.37)







C I T Y OF STOUGHTON, 381 E . Main Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMOM COUNCIL- AMENDED 
Approving a Memorandum of Understanding and other matters relating to the implementation of the 
Kettle Park West Development Agreement. 


File Number: R-86-2015 Date Introduced: June 9, 2015 


The City Council of the City of Stoughton, Dane County, Wisconsin, resolves as follows: 


R E C I T A L S 


A. The City of Stoughton (the "City") and Kettle Park West, LLC (the "Developer") are parties to 
the Amended and Restated Agreement to Undertake Development (Kettle Park West 
Development) entered into as of November 13, 2014, which may be replaced and superseded 
by a Second Amended and Restated Agreement to Undertake Development (Kettle Park West 
Development) entered into as of June 9, 2015 (collectively the "Agreement"). 


B. Section D. 4. of the Agreement requires Developer to provide a letter of credit (the "Letter of 
Credit") to the City, and allows for the amount of the Letter of Credit to be reduced under 
certain circumstances. The City and Developer have prepared the Memorandum of 
Understanding attached as Exhibit A to set forth in greater detail the parties' understanding 
and agreement regarding the amount of the Letter of Credit required by Section D.4. of the 
Agreement, and the procedure that wil l apply to calculating reductions of the Letter of Credit, 
in order to implement the Agreement. 


RESOLUTION 


The Memorandum of Understanding attached as Exhibit A is approved, and the Mayor and City Clerk 
are hereby authorized to execute the Memorandum of Understanding on the City's behalf. 


The foregoing Resolution was adopted by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton at a 
meeting held on June 9, 2015. 







Council Action: [3 Adopted Failed Vote ~1 ""VP mCUIjaiL V l l t X ^ 


Mayoral Action: Accept Veto 


Donna Olson, Mayor Date 


Council Action: Override Vote 







Exhibit A


Memorandum of Understanding
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~c~op~
Memorandum of Understanding


Kettle Park West Development


Tax Increment Guarantee Letter of Credit


June 9, 2015


1. Background Information. The City of Stoughton (the "City"} and Kettle Park
 West, LLC


(the "Developer") are parties to the Amended and Restated Agreement to
 Undertake


Development {Kettle Park West Development) entered into as of Novembe
r 13, 2014 {the


"Agreement"), which may be replaced and superseded by a Second 
Amended and


Restated Agreement to Undertake Development (Kettle Park West Dev
elopment} entered


into as of June 9, 2015 (Collectively the "Agreement"}. Section D. 4. of 
the Agreement


requires the Developer to provide a letter of credit (the "Letter of Credit") to t
he City, and


allows far the amount of the Letter of Credit to be reduced under certain ci
rcumstances.


2. Purpose. The purpose of this Memorandum of Understanding is to set Earth in 
greater


detail the parties' understanding and agreement regarding the amount of the 
Letter of


Credit required by Section D.4. of the Agreement, and the procedure that will apply 
to


calculating reductions of the Letter of Credit, in order to implement the Agreement.


3. Definitions. The terms used in this Memorandum of Understanding that are defined in


the Agreement shall have the meaning set forth in the Agreement. .


4. An~aunt and, fo~^m of Initial Letter o, f CNedit.


A. Under section D.4.{b} of the Agreement, the amount of the initial and each


renewed or .replacement Letter of Credit is required to equal the ~ total principal


and interest payments on all remaining Annual Debt Service payments on City


Borrowing. The City intends to sell Note Anticipation Notes on or about


September .22, 2015. The City intends to pay the Note Anticipation Notes in


approximately October 2018, using a combination of Actual Tax Increment held


by the City at that time, and the proceeds of a Refunding Obligation to be issued


by the City. The City Borrowing shall initially be tie Nate Anticipation Notes,


and shall subsequently be the Refunding Obligations. The planned City


borrowing is described in Attachment A to this Memorandum of Understanding.


B. The City and Developer agree that, before the City sells the Note Anticipation


Notes, and in order to satisfy the condition in Section E. 6 of the Agreement,


Developer shall provide an initial Letter of Credit in the amount of $4,848,705.00,


which is the estimated total amount the City will need to pay the Note


Anticipation Notes iii 2018. The initial letter of credit shall be in the form


attached as Attachment B to this Memorandum of Understanding. The. City and


Developer agree that $4,848,705.00 is based on certain esti.iriates, including an


estimate of the interest rate that will apply to the Nate Anticipation Notes.


Developer agrees that when the Note Anticipation Notes are actually sold, and


before the City finally approves the sale, the City ~an~y require Developer to
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provide either a replacement Letter of Credit or a 
supplemental Letter of Credit,


such that the City has one or more Letters of Credit in the 
aggregate amount the


City deterrriines is actually needed to pay the Note Anticip
ation Notes in 2018.


Letter of Credit Recalculation PNior to Sale of Refunding Ob
ligations. The City intends


to pay the Note Anticipation Notes in 2018 using a combination
 of Actual Tax Increment


held by the City at that time, and the proceeds of a Refunding O
bligation to be issued by


the City. Before the City sells the Refunding Obligation, the City will
 calculate ,the


amount of the Letter of Credit required to secure repayment of the 
Refunding Obligation.


The amount of the Letter of Credit required to secure repayment
 of the Refunding


Obligation shall be equal to the total principal and interest payments 
on the Refunding


Obligation, less the amount of that principal and interest that will be
 paid using Actual


T~ Increment that has been created in the District and will be alloc
ated to pay Annual


Debt Service pursuant to Section D.3 of the Agreement. The amount of Actual Tax


Increment that has been created in the Distxict shall be calculated as 
des~,ribed in Section


6 of this Memorandum of Understanding. The amount of the recalc
ulated Letter of


Credit shall not be less than $1,OQO,000.OQ unless the Actual Tax Increme
nt that has been


created within the District is projected to generate an amount equal to or gre
ater than 110


percent of the total principal and interest payments on the Refunding 
Obligations. If


Developer does not provide the City with an amended or replacement Le
tter of Credit in


the amount the City has calculated as needed to secure repayment of the 
Refunding


4bliga~ion, the City may draw upon the existing Letter of Credit, in an amou
nt not to


exceed the amount the City has calculated for the amended or replacement lette
r of credit,


and may either use the proceeds to pay the Note Anticipation Notes, or use the pr
oceeds


to make debt service payments on the Refunding Obligation.


6. Reductions to Letter of Credit. Under Section D.4.(b} of the Agreement, the a
mount of


the Letter of Credit may be reduced by the amount of the Annual Debt Service that wil
l


be paid by Actual Tax Increment that has been created within the District, and wil
l be


allocated to pay Annual Debt Service as provided in Section D.3 of the Agre
ement.


Section D.4{b) of the Agreement further provides that the Annual Debt Service payme
nts


that will be paid by Actual Tax Increment that has been created within the District s
hall


be calculated by the City, using the actual Value Increment that has been created wi
thin


the District at the time the required amount of the Letter of Credit is calculated, using the


mii rate effective at that time. Developer and the City agree that the Value Increment 
that


has been created within the District at a given point in time will be the equalized value of


the District that has most recently been certified by the Wisconsin Department of


Revenue, minus the base value of the District as certified by the Wisconsin Departmen
t


of Revenue. Developer and the City agree that Actual Tax Increment that has been


created within the District, and that will be available to pay Annual Debt Service, will be


the Value Increment, multiplied by the most recently established mil rate at which taxable


property in the City.is taxed to levy taxes for all taxing jurisdictions in which the Distric
t


is located, multiplied by the number of years that Actual Ta~c Increment may lawfully b
e


allocated to pay Annual Debt Service. Developer and the City agree that, for purposes of


calculating reductions in the Letter of Credit; the Annual Debt Service to be paid
 by


Actual Tax Increment shall be calculated based upon the Refunding Obligation. 
Before
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the Refunding Obligation is sold, the Annual Debt Service shall be the estimated total
principal and interest on the planned Refunding Obligation, as determined by the City.
After the Refunding Obligation is issued, the Annual Debt Service shall be the actual
unpaid principal and interest on the Refunding Obligation. Developer agrees that the
Letter of Credit shall not be reduced below $1,000,000.00 until the Actual Tax Increment
that has been created within the Disfirict is projected to generate an amount equal to or
greater than 110 percent of the remaining Annual Debt Service Payments on City
Borrowing. The first opportunity for a reduction in the Letter of Credit shall come on
September 1, 2016, and subsequent opportunities for reduction will be evaluated each
anniversary thereafter.


7. Agreement. The City and Developer agree that this Memorandum of Understanding
accurately describes their understanding and agreement regarding the amount of the
Letter of Credit required by Section D.4, of the Agreement, and the procedure that will
apply to calculating reductions of the Letter of Credit, 121 order to implement the
Agreement.


DEVELOPER: CITY:


KETTLE PARK WEST LLC


By ~~G~
David Jenkins, M g Partner


CITY OF STOUGHTON
Dane County, Wisconsin


By ~..
Donna Olson, Mayor


Dated: June _, 2015. 
ATTEST:


~~ v
Lana C. Kropf, City Clerk


Dated: June 0~ , 2015 e
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4,815,000


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin


-~ ~ i Note Anticipation Notes, Series 2015


Kettle Park West Project


Sources &Uses


Dated 10/01/2015 ( Delivered 10/01/2015


Sources Of Funds


Par Amount of Bonds .......................................................................................................
............................................... $4,815,000.00


Total Sources ...................................................................................................................
............................................. $4,815,000.00


Uses Of Funds


Deposit to Project Construction Fund .........................................................................
..................................................... 4.577,264.00


Deposit to Capitalized Interest (CIF) Fund .................................................................
..................................................... 168,525.00


Costs of Issuance ......................................................................................... 
......................... 45,000.00.........................................


Total Underwriter's Discount (0.500%) ......................................................................
..............:...................................... 24,075.00


Rounding Amount ............................................................................................. .........
..................................................... 136.00


Total Uses ...................................................................................................:............
...................................................... $4,815,000.00


Attachm~tlt A


i
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$4,815,000


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
~ Note Anticipation Notes, Series 2015


Kettle Park West Project


NET DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE


Date Principal Coupon Interest Total P+I CIF Net New D/S Fiscal Total


10/01!2015 - -
10/01/2016 - - 67,410.00 67,410.00 (67,410.00) - -


04/01/2017 - - 33,705.00 33,705.00 (33,705.00) - -


10/01/2017 - - 33,705.00 33,705.00 (33,705.00) - -


04/01/2018 - - 33,705.00 33,705.00 (33,705.00) - -


10/01/2018 4,815,000.00 1.400% 33,705.00 4,848,705.00 - 4,848,705.00 4,848,705.00


Total $4,815,000.00 - $202,230.00 $5,017,230.00 (168,525.00) $4,848,705.00


SIGNIFICANT DATES


Dated Date .......................................................................................................................................................................... 10!01/2015


Delivery Date ...................................................................................................................................................................... 10/01!2015


First Coupon Date ............................................................................................................................................................... 10/01/2016


Yield Statistics


Bond Year Dollars ............................................................................................................................................................... $14,445.00


Average Life ........................................................................................................................................................................ 3.000 Years


Average Coupon 
................................................................................................................................................................. 1.4000000%


Net Interest Cost (NIC) ....................................................................................................................................................... 1.5666667%


True Interest Cost (TIC) ...................................................................................................................................................... 1.5694215%


Bond Yield for Arbitrage Purposes ...................................................................................................................................... 1.3983516%


All Inclusive Cost (AIC) ....................................................................................................................................................... 1.8919113%


IRS Form 8038
Net Interest Cost ................................................................................................................................................................. 1.4000000%


Weighted Average Maturity ................................................................................................................................................. 3.000 Years


J;
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$4,315,000


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2018


~ Kettle Park WestProject -Takeout of the 2015 NANS


Sources &Uses


Dated 06/01/2018 ~ Delivered 06/01/2018


Sources Of Funds
Par Amount of Bonds ...................................................................................................................................................... $4,315,000.00


Additional source of funds ............................................................................................................................................... 619.879.00


Total Sources ................................................................................................................................................................ $4,934,879.00


Uses Of Funds
Deposit to Current Refunding Fund ................................................................................................................................. 4,837,470.00


Costs of Issuance ........................................................................................................................................................... 50,0.00.00


Total Underwriter's Discount (1.000°/a) ........................................................................................................................... 43,150.00


Rounding Amount ........................................................................................................................................................... 
4,259.00


Total Uses ...................................................................................................................................................................... $4,934,879.00


~_
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$4,815,000


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
Note Anticipation Notes, Series 2015


~ Kettle Park West Project


Debt Service To Maturity And To Call


Date Refunded Refunded D/S To Call Principal Coupon Interest Refunded D/S


Bonds Interest


06/01 /2018 - - - -
O8/01/2018 4,815,000.00 22,470.00 4,837,470.00 - -


10/01/2018 - - - 4,815,000.00 1.400% 33,705.00 4,848,705.00


Total $4,815,000.00 $22,470.00 $4,837,470.00 $4,815,000.00 - $33,705.00 $4,848,705.00


Yield Statistics


Base date for Avg. Life &Avg. Coupon Calculation .......................................................................................................... 6/01/2018


Average Life ..................................................................................................................................................................... 0.333 Years


Average Coupon 
............................................................................................................................................................... 1.4000000°/a


Weighted Average Maturity (Par Basis) ............................................................................................................................ 0.333 Years


Refunding Bond Information


Refunding Dated Date ...................................................................................................................................................... 6/01/2018


Refunding Delivery Date ................................................................................................................................................... 6/01/2018
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$4,315,000


City of Stoughton, Wisconsin
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2018


Kettle Park West Project -Takeout of the 2015 NANS


NET DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE


Date Principal Coupon Interest Total P+I Net New D/S Revenue Surpls(Deficit) Fiscal Total


06/01 /2018 - - - - -
04/01/2019 185,000.00 1.450% 100,352.08 285,352.08 285,352.08 382,991.00 97,638.92 -


10/01/2019 - - 58,870.00 58,870.00 58,870.00 - (58,870.00) 38,768.92


04/01/2020 230,000.00 1.750% 58,870.00 288,870.00 288,870.00 382,991.00 94,121.00 -


10/01/2020 - - 56,857.50 56,857.50 56,857.50 - (56,857.50) 37,263.50


04/01!2021 235,000.00 1.900% 56,857.50 291,857.50 291,857.50 382,991.00 91,133.50 -


10/01/2021 - - 54,625.00 54,625.00 54,625.00 - (54,625.00) 36,508.50


04/01/2022 240,000.00 2.100% 54,625.00 294,625.00 294,625.00 382,991.00 88,366.00 -


10/01/2022 - - 52,105.00 52,105.00 52,105.00 - (52,105.00) , 36,261.00


04/01/2023 245,000.00 2.300% 52,105.00 297,105.00 297,105.00 382,991.00 85,886.00 -


10/01l2023 - - 49,287.50 49,287.50 49,287.50 - (49,287.50) 36,598.50


04/01/2024 250,000.00 2.400% 49,287.50 299,287.50 299,287.50 382,991.00 83,703.50


10/01/2024 - - 46,287.50 46,287.50 46,287.50 - (46,287.50) 37,416.00


04/01/2025 255,000.00 2.500% 46,287.50 301,287.50 301,287.50 382,991.00 81,703.50 -


10/01/2025 - - 43,100.00 43,100.00 43,100.00 - (43,100.00) 38,603.50


04/01/2026 260,000.00 2.650% 43,100.00 303,100.00 303,100.00 382,991.00 79,891.00


10/01/2026 - - 39,655.00 39,655.00 39,655.00 - (39,655.00) 40,236.00


04/01/2027 270,000.00 2.850% 39,655.00 309,655.00 309,655.00 382,991.00 73,336.00 -


10/01/2027 - - 35,807.50 35,807.50 35,807.50 - (35,807.50) 37,528.50


04/01/2028 280,000.00 2.950% 35,807.50 315,807.50 315,807.50 382,991.00 67,183.50


10/01/2028 - - 31,677.50 31,677.50 31,677.50 - (31,677.50) 35,506.00


04/01/2029 285,000.00 3.000% 31,677.50 316,677.50 316,677.50 382,991.00 66,313.50 -


10/01/2029 - . - 27,402.50. 27,402.50 27,402.50 - (27,402.50) 38,911.00


04/01/2030 295,000.00 3.200% 27,402.50 322,402.50 322,402.50 382,991.00 60,588.50 -


10/01/2030 - - 22,682.50 22,682.50 22,682.50 - (22,682.50) 37,906.00


04/01/2031 305,000.00 3.350% 22,682.50 327,682.50 327,682.50 382,991.00 55,308.50 -


10/01/2031 - - 17,573.75 17,573.75 17,573.75 - (17,573.75) 37,734.75


04/01/2032 315,000.00 3.450% 17,573.75 332,573.75 332,573.75 382,991.00 50,417.25 -


10l01/2032 - - 12,140.00 12,140.00 12,140.00 - (12,140.00) 38,277.25


04/01/2033 325,000.00 3.600% 12,140.00 337,140.00 337,140.00 382,991.00 45,851.00 -


10/01/2033 - - 6,290.00 6,290.00 6,290.00 - (6,290.00) 39,561.00


04/01/2034 340,000.00 3.700% 6,290.00 346,290.00 346,290.00 382,991.00 36,701.00


10/01/2034 - - - - - - - 36,701.00


Total $4,315,000.00 - $1,209,074.58 $5,524,074.58 $5,524,074.58 $6,127,856.00 $603,781.42


SIGNIFICANT DATES
Dated................................................................................................................................................................................................... 6/01 /2018


Delivery Date ........................................................................................................................................................................................... 6/01/2018


First Coupon Date ....................................................................................................................................................................................... 4/01/2019


Yield Statistics
Bond Year Dollars ......................................................................................................................................................................................$38,775.83


Average Life ............................................................................................................................................................................................ 8.986 Years


Average Coupon ......................................................................................................................................................................................3.1181.137%


Net Interest Cost (NIC) .............................................................................................................................................................................3.2293944%


True Interest Cost (TIC) ............................................................................................................................................................................
32211094%


Bond Yield for Arbitrage Purposes ................................................................................................................................................................. 3.0889451


All Inclusive Cost (AIC) .............................................................................................................................................................................3._
3766362%


Net Interest Cost in Dollars ......................................................................................................................................................................9.,209,074.58


Weighted Average Maturity ............................................................................................................................................................................ 8.986 Years
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[Sample Letter of Credit relating to TIF Guarantee]
i


IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT


Letter of Credit Number:


Dated:


Applicant: Kettle Park West, LLC


Beneficiary: The City of Stoughton, a Wisconsin municipal corporation.


Amount: $ U.S. Dollars


Expiration Date: [Not less than three years after initial issuance]


To the City of Stoughton:


We hereby issue in favor of the City of Stoughton (the "City") our Irrevocable Letter of


Credit No. for an amount or amounts not to exceed in the aggregate


$ U. S. Dollars.


This letter of credit shall be payable to the City at any time upon. presentation of the


following: (1) a sight draft drawn on in an amount to which the


City is entitled under Section D of the Amended and Restated Agreement to Undertake


Development (Kettle Park West Development) entered into as of the 13th day of


November, 2014 (the "Development Agreement"); (2) an affidavit executed by a person


authorized by the City stating that monies are due from Kettle Park West, LLC pursuant


to Section D.2(b) of the Development Agreement, or because this letter of credit will not


be extended, or will be extended, renewed or replaced in an amount that is less than the


amount required by Section D of the Development Agreement; and (3) this Letter of


Credit.


This letter of credit is issued to secure certain guarantee obligations of Kettle Park West,


LLC under the Development Agreement. The City intends to issue Note Anticipation


Notes in 2015, and to pay the Note Anticipation Notes in 2018 by issuing a Refunding


Obligation. The amount of this letter of credit has been calculated based on the expected


amount needed to pay the Note Anticipation Notes. The amount of the Refunding


Obligation will exceed the amount of the Note Anticipation Note. Before issuing the


Refunding Obligation, the City will require Kettle Park West, LLC to provide a letter of


credit in the amount needed to secure repayment of the Refunding Obligation, which


amount may exceed the amount of this letter of credit. We recognize that if Kettle Park


West, LLC fails to provide a letter of credit in the amount needed to secure repayment of


Attachment B







the Refunding Obligation, this letter of credit shall be payable to the City, and the City


may use the proceeds of this letter of credit to pay the Note Anticipation Notes when due.


Partial drawings are permitted.


This Letter of Credit and each extended, renewed or replacement letter of credit shall be


automatically extended without amendment for a period of one year from its expiration


date, unless at least 45 days before such expiration date we notify the City in writing that


the letter of credit will not be extended for an additional one-year period, or that the letter


of credit will be renewed or replaced by a letter of credit in an amount that is less than the


amount required by Section D of the Development Agreement, which amount shall be


specified in such written notice. Upon receipt of notice that this Letter of Credit or any


extended, renewed or replacement letter of credit will not be renewed, or will be replaced


by a letter of credit in an amount that is less than the amount required by Section D of the


Development Agreement, the City may draw upon this or any extended, renewed, or


replacement letter of credit an amount equal to the" total principal and interest payments


that remain unpaid on all remaining Annual Debt Service Payments on City Borrowing,


as those terms are defined in the Development Agreement.


We hereby engage with you to honor all drafts drawn incompliance with the terms and


conditions of this Letter of Credit if presented together with the required documents at


no later than the close of business on


the date on which this Letter of Credit


Expires.





		6a- R-103-2017-Resolution for Letter of Credit.pdf
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CITY OF STOUGHTON, 381 E. MAIN STREET, STOUGHTON, WISCONSIN


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL


RESOLUTION APPROVING AN AGREEMENT RELATING TO THE
CONVEYANCE OF REAL PROPERTY AND THE PAYMENT OF IMPACT FEES


Committee Action: Committee meets June 27, 2017


Fiscal Impact:


File Number: R-104-2017 Date Introduced: June 27, 2017


RESOLUTION


BE IT RESOLVED, by the City of Stoughton Common Council that the Agreement Relating to the
Conveyance of Real Property and the Payment of Impact Fees attached as Exhibit A to this Resolution is
approved, subject to filling in the remaining blanks in a manner acceptable to the City Attorney.


Council Action: Adopted Failed Vote


Mayoral Action: Accept Veto


Donna Olson, Mayor Date


Council Action: Override Vote


3CL6927
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AGREEMENT RELATING TO CONVEYANCE OF REAL PROPERTY AND
PAYMENT OF IMPACT FEES


THIS REAL ESTATE PURCHASE AGREEMENT (“Agreement”) is made this


________ day of________________, 2017 (the “Effective Date”), by and between the


CITY OF STOUGHTON, a Wisconsin municipal corporation, (the “City”), and THE


SKAALEN SUNSET HOME, INC., a Wisconsin corporation (“Seller”).


In consideration of the mutual covenants and undertakings contained herein the
parties agree as follows:


1. Agreement to Sell and Buy Property. Seller hereby agrees to sell to City and
City agrees to buy from Seller in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement certain
real property described as Parcel A in the plat of survey attached as Attachment A,
situated in the City of Stoughton, Dane County, Wisconsin (the “Property”). For purposes
of this Agreement, the Property includes a dock currently located on the Property.


2. No Displacement and Waiver of Rights Under Chapter 32. Seller represents
and warrants that the sale of the Property to City will not result in the displacement of
persons or business concerns for purposes of Chapter 32, Wis. Stats. Seller acknowledges
that Seller is not required to sell the Property. Seller acknowledges Seller’s agreement to
sell the Property is voluntary.


3. Consideration / Purchase Price. As a result of Seller’s recent development
of 33 residential care apartment complex units off North Morris Street, Seller owes Park
Impact Fees to the City in the amount of $102,028.19. As consideration for this
Agreement, and in lieu of a cash purchase price, at Closing Seller shall be entitled to a
park impact fee credit in the amount of $55,581.24. At Closing, Seller shall pay
$46,446.95 to the City to satisfy Seller’s remaining Park Impact Fee obligation. This
agreement supersedes the Agreement dated __________________ between the City and
Skaalen Nursing and Rehabilitation Center, Inc.


4. City’s Contingencies. City’s obligation to purchase the Property is
contingent upon Seller providing to City a commitment for an owner’s title insurance
policy pursuant to Section 5.


5. Title. Seller, at Seller’s expense, shall within 30 days of the Effective Date
obtain a commitment for an owner’s title insurance policy (Current ALTA Owner’s form)
issued by a title insurance company (“Title”) showing title to the Property as of a date no
more than 15 days before delivery of such title evidence to be merchantable and free from
encumbrances, subject only to liens which will be paid out of the proceeds of closing,
naming City as the proposed owner-insured of the Property in the amount of $55,581.24
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(the “Commitment”). Seller shall provide gap insurance coverage, to provide coverage for
the period between the title insurance commitment and the date of Closing. City, within
5 business days after receipt of the Commitment, will make objections to the title to the
Property based upon examination of the Commitment, said objections to be made by
written notice or be deemed waived. If any objections are so made, Seller shall
immediately commence and diligently endeavor in good faith to complete all actions
necessary to cure such objections and shall be allowed up to the Closing Date to cure such
objections and obtain appropriate endorsements to the Commitment indicating that any
such objections have been cured.


City need not object to mortgages or other liens against the Property. If not sooner
satisfied, Seller will satisfy them at closing.


If Seller does not cure City’s objections by the Closing Date, or if title to the
Property is not good and marketable of record in Seller at the Closing Date, then City shall
have the following options:


a. City may terminate this Agreement, in which event Seller shall pay
City $102,028.19 to satisfy Seller’s obligation to pay Park Impact Fees to the City.


b. City may elect to waive the objection and accept the title to Seller’s
interest in the Property in its unmarketable condition.


6. Additional Covenants and Warranties of Seller. Seller covenants with and
warrants to City as follows:


a. Prior to the Closing Date, Seller will not permit any lien or
encumbrance to be placed against the Property or any part thereof and will not
commit waste on the Property.


b. There are and at closing there will be no tenants, persons or entities
occupying or having a right to occupy the Property or any part thereof, whether
pursuant to a lease or other occupancy agreement or otherwise.


c. Seller represents that there is no action, litigation, investigation,
condemnation or proceeding of any kind pending or, to Seller’s best knowledge,
threatened against Seller or the Property which could affect the Property, any
portion thereof or title thereto. Seller shall give City prompt written notice if any
such action, litigation, investigation, condemnation, or proceeding is commenced
with respect to the Property on or prior to the Closing Date.


Seller shall promptly notify City in writing if it acquires any knowledge which
changes any representation or warranty set forth above or elsewhere in this Agreement.
The notice shall describe in detail the nature of the change and the basis therefore. If there
is a material adverse change in any of the foregoing representations prior to Closing, City
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will have the right to terminate this Agreement by giving written notice to Seller within
ten (10) days after it receives written notice of such material change. If City so terminates
this Agreement neither party shall have further rights or obligations hereunder.


7. Closing. The closing shall take place not later than September 1, 2017 (the
“Closing Date”). The closing shall take place at the offices of Title or such other place as
Seller and City shall mutually agree. At the closing, Seller shall deliver to City:


a. A Warranty Deed properly executed on behalf of Seller in recordable
form conveying the Property to City and warranting title thereto subject to no
exceptions except those to which City has not objected or has expressly agreed to
pursuant to Section 5 hereof.


b. All certificates, instruments and other documents necessary to permit
the recording of the Warranty Deed.


c. A standard Seller’s Affidavit with respect to judgments, bankruptcies,
tax liens, mechanics liens, parties in possession, unrecorded interests,
encroachment or boundary line questions, and related matters, properly executed on
behalf of Seller.


d. A “marked-up” commitment (initialed by the appropriate title
company officer) to issue a policy of title insurance subject to no exceptions except
those to which City has not objected or has expressly agreed to pursuant to Section
5 hereof. Seller shall be responsible for the payment of the premium for such
policy of title insurance.


8. Right of First Refusal. Seller’s willingness to convey the Property to the
City under this Agreement is contingent upon the City’s willingness to grant a right of first
refusal to Seller. At Closing, the City shall deliver a fully executed Right of First Refusal
in substantially the same form attached as Attachment B, with instructions to the Title
Company to record the Right of First Refusal immediately following the recording of the
Warranty Deed from Seller to the City.


9. Real Estate Taxes and Special Assessments. Seller represents that the
Property is exempt from real property taxes as of the Effective Date. Seller shall pay any
special assessments levied or pending as of the date of this Agreement, including, but not
limited to, (i) installments, if any, which appear on the property tax statements for the year
in which the closing occurs and (ii) any installments which may have been deferred
pursuant to applicable laws.


10. Possession. Seller shall deliver possession of the Property to City upon
closing.
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11. Notices. All documents to be delivered and all correspondence and notices
to be given in connection with this Agreement shall be in writing and given by personal
delivery, by facsimile, or sent by a nationally recognized overnight courier or by
registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, addressed as
follows:


If to Seller: ___________________________
___________________________
___________________________


If to City: Tom Lynch
City of Stoughton
381 E. Main Street
Stoughton, WI 53589
Phone: (608) 873-6677
Email: tlynch@ci.stoughton.wi.us


With a copy to: Matthew P. Dregne
Stafford Rosenbaum LLP
222 West Washington Avenue, Suite 900
P.O. Box 1784
Madison, WI 53701-1784
Phone: (608) 259-2618
Email: mdregne@staffordlaw.com


A notice delivered personally shall be delivered personally to the person whose
attention mailed notices are addressed. A notice sent by facsimile or email shall be
deemed given to the party to whom it is sent on the date actually transmitted. A notice
sent by mail shall be deemed to have been given to the party to whom it is addressed on
the date the same is deposited in the United States registered or certified mail, return
receipt requested, postage prepaid, properly addressed to such party at its then current
address for the giving of notices. Either party hereto may change such party’s address for
the service of notice hereunder by written notice of said change to the other party hereto,
in the manner above specified ten (10) days prior to the effective date of said change.


12. Commissions. Seller hereby warrants to City that Seller shall pay any
broker’s commissions, finder’s fees or like charges that have been incurred by Seller in
connection with this transaction. City hereby warrants to Seller that City shall pay any
broker’s commissions, finder’s fees or like charges that have been incurred by City in
connection with this transaction.
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13. Default. Should Seller default in the performance of its obligations
hereunder or breach any warranty contained herein, and such default shall not be cured
within twenty (20) days after notice from City, City (i) shall have and may pursue all
rights and remedies available to it hereunder, at law or in equity, or otherwise, including,
but not limited to, an action for damages or specific performance; and (ii) may terminate
this Agreement. Should City default in the performance of its obligations hereunder or
breach any warranty contained herein, and such default shall not be cured within twenty
(20) days after notice from Seller, Seller (i) shall have and may pursue all rights and
remedies available to it hereunder, at law or in equity, or otherwise, including, but not
limited to, an action for damages or specific performance; and (ii) may terminate this
Agreement.


14. Risk of Loss. Risk of loss to the Property prior to the time of closing shall
remain in Seller. In the event that prior to the time of closing, proceedings for the
condemnation of the Property or any portion thereof are commenced by governmental
authority having jurisdiction to do so, City may, at its option, terminate this Agreement by
written notice to Seller whereupon neither party shall have any further rights, obligations
or liability hereunder. In the event of any such condemnation, and if this Agreement is not
terminated on account thereof, Seller shall assign to City at closing its rights to any such
condemnation award, excluding severance damages relating to Seller’s remaining lands to
which Seller may be entitled.


15. Miscellaneous. All of the covenants, warranties, and provisions of this
Agreement shall survive and be enforceable after the closing of this transaction. The
paragraph headings or captions appearing in this Agreement are for convenience only, are
not a part of this Agreement, and are not to be considered in interpreting this Agreement.
Delivery of an executed copy of this Agreement by facsimile or email shall be deemed
delivery of the executed original.


16. Time of the Essence. Except as otherwise stated herein, time is of the
essence in the performance of this Agreement.


17. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State of Wisconsin.


18. Effective Date. This Agreement shall be effective as of the date that it has
been signed by both Seller and the City.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed this Agreement as of the day
and year first set forth above.


CITY:
CITY OF STOUGHTON


By
Date Donna Olson, Mayor


ATTEST


By
Lana Kropf, City Clerk


SELLER:
SKAALEN SUNSET HOME, INC.


By


Date ______________________________________


By


Date ______________________________________


Attachment A – Property sketch
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ATTACHMENT A


Plat of Survey
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THIS AGREEMENT (“Right
of First Refusal”) is made and entered into on
_______________, 2017, by and between the City of
Stoughton, a Wisconsin Municipal Corporation (“Owner”)
and The Skaalen Sunset Home, Inc., a Wisconsin
Corporation (“Optionee”). For good and valuable
consideration, the value and adequacy of which the parties
acknowledge, the parties agree as follows:


1. Grant of Right. Owner hereby grants to
Optionee, under the terms set forth herein, the exclusive and
irrevocable right of first refusal to purchase the property
described as Parcel A on Attachment A hereto (the
“Property).


The consideration for the exclusive and irrevocable
right of first refusal to purchase the Property consists of the
Optionee’s conveyance of the lands to the City subject to a
requirement that the City grant this Right of First Refusal to
Optionee.


2. Notice of Offer. If the Owner accepts a bona
fide Offer to Purchase for all or any part of the Property (which Offer to Purchase is required
hereby to set forth a purchase price of a fixed dollar amount at closing), and which accepted
Offer to Purchase shall be subject to this Right of First Refusal, the Owner shall promptly give
Optionee written notice of the proposed transfer (the “Notice”). The Notice shall state the terms
of the proposed transfer, and shall include a copy of the accepted Offer to Purchase. The Notice
shall be deemed an offer to sell to Optionee the Property as provided herein.


3. Exercise of Right. Optionee may exercise its option under this Right of First
Refusal to purchase the Property by delivering to Owner a written notice of Optionee’s intention
to exercise the right within twenty (20) days after Optionee’s receipt of the Notice. Such election
shall constitute Optionee’s agreement to purchase that part of the Property covered by the Notice
on the same terms and conditions set forth in the accepted Offer to Purchase, provided,
notwithstanding any contrary terms in the accepted Offer to Purchase, Optionee shall have at
least ninety (90) days after receipt of the Notice to close the purchase of the Property.


4. Failure to Exercise Option. If Optionee does not exercise this option in
accordance with Section 3 above, Owner may sell the Property to the person described in the
Notice on the terms provided in such Notice, and this Right of First Refusal shall be null and
void with respect to the part of the Property covered by the Notice. If the sale to the person
described in the Notice shall not close within one hundred twenty (120) days after the date of the
Notice, this Right of First Refusal to Optionee shall again apply.


ATTACHMENT BRIGHT OF FIRST
REFUSAL


Document Number


Recording Area


Name and Return Address


Matthew P. Dregne, Esq.
Stafford Rosenbaum LLP
P.O. Box 1784
Madison, WI 53701-1784


Parcel Identification Number (PIN)
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5. Binding Agreement. This option shall be binding upon the Property and shall be
binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, successors
and assigns for the period of time that any part of the Property is owned by the Owner.


IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this instrument effective as of
the date first above written.


CITY:
CITY OF STOUGHTON


By
Date Donna Olson, Mayor


ATTEST


By
Lana Kropf, City Clerk


ACKNOWLEDGEMENT


STATE OF WISCONSIN)
) ss.


COUNTY OF DANE )


Personally appeared before me this ______ day of ________, 2017, Donna Olson,
who executed this instrument and acknowledged the same.


Notary Public, State of _______________
My commission expires:
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT


STATE OF WISCONSIN)
) ss.


COUNTY OF DANE )


Personally appeared before me this ______ day of ________, 2017, Lana Kropf,
who executed this instrument and acknowledged the same.


Notary Public, State of _______________
My commission expires:


SELLER:
SKAALEN SUNSET HOME, INC.


By


Date ______________________________________


By


Date ______________________________________


ACKNOWLEDGEMENT


STATE OF WISCONSIN)
) ss.


COUNTY OF DANE )


Personally appeared before me this ______ day of ________, 2017, ___________,
who executed this instrument and acknowledged the same.


Notary Public, State of _______________
My commission expires:
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT


STATE OF WISCONSIN)
) ss.


COUNTY OF DANE )


Personally appeared before me this ______ day of ________, 2017, ___________,
who executed this instrument and acknowledged the same.


Notary Public, State of _______________
My commission expires:
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ATTACHMENT A
Plat of Survey
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Position of IT Director


Account Number Description 2016 Budget 2017 Budget


100-55500-50110 Media Services - Salaries 18,280.00                         81,630.00                         


100-55500-50151 Media Services - Employee Benefits -                                     7,617.00                              


100-55500-50152 Media Services - Health Insurance -                                     20,000.00                            


100-55500-50300 Media Services - Misc Expenses -                                     35,000.00                         


100-51800-50215 City Website 63,849.00                         47,500.00                         2016 - ($70,000 less $6,151 for expenses)


2017 - ($54,500 less $7,000 for expenses)


Costs Associated with Hiring Process


    Drug Testing (72.00)                                


    Background Checks (141.00)                             


    Advertising for the Position (235.68)                             


    Carpeting for IT Director office (612.86)                             


    Adjustment for Communications Mgr/IT Op Specialist (7,326.53)                          


Position Advertised 12/29/2016


Position Re-Advertised 2/20/2017


Position Re-Advertised 5/1/2017


 82,129.00$                       183,358.93$                     (2016 amount is included in surplus)


  


5/31/2017








Position of Finance Director - Potential Cost Savings in 2017


Final Payout for Director on February 10, 2017 (6,189.62)                          


Final Payout FICA cost (1,078.07)                          


No Payroll for Director on February 10, 2017 3,972.80                           


No Payroll for Director on February 24, 2017 3,972.80                           


No Payroll for Director on March 3, 2017 3,972.80                           


Savings in Salary between Old/New Director 10,230.40                         


Savings in WRS Contribution 695.75                               


Savings in FICA Contribution 782.46                               


Charge for Baker Tilly Assistance 3/16/17 (5,875.00)                          


Charge for Baker Tilly Assistance 3/30/17 (3,800.00)                          


Charge for Baker Tilly Assistance 4/13/17 (1,200.00)                          


 


 


 


 


5,484.32$                         


5/31/2017




























City of Stoughton Outstanding Debt as of 12/31/17


Type of Obligation


Date of 


Issue


Original Amount 


Issued


Maturity 


Dates


Current 


Principal 


Outstanding


GO Refunding Bonds 2/15/2002 2,110,000$        2/1/2018 -$                        


GO Refunding Bonds 9/15/2002 2,025,000$        4/1/2013 -$                        


GO Prom Notes 6/15/2003 1,110,000$        6/1/2013 -$                        


GO Prom Notes, Series 2008A 2/13/2008 485,000$            2/1/2018 60,000$             


GO Prom Notes, Series 2008B 2/13/2008 1,005,000$        2/1/2018 120,000$           


GO Prom Notes, Series 2008C 2/13/2008 5,530,000$        4/1/2026 -$                        


GO Prom Notes 4/14/2009 5,060,000$        3/1/2019 495,000$           


GO Prom Notes, Series 2010 A 4/13/2010 4,015,000$        3/1/2020 1,610,000$       


GO Prom Notes, Series 2010 B 4/13/2010 3,095,000$        3/1/2020 1,050,000$       


GO PROM NOTES, Series 2012 9/1/2012 3,420,000$        4/1/2022 1,775,000$       


2012 State Trust Fund Loan 3/15/2012 202,000$            3/15/2015 -$                        


2013 State Trust Fund Loan 3/15/2013 1,400,000$        3/15/2020 627,922$           


2014 CIP GO Debt 6/1/2014 1,530,000$        4/1/2024 1,400,000$       


2014 Stormwater Utility GO Debt 6/1/2014 280,000$            4/1/2024 205,000$           


2014 TIF #3 GO Debt 6/1/2014 1,225,000$        4/1/2024 625,000$           


2015 GO Debt 7/9/2015 2,725,000$        4/1/2025 2,175,000$       


2015 NAN 10/21/2015 4,775,000$        10/1/2018 4,775,000$       


2016 CIP GO Debt 9/1/2016 5,830,000$        4/1/2026 5,830,000$       


2016 State Trust Fund Loan 12/1/2016 850,000$            12/1/2036 850,000$           


2017 CIP GO Debt 6/1/2017 7,660,000$        4/1/2027 7,660,000$       


2012 Elec Div Loan to GF $294,964 Total Outstanding Debt 29,257,922$     


5% Debt Limit 50,039,825$     


Remaining 20,781,903$     


2016 Equalized Value (TID IN) of the City of Stoughton $1,000,796,500


6/1/2017
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